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FOREWORD

An invaluable service is being rendered by the Federal Administration
through the historical surveys being made throughout the country. History
is the story of the achievements of visions, All great institutions are
founded upon solid rock of faith in ideals, principles, and convictions,
However smnll mey be the group involved, the country village and the country
Church, from the town hall where the citizens met to express their loyal
interest in their political ideals or the small group of worshippers who
gether to pay homage to the God whom they worship and unite in service to him
through the Church to which they belong, there runs the golden stream of
heroic and romantic adventures.

The sources of history are easily lost, and many have been in the
exigencies of time. The effort being made to recapture much that has been
laid away in moldy records, or in the memories of those who are rapidly
passing within the shadow, deserves our grateful appreciation,

I am grateful that the Episcopal Church in the State of Mississippi was
made a projoct of survey. Its history is linked with the glorious past and
its principles are a rich part of the heritage of our commonwecalth,

I am happy that this work has becn under the dircction of Mr, Nash Burger,
who has with meticulous and laborious conscientiousness sought the fullness
and accuracy of records. I am sure that the volumc will be intcrosting and
valuable,

WILLTIAM MERCER GREEN
Bishop of the Diocesc of Mississippi



PREFACE

The Histérical Records Survey Projocts, operating in tho 48 States, in
New York City, and in the District of Columbia, arec ongaged in publishing in-
ventorics of church archives as onc phaso of their expansive worke The In=
vontory of the Episcopal Church archivos is the first of this naturc published
in Mississippi by the Mississippi Historical Records Survey Projocts IT is
hoped that it will bo of sorvice to the clorgy, mombors of religious organiza=-
tions, students of the social scienccs, and those engaged in geneamlogical re=
search., Information containcd in this inventory has been acquired by personal
interview and by research in printed sources and in church archivess In view
of the naturc of the undertaking, therc will likely be cortain omissions and
deficicncies, but the Survey has made cvery effort to attain the highest degree
of accuracyes

The Mississippi Historical Records Survey Project has followed genoral
regulations and procedures appliceble to all WPA project units throughout the
notion. The inventory was prepared in accordance with technical instructions
received from the Washington office of the Historical Records Survey Projects.
Donald A. Thompson, assistant archivist in e¢harge of church archives, reviewed
the volume before publication. In addition, tho Mississippi Survey has profited
in all phases of its work by tho constructive advice and criticism of John C. L.
Andreoassen, reogional supervisor of the Survey,

Membors of the Mississippi stoff who made excéellent contributions to the
preparation of this inventory include Nash Burger, genoral foreman and editor
of church archives; Catherine Shields, church forms editor; Connic Pearson,
William M. Price, Dixon Pyles, and lirs., Stella Tomlinson, vriters; Virginia
Plyler, typist; Fred Becachan, cartographer and editorial assistant; Bessic Kate
Bradford,  Zelma Ruth Jolley, and Elmise Fant, editorial assistants; and Robert
B. Strong, assistont state supervisor and editor-in-chief, IMuch of the original
research in the church archives in the counties was proscecuted by field workers
working in their owm communities.
The lississippi Historical Records Survey Project wishes to express its
deep appreciation of the interest displayed in this inventory by individuals
throughout the State, and for the contributions they mede toward its preparation.
For the assistance granted by the Rt. Reve William Mercer Green, Bishop of the
Diocese of Mississippi, Captain Thomas Shields, Registrar, and the numerous
clergymon of the Protestant Episcopal Church, we are profoundly grateful.

Wo wish to thank also the officials of the Work Projects Administration
who have ziven the Survey their cordicl support and cooperation, and Dr. William
D. McCain, Director of the Mississippi Department of Archives end History, and
official sponsor of the projoct, who has assisted in every way possiblcs

A list of publications issued by the Mississippi Historical Records Survey
Projcct appoars after the index in the volume,
Moina Evans, State Supervisor,
The Mississippi Historical
Records Survey Project

202 Millsaps Building
Jackson, liississippi
June 1940



EDITORIAL NOTES

Orgenization Dates

The genoral plan of entry places the Churches in chronological order of
orgonizétion. Canonical organization, especially in the early years of the
Diocesc, fréquently came some time after active Church life was undervay.
Furthermore, many parishes aftor a brief lapse in services wore orgenized 2
sccond times Thereforo, the orzonization date as given here is not necessarily
the date of cononical organization, but the date after which services were moic

or less continuous.

Form,3£ Entrz

The entry for cach Church or organization within a Diocese adheres to =
unifornm style. Following the entry number appear the name of the Church or
organization, the organization date and dote of demise (if inactive), the street
address, and city or village, and county in which the orgenization is locateds”
Each entry is divided into two or three poragraphs. The first paragraph gives,
wherever possible; the orgaenization history, the building history, the first
settled clergyman, and the prosent rectors The second paragraph gives bibliog=-
rephy pertaining exclusively to the particular Church., The third paragroph is
devoted to the records of the Church.

Parish and lission

In the early ycars of the Diocese the word mission was not used, and the
vword parish was loosely applicd to almost any group of Churchmen attempting to
maintain s Church, The present Canon law of the Diocese, adopted 1897, in its
Title II of the Canons, lays dovn carcful requisites for both parish and missions
"ot less than twelve" persons, "threc of whom shall be male cormunicants of the
Diocese" are necéssery for the establishment of & mission (Canon 15)e In the
case of a parish, twenty communicants, "of whom not less than ten shall be adult
male members of the Church in the Diocese of Mississippi", are necessary (Canon
16)s In both cases application is made to the bishop and there are various
othor requirementses

Records

Unless otherwise stated, all Parish Registers include baptisms, ¢onfirma-
tions, marriages, members, and deathss Rocords not given as existing, are
nissinge The Civil War and firé have dealt heavily with records of the Church
in Mississippie In other cases, thé Canons have been carclessly observed, and
records have been incompletely kept, or not kept at all.

Mississippi Lew Pertaining to Religious Organizations’
A pectaerd 1 o ez

In Mississippi all corporations are formed only under the general laws
(Const., 1890, sec. 178), Charters of incorporction are approved by tho




Editorial Notes

attorney-general, signcd by the governor, and rocorded by the sccretary of state
as well as in the officc of the clerk of the chancery’ court as reccorder in the
county of the domicilc of the corporation (Codec, 1930, secc. AT3IYY Priopito tho
adoption 6f tho Constitution of 18900, ‘charters for corporations were in many
cosos grantod by specific acts of the legislaturo,

The laws of Mississippi governing religious socictics provide that: "any
religious socicty, consisting of tho members of any particular denomination or
congrogation, desiring to act as an orpgenized body, may do so by association
togethor and electing or appointing from its membership any numbor of officers,
trustees, or managers, by whatever name lknown, for the purposec of managing the
affairs of the society; and such society or association shall keep a rocord of
its procecdings, which shall show the name of the socicty, its organization, and
the olection of the officers, trustces, or managers; but tho society so ore .
ganized at cach particular locality shall be a distinet and independent socioty;
and any society so organized may sue and bo sued by its socioty mname or appcla-
tion, and process may be scrved on its presiding officor, or scerotary or on
tho trustocs or managers.” (Code, 1930, scc, 4168),

The supromc court of Ilississippi has held that a religious organization is
not & corporatc body under the statute vrithout some affirmative action to avail
itsolf of tho provisions of the statute. A rcligious orgonization to become an
organized body under the statute must clect officers, and keep a rccord of its
procecdings, showing among other things its organization, (Cullett v Pirst
Christian Church, 154 Miss. Rop., 5165 122 So. Rop., TN

Any religious socicty, ecclosiastical body and/or any congroegation may hold
and own, at any oune place, restricted quantitics of real property, which include,
Churches, community houses, parish houses, sunday school houses, rcsidences fof
district officers, hospitals, nurses! homes, schools, colleges, orphan asylums,
camp grounds for religious purposes, ceméterios, and a reasonable quantity of
land in comncetion with cach (Code, 1930, scce 4169).

All proporty belonging to religious societics, ecclesiastical bodies, and/
or congregations, used oxclusively for such socicty and not for profit, and
within the statutory limit as to quontity, is excmpt from taxation. (Code, 1930,
soce 3108)s TV A

Until 1940, devises of real property oend boquests of personal property by
wills to rolizious bodies had been generally prohibited by the constitution and
statubes of the state. By an amendment adopted by the qualificd electors at the
goneral clcction of 1939, and incorporated in the laws of the state by log=-
islative act in 1940, these provisions werc abolished, allowing roeligious
institutions to acquire property by dcvises and boquests (Report of Election -
Cormissionors of the Goneral Election, November 7, 1939 to Seérotary of Stato,
Rocapitulation file drawer Z, in offico of Sccretary of State, New Capitol,
Jackson; L. li,, 1940, Hs-Be Nos 32 )e Thesc mortmain statutes werc first inéluded
in the laws of Mississippi in the Cole of 1857, (Codo, 1857, Chapter XXXV, arts.
55-56, ppe 302-303). Thesc laws remained a part of the Code of 1871, but were
omitted from the Code of 1880, and werc again included as a part of thé funde-
mental law of the &tate in the Constitution of 1890. (Code, 1871, Seows ‘8440w
2441 Const., 1890, séc. 2693 Code, 1892, sct. 4500~4501; Code, 1906, SecCS.,
5090-5091F Code, 1917, sécs. 3578-3570; Cole, 1930, secse 3564~3565; Blackburn
ve Tucker, 72 Hiss. Rep., 735, 17 So. Rops, 737)s e
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Canon Law
Recordse

Notes

of the Diocese and the Netional Church Relating to the Keoping of

The following is extracted fron Constitution and Canons for the Govermment
of the Protestant Episcopal Church, Chicazo, 1937:

CANON 18

O0f Duties of Bishops

[ ] L] L]

II. (iii) Every Bishop shell keep a record of all his official
acts, which record shall be the property of tiie Dioccsc,
and shall be transmitted to his successor.

CANON 21
Of Ministers and Their Duties
L] L °
BIEg () It shall be the duty of cvery llinister of this Church
to reéorcd in the Parish Register all Baptisms, Confirnce
tions, Marriages, Burials, and the names of all Cormu-
nicants within his Cure.

(1ii) The registry of every Baptism shall be signed by the
officiating lfinister,

(1ii) Every Minister of this Church shall make out and
continue, as far as practicable, a list of all familiocs
and adult persons within his Cure, to remain in the
Parish for the use of his successor,

The following is extracted from Constitution and Canons of the Protestant
Episcopal Church, in thc Diocese of lMississippi, Brandon, Illiss., 1936:

CANON 20
Of Parish Register and Parochial Reports

Section 1. The Parish Register rcquired by Canon of the General
Convention shall specify the names and the time of the birth of the
child baptized, with the name of the parents and sponsors; tho
names of the adults baptized; the nanos of parties married and two
or norc special witnesses of the same, the place wherc tho marriage
we.s solcmmnizeds the names of the persons buricd; and also the time
when cach ritec was porformed. These registers shall be kept by

the Ilinister in a book provided for that purpose belonging to the
Vestry of each Parish, which book shall be the Parish Register, and
shall be preserved by the Vestry as a part of the records of the
Parishe, The list of communicants shall embrace all confirmed per=
sons within his Cure, as nearly as can be ascortained, ond in his
enmual report, he shall distinguish the additions, the removals

and deaths since the last report; and said annual report shall
state the amount of insurance on the Church and on all buildings
ond other property of the Parish, He shall also kecp o list of the
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families and adult persons in his cure, as far as practicable, and
also an accurate list of the persons confirmed by the Bishope.

Section 3.

In every case where a Parish or Mission is without a

minister, the register contemplated by this Canon shall be kept by
the Wardens, or by some person appointed by the Vestry, whose duty
it shall be to prepare and forward to the Bishop the annual paro=

chial reporte

S8ee also: Canons 4, 5, and 8, reprinted in part, Entry l.

Extinct Churches and Schools

Churches and schools no longer active &are denoted by an asterisk and com=-

pleted datese.

Abbreviations

arte, 8rtss
Ce

Conste

ed .

ibid.

Je

JGC e

T My

Misss

Ne de

Ne Po

Ne Pra

op» it
Pes PPoe
Rep.

SeCe., Secse
sic

So.

vole, vOlse

Symbols

*

P R R o article, articles
------------------------------- about

...................... Constitution
............................... editor

............... in the same place
........ Journal of the Diocese

............................................... Journal of Genereal Convention

............ Laws of Mississippi

........................ Mississippi

....... no place of publication
....................... no printer
................ in the work cited
........................ page, peges
............... Reporter, Reports
............. - section, sections

........ thus; according to copy

........................... Southern
.................. volume, volumes

.............. to date or current
inactive Churches or schools
Work Projects Administration
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HISTORICAL SKETCH OF THE DIOCESE OF MISSISSIPPI

In 1826, the Gemeral Convention of the Protestant Episcopal Church,
nssembled at Ste. Peterts Church, Philadelphia, resolved, "that the Church
in the State of Mississippi be received into union with the General Con-
vention."l This resolution was passed by both houses of General Convention

on November lO.2

The Church had been active in part of the territory now included in
Mississippi from as early as 1790, by which time the Rev, Adam Cloud, a native
of Delaware, had introduced the services of the Episcopal Church into the
Notchoz district, then a part of tho Spanish territory of West Florida®

Although roligious ministrations save thosc of the Roman Catholic Church
woro forbidden, Manuel Gayosé de Lomos, commandant at Notchez, had been lenient
in onforcing tho prohibition, hoping to win the good-will of the large number
of citizens who wore not Roman Catholics.% The times were turbulent and unsct-
tled, as Spain, France, Englend, and the United Stetos struggled for control
of the Mississippi Valley, and a willingncss to tomporize in roligious mattors
by Gayoso, at Natchoz, and by the governor of Louisiana, Baron Francisco Luis
Hoctor do Carondolet, at New Orlcans, was onc of many indications that the
Spanish officials folt their position not overly sccurc. Official lcniéncy in
rogerd to religious laws in tho Natchoz country camc to an ond, howover, with
the appointment of the Rt. Reve Luis Ignacio Maria do Penalver y Cardcnos, as
Bishop of Louisiana and tho Floridas, with jurisdiction that included Natchoz.®
Bishop Ponalver was not ploased with the loose, uncertain state of affairs, and
its offcct on tho inhabitants, and onc of his &G6veral roforms was to arrost
and send out of the country the Rev. Mr. Cloud,® and to arrest at lecast one
other non-Roman Catholic cleorgyman in the Natchez district.”

Howe¥er, in 1798, the United States achieved possession of the Mississippi
torritory, and soon thercafter, in 1801, thore is evidence of Episcopal services
in Natchez by the Rov. Adom Boyd.8

Yet, no pormanont parochial organization was cffected in Mississippi until

1. Journal of the Prococdings. » «of the Protestant Episcopal Church in a
Gomoral Convention, Now York, 1826, 75, Horoafter cited as JaC.

2¢ \ Ibide ;

3. Miississippi Provincial Archives, Spanish Dominion, 1759-1820," Transcript
from Archives of the Indies, Seville, Cuban Papors, in Mississippi Depart-
mont of Archives and History, Jackson, 9 vols., IV, insert proceding pe
787; hercafter cited as M. P. A., Spanish Dominion; The Reve John G. Jonecs,
A Concise History of the Introduction of Protostantism into Mississippi
and the Southwest, St. Louis, 1866, p. 93. Horeofter cited as Jonos.

4, i, P. A. Sponish Dominion," V, 772=775 :

5. Rogor Baudicr, History of the Catholic Church in Louisiana, Now Orleans,
lgsg,pl ° : 223"'232.

6., Joneos; 94.

s Tbiddey 34 ;

8. WilTliem Bucknor McGoroarty, (ed.), "Diary of Captain Philip Buckior,"

William and Mary College Quarterly, Willicmsburg, Va., Series II, VI,

(1926), 190,




The Diocese

the Rov. Adam Cloud rcturncd to the State, and settled in Jefferson County,
where he cstablished Christ Church in 1820.1

In Morch 1822, the Reove James Pilmore, of Philadolphin, arrived in
Natchoz and helped in the organization of Trinity Church, which he then served
as rector.2 In 1823, the Rev. lr. Pilmorc, in deacon's orders, roturnéd to
Philadelphia and was ordained priest.3 He came back to Trinity Church,
Natchoz, and in 1825, resigned to bocome rector at Christ Church, Jefferson

C ounty. 4

The Rev. Joames Angel Fox, begon his ministry in Mississippi, at Pinck-
neyville, Wilkinson Countg, in August 1823, and in the same yeor organized Ste
Poul's Church, Woodville,Y The Rev, Mr. Fox likowise began sorvicos at Port
Gibson in 1825,6 although the Journal states that organization there was
completed under the Rev. Albert Huller, of Natchez, in April, 1826.

Thus, when the first convention of the Diocese of liississippi met in
Netchez on the 17 and 18 of liay 1826, it consisted of four parishes, all in
the Natchez distriet, located at Church ILill, Netchez, Woodville, and Port
Gibson; and five clorgymen: the Rev. Adam Cloud, the Rev. James Pilmore, the
Rev. Albert Muller, the Rev. Jamcs Angel Fox, and the Rev. John Wurts Cloud,
the latter of Port Gibson, and & son of the Rev. Adam Cloud.8 Lay delegates
prosent were: from Christ Church, Jefforson County, Col. James G. VWood, and
Dr. Samuel G. Cloud; from Trinity Church, Natchez, John T. Griffith, Josoph
Dunber, Robert Moore, Col. Henry W, Huntington, and Dr. Ayrcs P, Merrill; from
St. Paul's, Woodville, Gen. John Joor; and from St. John's, Port Gibson, the
Hon. Joshua G, Clarke, and Justin W Footced

The Rev. Albert Muller and the Rev. James A. Fox were elected clerical °
delegates to tho General Convention, and Levin Covington and Justin . Foote,
lay delegates.lo These were the delegates charged with presenting the appli=-
cntion of the Church in Mississippi for rocognition as a Diocese of the Pro=~-
testant Episcopal Church. This application, as indicated above, was approved
in November 1826.

The numbor of communicents of the Church in Mississippi at this time was
probably not over 100e Natchez, perhaps the strongest parish, wos the only
one to list the number of communicants, and it roported thirty-fivc.ll (For
o tobulation of the communicent strength of the Diocese by decades, see¢ page
28 )e The number of communiconts in the Diocese, as well as the strength of
the Church, in goneral in Mississippi, wes naturally affocted by the lack of
a bishop. However, the wealth and influence of the communicants that there

1. Jonesy '96s
2. Journal of the Procecdings of a Convention of the Protestant Episcopal
Church in the Diocess [sic] of Mississippi, Natchez, 1826, 6, The
Tocosan Journals are heroafter cited as J.

8. 18ids 8. J1826, 3.
4, Thid. 9. - WIBEE, 3,
5. Tbids 10, J1826; 9.
Bs ULBE6. Te Y1 1826, 8.

T« JUBLOy Bs
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were, somcwhat compensated for the smallness of their number. For example,
the laymon mentioned, in 1827, in conncction with the Protestant Episcopal
Socicty for the Advancement of Christianity were among the leaders of the
Statc. Prosident wes Gov. David Holmes; Recording Secrctary, Joscph Dunbar;
Ley Trustecs were, Joshua G. Clarke (Chencellor of the State), Peter Randolph,
Tdgward Turner, Georgoc Winchester, Dre. Ayres P. Morrill, John T. Griffith, Henry
W, Huntington, Joseph Barmard, Robert Moore, and James J. Viood.

The first Episcopal bishop to visit the State of lMississippi was the Rt
Rev. Thomas Church Brovmell, of Connceticut, who, in August, 1829, was re-
questoed by the Board of Dircctors of tho Domestic and Forcign liissionary So=
cioty to make o visitation of the States lying west and south of the Alleghany
mountains, "o perform such Episcopal offices as might be desired, to inquire
into the condition of the missions established by the Board, and to take a
zencral survey of the country for the purpose of designating such other mis-
sionery stations as might be usefully established."

Bishop Brovmell left Fhiladelphia on November 12, 1829, travelled over-
and to Pittsburg, and descended by boat to Natchez, which he reached gn
December 22, teking lodgings "at the public house of Col. L. Purnell."® The
Bishop had been accompanied on his trip to the southwest by the Rev. tilliocm
Richmond, of New York.4

At Natchez on Christmas day, the Bishop coelebrated the Holy Communion and’
consecrated Trinity Church, Notchez;® on the 27, he consccrated Christ Church,
Jefferson County;6 and on January 5, 1830, he consecrated St. Paul's, Woodvillec,
At Woodville the Rev. John C, Porter was ordained priest, the first ordination
within the confines of the Diocese of Mississippi.8 The Bishop also visited~
Port Gibson, holding sorvices in the courthouse, December 29,9 On January 6,
after o visitation of about two weeks, the Bishop left the Diocese, continuing
his labors for the Church by visitations in Louisiana and Alobama, 10

Of the conditions he oncountered, Bishop Brownoll wrotc, "The Church is
probably regarded with less prejudicc in IMississippi, than in any other part
of our country. A vory large portion of the wealthy and intelligent planters
appenr disposed to support its Ministry and institutions, whenever the appeal
is made to theme Still the prospects of tho Dioccge appeared gloomy, on our
arrival, The Rovd MT Muller and the Revd ¥ Wall, 1 nhad just Ieft the Diocese,
and the Revd ¥ Fox and Rev@ MY Porter were preparing to take their departure,

1. J1827, 14. The Society, organized at Natchez in 1826, was still active
as lotc as 1853, its name somewhat shorteneds. The mectings coincided with
those of the Convention. See espocially: J1828, 8-10; J1852, 113~115,

2, William A. Beardsley, (ed.), "Bishop Browmoll's Journal of His Hissionary
Tours of 1829 and 1834 in the Southwést," Historical Magazinoe of the Pro=-
tostant Episcopal Church, VII (1938), 308, Heroafter cited as Browmcll,

34 Pidey S10% T TBR0GE SRS

Ay UTPYEGS BO5, 84 (I dDTC .

5. ID 0 51 0% P S T R o

Bs iIBHGN 10 Ty, Sl sliey

11, The Rev. Spencer Wall had come into the Diocese in 1828 as roctor at Port
Gibson (J1829,7).
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in company with us. But during our stay in Natches [sic] that Congregation
prosented a call to the Revd 1f Porter, which he determined to accept.”

At the beginning of 1830, then, only the Rev. James Fox, in addition to
the Rev. Mr, Porter, was active in the State., Of the original five élergy-
men in thc Diocese, the Rev, James Pilmorc had died in November 1827,2 tho
Rove Adam Cloud was inactive, and the Rev. John Wurts Cloud was out of the
Di0cesced

In Moy 1830 the convention of the Diocesc, meeting at Natchez, agreed
to a proposal of the Church in Alabama, that the Churches of Alabama, Louis-
jana, and Mississippi join together to form one Diocese, to be called the
Southwestern Dioceses4 The perfecting of this plan, however, took some tinc,
Yeanwhile, the Church in lfississippi, continued to function as a Diocese,
although consisting of only four parishes, two pricsts, and without episcopal
ministrations save the occasional attentions of the distant Bishop of Con-
necticute

The General Convention of 1832 was attended by one delegate from lMiSsis-
sippi, Justin Vi. Foote. He reported conditions in the Diocese unchanged,
and thet "“the moin obstacle to the extension of the Episcopal Church in this
Diocese is the insufficient supply of clergymen."®

By 1835, arrangements for a convention to mect in New Orleans and form
Southwestern Diocese were matured. A special convention of the Diocese of
ississippi met in Natchoz, February 23 and 24, of thet year, and was pre-
sided over by Bishop Brownell, who had been in New Orlecans and the vicinity
since Decembor 18348 Delegates to thé New Orleans convention elected at
Watchoz were, the Rev, Picrce Connelly,” and James G, Wood, Thomas H, Prosser,
Joseph Dunbar, W, Newton lMercer, Ayres e, Merrill, Samuel Davis and John
Joor,8

o
Li

1. Browmell, 311,

2., Natchez Ariel, November 2, 1827.

3« Brovmell s lidisl JUBA8 Ty

4, Journal of a Convention of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the State
of Alabama, publishod by the convention, Tuscaloosa, 1831, 6-7., Although
the Diocese of lississippi seems to have held its amnual conventions in
the ycars 1830~1836, inclusive, therc arc no printed Journals knovm to
cxist for thosc ycarss

Se ' JGC, 18324 O5le

6. Brovmell, 320,

7. The Rev. Mr. Connelly, of Philadelphia, had succceded lir. Porter at HNatchoz,
and vos at the time of his election the only clergyman actively employod
as such in the Diocesc. Ir. Connelly after an ecclosiastical careor that
took him into the Roman Church and back again, died in Florcnce, Italy,
as roctor of St, Jamcs' Episcopal Church in that city (Charles Stictenroth,
Onc Hundred Years 1/ith "Old Trinity" Church, Hatchez, 1922, 18).

8. Journal of a Convention of tho Protostant Episcopal Church...From the
Diocése of Hississippi and Alabama and the Clergy anc Churches of Louis-
innn, New Orleans, 1835, 4. RAg ot s s
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The convention assembled at New Orlezns, lierch 4 and 5,1 and with the’
Rev. lire Connelly as president,2 clected the Rev. Dri Francis Lister Hawks,
of Ste Thomas! Church, New York, as bishop. The convention adjourned without
further important action, However, Dr. Hawks, declincd’ his clection,® and
interest in the proposcd Southwestern Diocese declining, no further offorts to
cstablish it seem to have been made,

The Dioccse of lMississippi, had alrcady in 1834; through its Standing
Cormittee, invited the Rt. Rev, Janes Hervey Otcy, of Tennesscc to visit the
Dioccse, in his episcopal capac1ty. This visit had becen madc, Bishop Otey
arriving at Vicksburg, by boat fron IlMemphis, in company with the Rev, {Thomas?|
Viright, on January &, 183549 Loaving lr, Wright to organize a congregation
in that city, Bishop Otey continued on, making visits at Natchez, Church Hill,
and Port Gibson. The congregation in the latter plQCC,G the Bishop found in
a "depressed stﬂte," lacking a clergyman for somo time. A visit to Vioodville
was prevented by high-water in the Homochitto swamp, 7 and Bishop Otcy left the
Diocese in Februarye.

In surmary of his wvisit, the Bishop reported to the Standing Committec
that he "received the most gratifying assurance of the willing disposition of
the pcople to support the institutions of religion. . . «Hothing is wanted
but the labors of faithful and well-informed clorgymen. o « oBut this supply
nust come from the North and East of use ¢ « oAnd few compartively, as past
cxpericnce demonstrates, will be found roady to cncounter the fatigues and
dangers of exposure to a southern climate. . o oUnder these circumstances, to
say nothing of the difference betwoen the North and South, it strikes me as’
an obvious dictate of prudence and sound policy to provide in the Southwest,
a5 soon as practicable, for the education of young men willing and in other
respects qualifiod to enter the ministry."

Bishop Otey at the time of undertaking supervision of thec Dioccse of
lilssissippi had only recontly been consccrated bishop, that event taking place
in Christ Church, Philadelphia, January 14, 1834, °

James Hervey Otey was born in Bedford County, Virginie, Jenuary 27, 1800, %0

Ibid,
I5id. 8k
« DBrowmell, 321,
'he Rt, Rev. James Hervey Otecy, Rcport of a Visitation of the Dioccso
of IMississippi, printed by order of the~§ﬁ;nm1nu Cormittoc, Natchez,
AB65, " 4y
Se nggg, Bishop Otey did not give the first name of the Rev. lr. 'Iright.
The Rev. W. S. Slack, Alexandria, La., Rocorder of Ordinations, suggests
(1940) thet he was the Rev. Thomas Wright, of Virginia.
Be i Ibidy by
To: TOUd3, 64
8. 1Ibid., 7=8s This statement of the nocd for a southern Church University
is onc of the first indications of Bishop Otey's plans for the University
of the South., (Sec ontry l=-e). s
9. The Rt. Rev. Willian liercer Greon, lemoir of James Hervey Otey, Now York,
1885, 12, Herocaftor cited as Otey. A8
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The Diocese

At the ago of sixteen he ontered the University of Horth Carolina, taking

the degrec of Bacholor of Belles Lettres in 1820. Not rcarcd as an Episco=-
pelion, his first roal acquaintance with the Church was after 1820, when as
tutor of Latin and Greek at his Alma liater, he had the accompanying duty of
holding prayers in the college chapel every morning just after daylizhte
According to his biographer, Bishop Greon, "This was to him a new and most
irksome cxercisc, For a while hc stumbled through the performance with no
cozrec of improvement, and with less and less satisfaction to himsélf. At
lenght a kind lady friend pointed his attention to the Praycr=-Book, and
orosented him o copye « »The more he became fomiliar with its contents, the
Lighor and morc fervent was his admiration for the soundness of its doctrincs
the spirituality of its prayers, and its admirable fitness for all the purpos
of public or privatec devotion. From that time ho becane what till the day of
his deoth he delizhted to be called,=--a !'Prayer-Book Churchnan' "1

]
CS

At this time, October 13, 1821, hc married Eliza Pannill, of Petersburg,
Virginia,z and, shortly thereafter, removed to lisury County, Tennessec, wherec
he opened & school for boys. Returning to Horth Carolina, as head of an
academy at Warrenton, he was baptized by the Reve Willianm liercer Green (1ater
first Bishop of liississippi) then in charge of the Church at larrenton, and
soon after was confirmed by the Rt. Rev. John Stark Revenserofts® He re-
ceived the office of deacon, October 10, 1825, and of priest, June 7, 1827,
from the same bishope®

For the following eight years, the Rev. lir. Otey conducted a school at
Fronklin, Temessee, and hold Church secrvices in the liasonic Lodge. lnong
his students were Braxton and Thomas Bragg, and liatthew Fontaine lMaurye

The orgenizing convention of the Diocosc of Tennesses, consisting of
five priests and one deacon, met at Franklin, June 27, 1833. The Rev. lir,
Otoy was casily elected bishop of the new Dioccses !

On his first visit to Mississipri, in January 1835, the Bishop reported
confirming forty porsons.8 The only other occasion on which that rite had
been available to liississippions had been on the visit of Bishop Brownell in
1829, and, perhaps, at VWoodville, on that Bishop's visitation in 1835,

In 1837, the diocosan convontion of Iiississippi again invited hin to
visit the Statc,lo but it does not scem that this visit was nade.t Instead,
the Rt. Reve Jackson Kemper, missionary bishop in the Northwest, visited i
"mony of the Churches in this Diocese," in 1838, € notably St. Paults Church,
Colurmbus, whose building he consecrated, April 22,

o "Thld e =E 8. GCJ1835, 139.
o TEDE e Qs Otey, Oe
« Thads 10, J1837, 9=10.
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The Diocese

The same year, thc convention of liississippi resolved that thejy felt it
Mexpediont" for Lississippi to be placed, under a missionary bishop, if the
General Convention would appoint onesl At this time, therc werc clergymon
resident in the Dioccsc at Natchez, Columbus, Vicksburg, and two at Woodvillod®
The Rev. Roderick Ranney, formerly of Grand Gulf, and still canonically
resident in the Diocese, was actually in chargc of Grace Church, St. Francis-
ville, Louisianae.d It was reported that "ilississippi is in great need of
twolve or fiftecn nissionaries.™ The Dioccse reported 116 communicants.®

Recciving no action from General Convention regerding a missionary bishop,
the diocesan convention invited the Rte. Rev. Leonidas Polk, of Arkansas, to
7isit the States® Bishop Polk attended the fourtcenth convention of the
Diocese, at Woodville, in 1839, and opened that gathering with a celcbration
of the Holy Communion, 7 By 1840, Bishop Polk found his work in Arkansas téo
extensive to permit of further attention to Mississippi,8 and Bishop Otey,
being again asked to toke supervision of the Diocese, agreed to do 5049 ;
However, Bishop Polk paid at least one other official visit to the Diocese, as __
Bishop of Louisiena, visiting St. Paul's, Voodville, for confirmation, in 1843.1U

Addressing the convention of 1844, assembled in the capitol building (nov
the old capitol), Jackson,ll Bishop Otey urged the election of a bishop, who
should be charged with the care of the Diocese of Ifississippil alone, pointing
out that it was "an object greatly to be desired and intimately connccted" with
the best interests of the Diocese.l2 Agreeing to the suggestion, the Convention
began the task of selecting o bishop.

The clergy first nominated and approved for the office the Rev. David Ce
Page, rector of Trinity Church, Natcheze. The laity declined to confirm himn,
The clerzy next nominated and approved the Reve Nicholas Ianmer Cobbs, of Ohio,
(later first bishop of Alabama)., The lay delegates failed to confirm him like-
wise. Finally, the clergy nominated and confirmcd the Rev. Francis Lister
Hawks, who was ovidently the choice of the laity, for he was immediately
approved by theme1® The Rov. Dr. Iawls had declined his clection to the Bish-
opric of the Southwestern Diocese ten years earliere. At the time of this second
election to thc episcopatc, he was rector of Christ Church, Holly Springs, and
had recently established a boys! school therc that was to develop into St. Thomas!
B111% (sec Entry 1=b)e

Before adjourning, the Convention passcd resolutions of approciation to
Bishop Otey, "tho entering the Dioccesc eight yoars ago with but one clergyman
residing in it, now leaves it with scventeon."1® The Diocese had becn paying

1, J1838, 7-8. 9. J1841, 31,

2. Jl838, 2. 10. JIB843, 15.

3. JGC1838, 1664 A1 S ST R

4 Thadugni 174, 12, JiB4Z, 19,

e ibudelrildls : 13, Jl844, 35,

6. J1839, 3 Bishop Polk, formerly of Tonnesseoc, 14. JIBZZ, 16.
had boen clcétod missionary bishop of Arkansas, 15, Jl1B44, 36.
September 15, 1838 (JGC1838, 80).

e " "Ebaily

8. J1840, 15,




The Diocesc

Bishop Otcy, $1,000 yecarly for his supervision of the Church in Mississippi,l
and pow agrecd to pay his full-time successor, {$2,000,2

However, the Rcve Dr. Hawks, in spite of being twice elected to the officc,
was not destined to sérvec as bishop of lMississippi, for thc General Convention
mecting the noxt year, 1844, refuscd to confirn his clection,® ©No definite
charges wore brought by the Convention against Dr. Havks, but he was not con-
firmod, and his clcetion was referrcd back to the Diocesc of Ifississippi "to
declarc their scnse of the sub Ject."4

There vwas no diocesan convention in 1845, but in that ycar, the Rt. Recv.
George Weshington Freeman, bishop of Lrkoensas, made o 7isit0tion to most of the

twrelve parishes of the State on the invitation of Bish > Otoy.® In 1846, the
con"cntlon was addressed by Bishop Otey, who termed thc Lctlon of Genercal
CO“TCHthU, in feiling to confirm the c¢lcetion of Dr. Hawks, "objectionable"
and "ealculated to crmbarrass and dishcarten a weck and infant Diocese."® 4
resolution using these phrascs of Bishop Otey was passed by the diocecsan con-
ventions.? Dr,. Hawks, however, left the Diocese the sane year to become rector
of Christ Church, New Orlcans.®

Having failed for & second time to obtain a bishop of its owm, the Diocese,
meeting in the ilethodist building in Jackson, in 1847, nsked Bishop Otey again
to take_up the supervision of m1o51031p)1.9 The salary was increased to
il 500.lo In 1848, however, Bishop Otey's increasing ill=hcalth forced him for
the last tino to r@llanISh this extra and laborious task,ll the convention
cccepting his resignation as Provisional Bishop with "sorrow and rogret,"12 A

ouoluulon to invite Bishop Freeman of Arkansas again into the Diocese failed
to carry.l The Diocese seccmed confident of its ebility to support, and
deternined to have, its ovm bishops

The twenty-third convention of the Dioceso met in Trinity Church, Natchez,
in liay 1849. Plans for the clection and support of a bishop were prescnted and
approved. In addition to a salary of 2,000, it was resolved that the Diocesec
should purchasc an C;luCO;ﬁl rosidenceo and raise 25,000 as a first step toward
endowing the episcopatce- Trinity parish, Natchez, offered to supply $1,000
of the bishopt!s salary and to give him the title of rector, in addition to
supply hin with an assistent ot $800, that he night devotc most of his timec to
diocesan affairs.i® This offer was agreed to by the convention, which further
decidod that the consceration of the bisho ‘noloct should be held at St. i
Church, Jeclzson.l6

r

drovr!s

Ponding the comins; of a bishop, tho convention asked Dishop Cobls, of
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The Diocese

Alabama, to perform cpiscopal services in the northern part of the State, and
Bishop Freeman, of Arkensas, to visit the central and southern parts.l

Procceding to the eleetion of a bishop, the clergy voted unanimously in
favor of the Reve Williem Mercer Green, of Chapel Hill, North Carolina, and
the laity approvod.2 Before cdjourning, the convention also resolved that
scats in Church ought to be free, and that sclling and ronting pews was "in=-

jurious to the best interests of the Church,"?

When elected Bishop, the Rov. Mr. Grecn had been for twelve yoars haplain
at the University of North Carolina and professor of Belles Lettres. Born a
Wilmington, North Carolina, on Iy 2, 1798, he had been largely rearcd by his
mother, his father having died when Williom lercer was still a childe The
father, William Greon, was a son of Dr. Samuel Green, of Liverpool, Englond,
who had’ settlod on the Cape Fear River ncar Wilmington, where he died in 1771,
In 1814, William Mercer Green entercd the fresiman class at the University of
North Carolina, end graduated A, B, in 1818, During his wndergraduate years
at Chapel Hill he was strongly influenced toward taking orders in the Church by
reading a life of Bishop Berkeley. On December 22, of the year of his gredudtion,
he married Sally W. Smecd, of Williamsborotgh, and about the same time begon, :
privately, as was not unusual at that time, & course of study for the ministry.
After being ordeined, the Rev. lMr. Grecn was, for four years, rector of 7
St. John's Church, Williamsborough, and in charge of work in Halifax, Raleigh,
Oxford, Milton, and Hillsboroughs In 1826, he moved his residence to Hills-
borough, as rector of St. HMatthew's Church, which he had organized there.” In
1832, his wife died, and in 1835 he was married again to Isabella Fleming, of
Pittsborough, N. C., on December 18, His work at the University of North Caro-
lina began in 1837 and continued to his election to the bishopric of lMississippie
In 1845, the University of Pemnsylvania conferred on him the degrec of Doctor
of Divinitye%

The consccration of the Rt. Reve William Mercer Grech as tho first bishop
of Mississippi took place in St. Andrew's Church, Jackson, in 1850, on the
Second Sunday in Lent (February 24), which was also the Feast of St Matthics,
the consecrators being Bishops Otcy, Polk, Cobbs, and Frecmane.® The chief
conscerator was Bishop Otey, who had himsclf been baptized by Bishop (then the
Rev, Mr.) Grecone

Bishop Green continued in Mississippl the churchmanship of Bishop Otey,

1, J1849, 20,

2u " IbTdy el

3¢ UTIBIOES 26y

4, There is no complete published life of Bishop Greocn. The above sketch of
his career prior to his coming to Mississippi is based on Gilbort Cope's,
Gencalogy of the Sharpless Family, Philodelphia, 1887, 497-498s Tho Rev.
7. S. Slack, Recorder of Ordinations, states that he was macde deacon
April 29, 1821 and priest April 23, 1823, both ordirations being by the
Rt. Réve Richard Channing lioore, of Virginia,

5. J1850, 9+ Ste Andrew's Church, ot that timo, wos located on tho southeest

corner of President and Amite Streets.




The Diocese

which, while it in no wise lacked evangelical fervor, carried with it a feel-
ing for the discipline of the Church and the sacramental life that evangelical
churchnanship has often been without. At the close of his first convention
address in 1850, Bishop Green well summarized the position in churchmanship
that he was to maintain for thirty-seven years in Mississippi, a State largely
Protestant and with considerable prejudice ageinst any form of Christianity
not of the denominational variety: "ly brethren of the clergy and laity, may’
you and I nover be drawn aside from the faith and practice of the Prayer-book,
which is but an epitome of the Bible, cither by the seductive wiles of Romanism
on the one hand, or the levelling, popularity-seeking deovices of a diseased
Protestentism on the other, Upon the safe and happy middle ground of Catholic
truth may we over be found, battling for God and his Church."

When Bishop Green took up his work in MMississippi, there were, according
to his own figures, "but ten places in the Diocese containing rogularly or-
gonized Parishes, end suitable Houses of Worship, viz: "Vicksburg, Natchoz,
Jackson, Columbus, Woodville, Holly Springs, Yazoo City, Kirkwood [HMadison
County), Church Hill, and Egiphany Tncar Hermenville]; at two only of which
was to be found a Rectory."

At the cnd of his first ycar as Bishop, he reportcd that he had traveled
more than 4,500 miles, preached 124 times, baptized forty-four persons, con=
firmed 106, and celebrated the Holy Communion twenty-five times.3 He was’
then fifty-three years of age. DMuch of his work was that of & missionary,
taking the services of the Church to towns and settloments wherec they had
never before been known. Conditions under which he labored are indicated by
on entry in his Journal, in 1851, that he "set out at sunrise, on top of a
freight car, from lMount Alban [Warren County}."¥ At Hernando the Bishop
roported that he "was here much annoyed by a dog. People ought not to let
their dogs accompany thom to the house of God."® And, in 1870, whon the
Bishop was seventy-two yoars of ago, he wrote of "riding ten miles on the
back of a mule, and in the teeth of a sharp north wind," to moke a visit to
St. John's Church, Early Grove.® Similar ontrics, indicating the difficulties
of shepherding scattored Churches and isolated cormunicants in an cxtensive
Diocese, arc not lacking,

In 1852, the Diocesan Convention noted the purchase, at a cost of $5,000,
of 140 acres, "about a mile from Jeckson, on which was & handsome house ond
the necessary outbuildings." This was for an episcopal residence,’ on part,
of which property now well within the city limits, the prosent Bishop's Home
and Diocesan Library are situated (see Entry 1-a). After the Civil War the
sroperty became known as Battle Hill, bocause of the fighting on this side of
the city as Grant moved on Jackson from the southwestes Ste. Andrew'!s College,
liocosan school for boys, opened January 1, 1852 on part of these grounds (see
Entry 1=d)e

In 1853, one of the almost annual visitations of yellow fever had a "dis-
lLoartoning influence" on diocesan work, killing "a number of cstoemed lay
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he Diocese

brethren" ond three of the clergy, the Rev, Amos Cleaver, Jacksons the Reft,
Stecphen Patterson, Vicksburg; and the Rev. John S. Chadbourne of Louisiana,
who was working in Trinity Church, Natchez.l

For the most part, the first ten ycars of Bishop Green's episcopate,
1650-1860, were fruitful ones, marked by a steady growth, the result of the
completed orgenization of the Diocesc, increasing resources, and faithful
ninistrationse The Church was at work generally over the State, but was still
strongost in the Natchez district., Howover, there werec parishes along the
Gulf of Mexico, which were cspecially active during the swmer months, sorving
os chapels=of=case for planters from the interior. Most of thé remaining
parishes were along the fringes of the Mississippi-Yazoo Delta, above Vicks=-
burg, or across the north-central part of the State, where such towns as lolly
Springs, Columbus, and Okolona had prospcred, as the planters had prospered,
in the flush times after 1830,

Bishop Green was active in the movement for the establishment of the Uni-
versity of the South, and of the original $500,000 quickly raised to start it,
a considerable portion came from Mississippi.

In 1860, the parishes were operating on an income of ii}'29,757.74.3 There
vas & growing endovment fund of $6,425,% and Church property, exclusive of
schools, was valued at 3159,840.5

Schools, under diocesan or Church control, werc: St. Thomas' Hall, Holly
Springs; Trinity School, Pass Christian; Rose-Gates College, Okolona; and
Wilson Hall, near Holly Sprinzs. In addition, land had been purchased look-
ing toward the erection of "an Institution of the first rank for young Ladies,
near the City of Jackson,"6

On Jenuery 9, 1861, the State of llississippi withdrew from the Federal
union. In April, the thirty-fifth annual convention of the Diocese mct in
Christ Church, Holly Springs. DMost of the clergy attended, but the sudden
and complete change in the economic and political life of the State, that came
with sccession, provented the attendance of more than twelve of the sixty-five
clected lay-delegatose?

The Bishop presented to the convention a letter, sont from Sewanec by
Bishops Polk and Elliott,8 as senior Southern bishops, to all other Southern
bishops, asking for a mecting in Montgomery, Alabama, on July 3, "to consult
upon. such matters as may have arisen out of the changes in our civil affairs."?

Delegates from Mississippi attended this and subsequent meotings. And
proceeding on a theory of the Holy Catholic Church as consisting of autonorous
notional Churches, lay and clerical members of the Church in the Confecderate

T, JiBHZ; Bl 6.1 J1861, 23=24,
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States set up an or§anization for the Protestant Episcopal Church in the
Confederate States,

The organization of a Confedorate Church weas considered as involving
only the temporal affairs of the Church and not as involving schism from
the Church outside the Confederate Statcs. As expressed by Bishop Green:
"ihilst the Statc is thus passing through the fires of a painful revolution,
how thonkful should we be that the Church is at peace; and that althouzh our
political reclations towards our brethren. . <have been severed,no changoe
of name, of govermment, or national intercst, will be able to lesscn our
affcction for them as fellow members with us of the One, Holy, and Apostolic
Cormunion. If a separate and independent Ecclesiastical organization shall
be domanded. « oit will exhibit to thc world a division without dissension,
o separation without injury to the respective parts, "2

And after the war, wheon the southern Dioceses roturned to their former
relations with the Church in the United States, the Bishop was gratified at

being able "to show the world that the Holy Catholic Church of Christ, however

separated by political boundaries, is still one,"3 Bishop Green did regrét,
however, that the nemo Protestont Episcopal was not changed, and he wrote,

that, "If any form or phase of Christianity on this continent descrves the name

of Catholic or American Catholic, it is our own Anti-Roman, Anti-Sectarian
Branch of Christ!s Church."4

In spite of the war and the umsettling effect on normel Church life of
four years of armed conflict within the borders of the Diocese, considerable

success was achieved in carrying on the work of the Church. Althouzh, attend=
ance was below normal, only one diocesan council® failed %o neet, that of 1864.
Yet tho prospect, at the conclusion of the war, was not a plcasant one, and it

was observed by Bishop Green that "the reduced number of our clergy, the de-
struction of some of our Churches, the robbery and defacement of others, the
general improverishment of our people, ancd the total ruin of many, joined to
the complioated claims, the embittered feelings, and the disregard of moral
obligation naturally growing out of a protracted war; all this, with other
causes. » ohas thrown our Church several years back."7?

Meny of the clergy cnlisted in the Confederate army or removed from their

1. The detailed story of the Church in the Confederacy is given in’”Joseph
Blount Cheshire, The Church in the Confederate States, New York, 1912;
sce also Nash Burger, "The Dioccsc of liississippi anc the Confedoracy;"
in Historical lagazine of the Protestant Episcopal Church, IX, (1940),
52=TT4 T

« J1861, 35,

J1867, 53,

TBnde; 386

+ The word council was used by the Confederate Church, and, after the war
began, in Mississippi, to replace convention as the nome of thée annual
diocesan meeting, The change was made official in 1868 (J1868,45).

6+ J1867, 56 The proccedings of the councils of 1862, 1863, 1865, 1866,

were not printed in full, but are available in abstract form in tho

Journal of 1867, The council of 1864 failec to meet,
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charges for some other cause. Of the thirty-three priests listed ih 1861 as
resident in the Diocese, twenty-one had left their Churches by 1867, and only
eight had the same rector at the end of the war that they had at the beginning,
and é{ those eight not one had enjoyed uninterrupted ministrations during that
timee

Church property suffered generally throughout the Diocese, whether fiom
the neglect of poverty and the distractions of the time, as at Yazoo City,
whére the Church building was pulled dovn because of lack of funds to repair
it,2 or, as at Jackson, where the building was burncd by Federal troops.3

All the diocesan schools were forced out of cxistence by the war 4

However, both Bishop Grecn and the Committec on the State of the Church,
commentod on the increased respect of non-Episcopalians for the Church, as a
result of the conflicte "The prejudice, opposition, and misrepresentation which
have hitherto been so rifc in regard to our branch of the Holy Catholic Church,
seom, to a great oxtent, to have givon way,"® wrote the Bishop. The Committee
on the State of the Church thought the improveoment perhaps due to the "devotion
of our clergy to the soldiery," and the fact, "that our unity has been presgrved
intaetsito

In 1869, first attempts were made to set up a convocational system, and
the Diocese was divided into & Northern, Central, and Southern convocatione?

By 1870, the Diocese, although struggling against poverty and the still
unsettled times, wos beginning again to function in all its parts. Effofts
to build up a native clergy for the Diocesc seemed to be making progress,
eleven candidates for the ministry being listed,8 and an attempt to supply
theological education within the Diocese and at small cost was s6on to be made
by the Bishop Green Training School at Dry Grove (see Entry 1l-g), and the
Anmandale Training School, in Madison County (sce Entry 30). Parishes had
been organized or reorgenized at Greenville, Grenada, Macon, and Woter Valloey,
and a new parish, Holy Trinity, at Vicksburg, had been storted.® However,
debt still hung over the Diocese, and $2,429.35 of Bishop Green's salary was
unpe.idel0 In 1875, this indebtedness to the Bishop was still $1,87O.82.11

In 1871, the office of the Registrar wns sct up to "have the custody of
2ll official documents and historical cevidence relating to the Dioccse and
its severdl parishes."12 Dr, Williom K. Dougles, of the Church of the Holy
Comforter, Dry Grove, was the first to hold this office .13

The Diocesce received, in 1873, as a gift from W, W, Corcoran of Washington

ls According to lists of clergymen &s 6., J1868, 44,
given in the abstract Journals of those Tadd869y 12
years, 8e J1870, 6.

2o J1876, 60 9 Ihadsy v le
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D. C., "on undivided portion of a large quantity of land lying in the states

of Mississippi and Toxoase s esupposed to be of considerable valuc."t The
total oxtent of this land seoms never to have been ascertained, but it must

have becen considerable. Refefences to sale of part of it are scattered

through the diocesan Journals, but a complete summary of acreage sold and the
amount received seems never to have been prepared. In 1875, 960 acres were
sold for $3,14O.2 In 1876, it was reported that the land had been forfeited

to the state for taxes,® yet in 1877 there were still referonces to selling
some of ite* 1In 1881, there was listed $1520.54, in the diocesan treasury from
the Corcoran land.,® It is at least clear that the amount reccived by the
Diocese from what was evidently a large and potentially wvaluable gift was
comparatively slight. Much of the land wes lost by the Church to squatters,
under the Mississippi lew giving title after ten years undisputed occupancys

In spite of efforts to strengthen the Church after the ravages of war
and Reconstruction, the Committee on the State of the Church reported, in
1875, that, "the Church in our Diocese is passing through a period of trial
ond depression. e sFor the condition of the Church, the condition of our State
and people is a sufficient cause. Poverty, with all its trials, has overtoken
thoso who wore once the most liberal bonefactors of God's Church,"?

Conditions were not helped by the fact that incrcasing age lessened the
obility of Bishop Green to attend to the needs of his large Diocese. The
Diocese had not been able to rebuild the Bishop'!s home at Jackson, and during
most of the post=wor years his permanent home was at Sowanec.8 In 1878, it
was necessary for the Rt. Rev, Henry Nilés Pierce, of Arkanses, to perform
episcopal functions in north Mississippi,? and during the years 1877-1886,
the Rt. Rev: William Forbes Adams, formerly missionary bishop of New liéxico
and Arizona, and at that time rector of Holy Trinity Church, Vicksburg, as=
sisted Bishop Green in diocesan worke10 In 1879, the Rt. Reve Charles Todd
Quintard, of Tennessce, made an episcopal visit to some Mississippi Churches .11

As though the destruction of war and the accompanying poverty and dis-
tross were not enough, there came to the State, in 1878, a yellow fever epid-
emic more fatal and widespread than any before known. The Bishop Green Train-
ing School was wiped out of existence, and clergy and laity alike, over the
Diocese, fell victim to the pestilences Among the dead was the Rev. Duncan
Cameron Grecn, son of Bishop Green and father of the present Bishop.l2

In 1880, Bishop Green had been for thirty yocars at the head of the Diocese,
and in spite of war, depression, and plaguc the Church had gone forward. Ten
parishos had become fifty-one, two roctorics had become eleven, and forty-onc

1, J1873, 3ls A special act of the 8. According to the Rt. Rev,
legislature, April 2, 1873, author- William Mercer Grecn, II,
ized the Diocesc to reccive this ©  January 1940,
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new Churé%os had beon builts! Communicant strength had incrcased from 441%
to 1,694,

At the conclusion of his address to the council of 1880, Bishop Green
requested that an assistant bishop be given him.4 As ocarly as 1872 there had
been somo discussion of the need for an assistant.® The Convention of 1881,
aftor considering the idea of an assistant, got no furthor than resolving
that the parishes and missions "consider the proprictjy of electing an Assistant
Bishop."® The Rt. Rev., John Henry Ducachet Wingficld, missionary bishop’of
Northern California, was elected assistant bishop by the council of 1882, but
he did not accept.7

Two steps looking to the greater efficiency of the Church in the Diocese
were token in 1882: greater definiteness was introduced as to the requirements
for a parish and as to the distinction between a parish and a mission,8 and a
program looking toward the better securing of Church property to the Church
(including the incorporation of Churches) was undertaken,?

In November, 1882, a special council of the Diocesc clécted the Rev.
Hugh Miller Thompson, rector of Trinity Church, New Orloans, Assistant Bishop
of the Diocese, the Rev. Mr. Thompson receiving, on the first ballot, all
save two of the clerical votes and all of the lay ballotse10 He accepted
his election and was consecrated in Trinity Church, New Orleans, Fébruary
24, 1885,1 consecrating bishops being the Rt. Rev. Richard Wilmor, o6f Alaboma;
the Rt. Rev. John Gallaher, of Louisiana; the Rt. Rev. Samuel Harris, of
Michigan; and Bishop Green,12

Bishop Thompson was born in Londonderry, Irelend, of English parents,
June 5, 1830, and had been brought to this country at an early age. He
attended schools at Caldwell, N. J., and Cleveland, Ohio. He walked from
Cleveland to Nashotah, Viisconsin, to enter the theological seminary there. He
graduated in 1852, and was ordered deacon the same year by the Rt. Rev,
Jackson Kemper, and priest in 1856. He remained at Nashotah as Professor of
Ecclesiastical History, having charge also of St, Matthew!s Church, Kenosha
and the Church of the Atonement, Milwaukece. Kemper Hall, at Kenosha, was
founded by him. Although well known &s & teacher and priest, his greatest

l. J1880, 39
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reputation was, perhaps, gained os o writer, and as cditor of the Chicago
American Churchman, and later of the Church Journal, of New York, Among

his published works are: Copy (1872), Hore Copy (1897), Unity and its
Rostoration (1860), First Principles (1869), Absolution (I1872), and The World
“nd the Logos (1886), 1In 1875, he had become rector of Trinity Church, New
Oricans, which oure he resigned to become assistent bishop of liississippi.

An uncompromising Churchman with o strong feoling for the Catholic and
Apostolic heritage of the Amoricen Church, Bishop Thompson did not hesitate
to expross frankly his feelings regarding what he considered, careless and
irresponsible Churchmanship or inept handling of Church affairs. As willing
to expose his own failings as those of others, his onnual addresses to the
Council (1884-1902) arc probably unique among episcopal charges for their
realism and undeniable literary cxcellencc.

Anxious to organize the Diocesc to the fullest extent, one of Bishop
Thompson's first efforts was to establish a Cathedral, whosc altar would be
"the spiritual hearth of the common fomily."? He ostablished his home at

«ford and denominated the Reve. Melville M. Moore, of St. Peter's Church,

as Dean, and the Church as a Cathedral. This arrangement continued to 1889,
by which time & ncw Bishop's Home had becn eroctod on the Jackson, Battle

Hill property, and Bishop Thompson himself had removed there (1887),° the idea
of o Cathedral at Oxford seemingly not talking holde

Bishop Green died at Sewance, on Sexagesima Sunday, February 13, 1887, and
was buried at Jackson, February 17,4 being at the timc of his death Chancellor
of the University of the South and the "eldest Bishop in the American Church, "9
He had previously, in 1884, turned over full charge of diocesan affairs to
Bishop Thompsone

The activity in Church journalism that had marked Bishop Thompson's early
years was continued by him in Mississippi. He transferred to Jackson, the
Church News (bezun at lcast as carly as 1882,! as a parochial organ of Trinity
Church, Tatchez,8 by the Rev. Alexander H&rks),g and made it the official
Diocesan paper, which it still is. Torlior diocesan publications, The’
Episcopalian, of the 1830's;10 the Vicksburg Church Herald (1852-18557,11 and
The Diocosan Record of Mississippi, edited by the Reve. William K. Douglas
(1873-1875)12 had all appearcd, only to oxist briefly, and then dic.

Onc of the major problems facing the Diocesc at the time was the short,
average tenure of the parochial clergy. Resulting from soveral causes, bo=
giming, perhaps, with the poverty and dislocation of all life that accom-

panied war, reconstruction, and pestilence, the problem was to the Diocesoc a
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serious and cumulative one. Of thirty-three clergymen canonically resident and
at work in the Diocese in 1890, only three had a tenure of over: ten years,

and only six had been in the Diocese more than five years.t The study of the
Committee and its report called sufficient attention to the problem to result
in some improvement, for the matter seems to have become less pressing there-
after.

In 1893, Bishop Thompson had been ten years in the Diocese and in his ad-
dress to Council he summarized the progress which had been made. Nineteen’
clergymen actively at work in the Diocesc in 1883, had become twonty-eight.
Eight rectories had been erected. Churches had been built at ten placcs and
rebuilt at eight others. A new bishop's rcsidence had boen ereccted at Battle
Hill, and St. Columb's Chapel, also at Battle iill, had beon built. Schools
wore in oporation at Pass Christian and Vicksburg, and St. Thomas' Hall; Holly
Springs was soon to reopen.? Communicent strength had likewiso increcascd. In
1896, Bishop Thompson could rcport that "In the last decade the population of
the State of Mississippi has increased, white and black, 10 percent. The
communicants of the Church have increased 37 percent."3

Financial troubles arose at that time, however, to plague the Bishop and
the Diocese. On the taking over of the affairs of the Trustecs, of the Epis-
copal Fund and Church Property by & new group of trustees, in 1895, they re-
ported the trust "in a very unsatisfoctory and confused condition,"4 and that
"the Canons have been grossly violated in the lending of money on known
insufficient securities."® In the words of Bishop Thompson, "It secms to be
the fact that & large part of the funds reported last year have vanished,"®
Nor was this the first time that disastor had overtaken diocesan funds, a large
amount having been lost in 1883.7 The rcesult was a general tightening=-up of
the restrictions regarding the handling and accounting of these Church funds8
that has meintained them in orderly shape since that time,

In 1902, Bishop Thompson, being scventy-two ycars of ago and his health
failing, summoncd a special council to assemble January 20, 1903, to elcct a
coadjutor, but he died rather suddenly November 18.9

The special council met, fixed the salary of a successor to Bishop Thomp-
son at $5,500,1O and clected the Rove, Arthur Selden Lloyd, of New York as [
Bishop.ll The Rev, Mr, Lloyd did not accept, and the regular Council of 1903,
clected the Reve. Theodore DuBose Bratton, of Raleigh, North Carolin&,12 who
accepted and was conseccrated the third bishop of Mississippi, in St. Andréw's
Church, Jackson, on the Fesst of St. Michael and All Angels, September 29,
1903.13 The chief consccrator was the Rt. Rev. Thomas Underwood Dudley,bishop. of
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Kentucky, assisted by the bishops of North Carolina, Florida, Georgia, Tennessee,
West Texas, and Alabama,l

Born November 11, 1862, near Wimmsboro, Fairfield County, South Carolina,
Bishop Bratton was forty-one years of age when he took over the charge of
the Diocese, His parents were John Bratton and Elizabeth Dubose, both of
families long settled in South Carolina. John Bratton was a brigadier-general
under Longstreet, in the Army of Northern Virginia. Bishop Bratton was born
on Roseland Plantation, originally the property of his grandfather, Theodore
S. 1, Dubose, and he was reared there and on the neighboring Farmington planta-
tion, also belonging to the family. His early education was received from’
ladies of the family and at the Sewanee Grammar School, Sewanee, Tenncssee,
which he entered in 1874, Proceeding to the University there, he completed
the collegiate and post-graduate work by 1887, recciving the degree of B. D,
in 1889, after the usual (at that time) two years! rcading course that followed
the courses taken in rcsidence. He was ordered deacon September 1888, rcceiv-
ing both orders from the Rt. Rev. William B. W, Howe, of South Carolinn. Iis
first work was, in 1887, 2as missionary in York, Chester and Lancaster countics,
South Carolina, wnder the Rev. Edmund Joynor. The next year, 1888, hc went to
the Church of the Advent, Spartenburg, S. C., and remained there until 1899.
During his college years at Sewance, he served os tutor in the Grammar School,
and while at Spartanburg, he taught classes at Converse College, 1890-99. " In
1899, he reccived a call to head St, Mary's Junior College, Raleigh, N. C.,
which call he acccpted, and it was from St. liary's that he came to lississippi.
He has been awarded the degree of Doctor of Divinity, by the University of the
South, and of Doctor of Lews, by the University of Mississippi.
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Bishop Bratton's first council address, in 1904, not only pictures con-
ditions in the Diocecse as seen by one lately comc into it but gives some idea
of his own plans as well as his feelings in regard to the Church., He empha~-
sized the importance of increased missionary giving to strengthen the smaller
centers of Church work. He spoke of the importance of schools, espccially
Scewance, and his hopes for their establishment in the Diocese. And, while
asking for modification of a dioccsan canon forbidding the use of Church build-
ings by non-Episcopal groups, thot he might repay the courtesy of the denomino-
tions who had lent thcir buildings to him, he indiceted his unwillingness to
compromise in anywise the traditional teaching of the Church in regard to such
o fundomental matter as the remarriage of divorced persons. And it was along
the lines indicated in this first address that the work of Bishop Bratton was:
developed in the Dioccse: an emphasis on missionary and educational activity,
ond a willingness to cooperate, where possible, with those outside the Church,
whiloc maintaining a faithful adherence to the Church's canons and traditions.®

R

Significant, too, was the first ordination performed by him: is ordina=-

his
tion to the priesthood of the Reve Richard Temple lMiddleton, colorcd.?® Bishop

1. J1904, 52,
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Bratton, January 1940.
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Rratton's episcopate was marked by a more than usual interest in the wel=
fare of the colored people of Mississippi (see below pp. 22-25).

The years from 1904 to the World War were marked by a steady growth
in Church affairs., The Committee on the State of the Church reported in 1911
that, "the facts. « .present the state of the Church to be stronger and more
progressive in all good works than over before in her history. . .There seems
to be a great awakening. . o.new life springing up everywherc. . .wc are on the
ove of groat things."

In 1914, the council approved of the new provincial organization of the
Church, which placed the Diocese in the Province of Sowanco (Fourth Provincc).2

On October 7, 1918, Bishop Bratton sailed for France as a religious worker,
for the Ye M. C. A;43 working in Brest and the Lelans and Chaumont arcas, until
the ond of the war,* the council of 1920 being thc next onc attended by hime

Tn 1919, the council olccted for a sccond time, the Rev, William Mercor
Green, I1I, of Jackson, as bishop-coadgutor, on clection by a special council,
in 1918, having beon declined by him.

Born July 12, 1876, in Grecnville, Mississippi,6 hoe had been ordered
deacon November 29, 1899,7 and priest Dcccmber 9, 1900.8 After having sorved
at Graco Church, Canton,? and at_Flora and Ridgeland,lo he had worked in the
Diocosc of Tonnessee until 1905,~~ whon he returned to Mississippi to become
rector of St. Paul!s Church, Meridian. 2

In 1909, hc had become the first Dean of All Saints' College, Vicksburg,1®
coming to Jackson as rector of St. Andrew'!s, in 1912,

A grandson of the first bishop of Mississippi, and the first native of
the stote to serve as its bishop, Bishop Green was well-fitted, by his baclke
ground and experience, to continuc the forward movement of the Dioccsé. His
conseeration took place in St, Andrew'!s Church, Jackson, May 29, 1919, with
the Rt. Rev. Déniel Sylvester Tuttle, bishop of Missouri and Presiding Bishop
as conseccrator, assisted by the Rt. Rev. Jomes Steptoe Johnson, former bishop
of West Texas, and the bishops of Louisicna, Temnessee, and Arkensas, 19

In 1922, Bishop Greon prosented a valuable summary of the Church's
strength in the state, which showed among other things, that six of the State's
eighty-two countics, Werren, Adems, Iinds, Washington, Horrison, and Louderdale,
contained 54 percent of the communicant strength of the Church, and that 77.7
percent of the communicant strength of tho Church was found in bounties
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containing only 3041 porceont of the populations mnd that only btwénty-eight
counties had even -one resident slergymanslt

The scme year, a diocesan seal, the design of Charles Stietenroth, of
Natchez, was adopted.?

The Council of 1922 also approved the employment of o full-time Execcutivo
Secrctery,® which position was filled October 1, 1922, by the appointmont of
Capte Thomas He Shiolds,4 who still ocoupics ite

In 1922, at the roquost of the Board of Missions, Bishop Bratton prec-
pored a book, Wanted-Leaders, on the negro question,® and in 1935 delivered
o scrios of lcctures at the University of thoe South on Dr, William Porcher
DuBoso, published under the title DuBosc, Apostlc of Roality.6

From 1937 to 1939, Bishop Bratton was Chancellor of the Univorsity of the
South, and that ho might be froc to ronder this service to his Alme Mater,
ho turned over all diocosan administration and authority to Bishop Green,
November 2, 1938. Bishop Bratton's rosignation as bishop, being accepted by
the Housc of Bishops, Bishop Green succeceded to the title and authority of
bishop of HMississippie

During his yoars as Bishop Coadjutor, Bishop Gréon was aétive in various
spheres of the Church's work., He was for nine ycars, 1928-37, Chairman of the
Joint Commission of Genecrcl Convention on Rural Work. In 1936, he delivered
the Halc Momorial Lecture at the Seabury-Western Divinity School, with the
agsigned subjoct of "The Church and Rural Work," In addition ho was, in
1932, appointed by Governor Somnott Commer, 2 membef of the State of Missis-
31p01's Trustecs of Institutions of Higher Loarning, the controlling board for
the state collegess He served as chairman to 1936, and his twelve-year member=
ship on the Board does not expire wntil 1944,

In 1940, one hundred and fourtoen years after the formal orgonization
f the Diocese, cighty parishes and missions in Mississippi reported 8,422
communicants nd 10,035 baptized personse8 The’ Trustees of the Diocesc ro=
ported assects of @67 373.54 in the General Fund; while the various parishes
and missions reported oxpenditures for the precedlng year of $126,153.40.
Thirty~four clergymen wore actively at work in tho Dioceseell Tho ratio of
communicants to the population of the statc had shown an almost unintorrupted
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rise from the one communicant to every 2,042 inhabitants in 1840 to one
communicant for every 264 inhabitants in 1940 (see chart, Pe 28);

In May 1940, a compaign to raise $150,000 for missionary and educational
work in the Diocese was undertaken following o suggestion of Bishop Green
made to the Councilel At tho Council, also, thc Bishop reported that incomec
from the $51,200 Agncs Z. Carpentor bequost to the University of the South,
wes making "it possible adequately to carc for a larger number of men pre=-
paring for the Sacred Ministry. s .ot the University of the South, "@

Finally, although "far from ideally satisfactory" the general condition
of the Diocosc in 1940 was described as "wholesome and sound."S 1In the words
of the Bishop, "It is ours to determine that by the Grace of God we shall fail
neither our Master, nor humanity, for whom He died."4

Colored Work in the Diocesc
From the beginmnings of the Diocese of Mississippi, half the population

of the State has been colored. This fact has had its offect on Church life

in the State, and the Church has not been unmindful of its responsibility.

As early as 1842, Bishop Otey, then serving the Diocesc, baptized 118
colored persons on the Laurel Hill plantation of Dre. William Mercer, near
Netchoz® (see Entry 13). Dr. Mercer meintained a missionary whose time was
nearly all devoted to Negro worke. Dr. Thomas S. Savage had his first charge
in the Diocese on that plantation, and adjoining ones., IHe reported to the
convention in 1848, that two services were held every Sunday afternoon for
the Negroes, and that Bible Classes were held immediately after sorvices,
Sunday Schools for the Nogro children worc under the charge of Mrs. Savage
and the wives of the overscerss® This sort of activity seemed to be gencral
over the Diocese, as efforts wore made to supply the "colored population
with proper facilities for their spiritual welfare."

From Ste John's Church, Lakc Washington (sce Entry 21), Bishop Green
reported in 1854, that "more than twelve hundred colored persons" were re=
ceiving religious instructions.® In 1860, necar Okolona, the Bishop conse= °
crated Ste Cypricn's Chapel and cemetery, built for the slaves.® On Moy 24,
1861 he baptized forty-nine colored children, in the Deer Creck neighborhood
of tho Delta,.l0

At the Chapel of the Cross, Madison County (see Bntry 30) on o Sunday
aftornoon just beforc the war, the Church was crowded, by a "throng of appar=-
ently cager listeners and devout worshippers," all colored, and the Bishop
noted that "every required rosponse was promptly and correctly mado, "1

1y ITea0y i%ge 7, J1861, 22,
5. 955, o1, o JIoes, oo,
5¢ . JUOhUT Bl . 5. 524
4, Ibid.: 334 104" 0l86Y 5. 3Ts
5, ' JI1B42; 26, 11, J1860, 40,
B

JI847, 36.




The Diocese

The Rev. Frederick W, Damus, (sce Entry 41) undertook the spiritual
charge of slaves on seyeral plantations oclong the Mississippi River, south

of Vicksburg, in 1854,1 He roported this work with the colored people greatly
hindered by the "pernicious influence of several Negro preachers,"2 who "make
it their peculiar mission to engender in their minds sentiments of suspicion
and distruste"® Chapels were built for the slaves at Hurricane and Diamond
plantations and the plantation of a lrs. Frecland,% and in 1858, there were
forty colored communicants reported from these places.® The Rev. Mr, Damus
continued his "earnest and untiring"6 labor with them until the Civil Var,.7

However, after the war, a Committee on the Rolations of the Church to
the Colored Population, reported that "by the sudden change in their social
and political relations, this interesting work has been almost entirely inter~
rupteds"8 The Committee, however, urged that the Church not throw off hor
responsibility to the Negroes, leaving "them to bo led into error and fanati-
cism by the uninformed and self-appointed toachers of their owm racc."®

The bishop, clérgy, end leity did take up again the task of taking tho
Church to the Negro, but it was an especially difficult task under the cir-
cumstances. In 1868, the bishop spoke of the "poverty and suffering to which
their imposed freedom has already rocduced thom," but he rejoiced, "that many
of them are begiming to find their best advisers and protectors in their
former masters; and are also gradually roturning to the altars of the Church,"10
In 1871, Bishop Green proached in Satartia and spoke of the chopel that was
"once crowded Wwithe o ewell-instructed servants, now scattered over the land,
left to their own guidance, and worse then all, fast coming under the influ-
ence of a religious teaching as blasphemous as it 1is unseriptural.” At this
time hilbaptized three colored childreon, "a remmant of a former faithful house=-
hold,"

The Neve Goorge C. Harris, roctor of the Chapel of the Cross, lindison
County, roporteds "It is now much morc difficult for white men. . «to teach
those people than before the war,"12

Bishop Green baptized “"one colored infant" at Osylka in November 1882,
"The child wos accomponied and presented by its grandmother only, Neither
father nor mothor came to take part in the blessed cercmony. . »the agod grand-
parent was only following out the wholosome instruction of a kind mistress in
doys when a misguided zeal and a mistalken philanthropy had not as yot torn the
slave from the spiritual guidence of his master, and left him tho vietim of
ignorancc, self-will and a heathenish superstition,"13
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In 1883, the bishop sent a circular to all other Southern and Southwestern
Diocoses calling a council, "for a full and frec conforonce on the rolations

of our Church to the, our late, slave population."l The Council met at
Sevrenceoo, July 26, of that yocar and resolutions were passed and sent to the
Genersl Convention.?2 Those resolutions recommended an easing of the ed=
ucational requirements for Negro clergymen and the organization of colored
commmicants, if the Bishop desired, into "a special Missionary Organization
under the charge of the Bishop." These resolutions would have required

changes in the cenons of the Churck, and the changes were not approved by
General Convention,.3

In spite of the failure to obtain what werc considered needed refornms,
the work with the colored population continued. The Rev., Edmund Charles
Laughlin, Jr., of Warren County, devoted his entire ministry to the Negroes,4
continuing the work begun by the Rev. Frederick W. Damus, above mentionod.®
The Reve Mr. Laughlin held services in & farm house on the Diamond Place
plantation, and by 1871 had organized o congregation knowm as tho Church of
the Holy Cormunion® (sce Entry 40). It was composed of elovon fomilies with
five communicantse. In spite of the small mombership, Mr. Laughlin felt
"very hopeful" concerning the work,8 and he continued his services here until
his death in 1889,°

St. Mark'!s Church at Jackson (Entry 88) was the outgrowth of a mission for
Negroes, hegun in 1883,10 under the direction of Dr, Joseph Tucker, rector of
Ste. Androw'!s, Jackson, aided by the efforts of the Rt. Rev. Hugh Hiller
Thompson.ll The Reve. Richard T. Middleton was the first colored priest of St.
Mark's, taking charge of the work in 1904, In that year Bishop Bratton
confirmed six persons here,l13

St:_liary's Church (Entry 90) was organized at Vicksburg, Warren County,
in 1885,1 largely as a result of Bishop Thompson's efforts,15 Twenty=three
cormunicants were reported in 1890.1 In that year, a school, known as Ste
Mary's Collegiate Institute, was begun with an enrollment of sixty-five
pupils.17 This school has deoveloped into the present Vicksburg Industrial
School (Entry 1-h).

The Rev. Richard T. liddleton organized Trinity Chapel, Natchez, in
188918 (Entry 94). Fifty-two communicants were reported in 1895,

The Okolona Industrial School, in Chickasaw County, a vocctional College
for Negroes, was founded in 1904 and taken over by the Church in 1920

1, J1884729% 114, Thidss
24 IHaAR 124  JI908, 77
%, JGCIBB3, 136, 595-600. 134  IBEde"
4, J1868, 3; J1890, b3. 145 91885, 40,
5+ 1OTAY 7
6. J1871y 448 16, J1890, 69.
Te.  JLBTUL GO 17 J189%; 37.
8. JI868, 69, 18. J1889, 38.
9. JIB90, 53. 19, J1895, 76.
10, + J1BBB, 234 20, 21
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(Entry 1-j)e The school reported 154 students in 1924,1

Trinity Church, Mound Bayou, Bolivar County® (Eatry 117), end the Re=
deemer ot Greenville, lashington County? (Entry 118), were Negro Churches
orgonized in 1913. St. Luke's Church, Gulfport, was admitted to the Dioccse

in 1914 (Entry 101),

As a result of the efforts of Bishop Green and the Rev. Sampson W,
Fostor, St. Thomas! Church, Columbus, Lovmdes Ccunty, was orgonized as o

nission in 1935 (Entry 128),

At present, four colored priests minister to the scveral Negro Churches.
The two Negro schools in the Dioccse havo been greatly aided by the American
Church Institute for Negroes, an organization of the National Church organized
in 1908, "to promote tho cause of cducation of Negroes in the Southern States."
There were reportod three hundred and nincty-nine Negro communicants to the
council of 1940.

Therc is a colored convocation of the Negro workers in the Diocesec,

Minutes of the Colorced Convocation, 1934=-, 1 vol., kept by the Reve Sampson

W. Foster, Dean, Grecnville,

J1924, 6le
JI913, 55,
395
Church Annual, 1939, 93.
insert after index.
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MAPS SHOWING GROWTH OF CHURCH LIFE IN MISSISSIPPI

(Crosses show location of Churches and Institutions)
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A TABLE OF DIOCESAN. STATISTICS 1840-1940
Clergy Ratio commun~

Year at Confirm- Commun- Population icants to pop-
Work ations icants of State ulation
1840 8 27 c. 184 375,651 1-2042
1850 11 60 L4 606,526 1-1375
1860 34 211 1356 791,305 1584
1870 24 213 1267 827,922 1-653
1880 26 177 1694 1,131,597 1-667
1890 30 318 3029 1,289,600 1-422
1900 29 254 3792 1,551,270 1-409
1910 33 368 6552 1,797,114 1-213
1920 36 279 5989 1,790,618 1-299
1930 35 375 7612 2,009,821 1-264
1940 34 381 8422 2,229,046 1-264

Church statistics are based on the diocesan Journals. At present, the figures in any

Journal are for the preceding yecr, but this has not alwsys been the case. The figures

used, thcrcforc, are from the Journals of the years indicated. General population figures

are based on the U. §. Census, exccpt those for 1940, which are from the State Planning
Commission, Jackson.
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INVENTORY OF THD ARCHIVES OF THE DIOCESE OF MISSISSIPPI
1, THG DIOCESE OF LiISSISSIPPI, 1826-=-, Diocesan Office, Battle Hill, Jackson.

The Diocesc of lMississippi came into formal existence on liay 17, 1826,
hen the first annuel convention of the Diocese opened at Trinity Church,
Notchoz el Although without o bishop of its owm, the_organization of the Dio-
ccse was epproved by the General Convention of 1826,

W

Without a resident bishop until 1850, the Diocese was under the episco=-
pal supervision of the Rt. Reve Thomas Church Brownell, of Comnoéticut, fron
1830 to 184-0,3 with tho Rts Rov. James Hervey Otey, of Tennessec, actually sor-
ving as Provisional Bishop after 1836, and until 1848,

The Reve William Mercer Green was clected the Pirgt bishop of Missise
sippi,' on May 19, 1849,% Othor bishops wore: Hugh Miller Thonpson (1887=-1902)
end Thoodore Dubosc Bratton (1903-1938)e The present bishop (since 1938) is
the Rt. Reve William Mercer Grecn, grondson of the first bishope.

The Diocese is a part of the Province of Séwanece (Fourth Provincé), which
includes, in addition, the dio¢eses of Kentucky, Lexington, Temessée, Westorn
North Carolina, North Carolina, Bast Carolinc, Uppér South Carclina, South
Carolina, Atlanta, Georgia, Florida, South Florida, and Alabama. (&ee page 28)e
The president of the province is the Rt Rov. Frank Juhon, D. D., Bishop of
Florida; the secretary is the Rev. Albert R. Stuart, 32 Murray Blvd., Charleston,
Se Ce; trecsurer is Mr. Frank P. Doaring, Box 75, Jacksonville, Flda.; and the
historiographer is the Reve Gardiner C. Tucker, D. D., liobile, Alco,

The Diocose is & constituent unit of the Protestant Episcopal Church in
the United States of America, of which tho lost Reverend Henry St. George
Tucker, Bishop of Virginia, is Presiding Bishop. Custodian of the Architvos
of the General Convention is the Reve E. Clowes Chorley, D. D., Garrison, i, Y.,
who is also the historiographer,

The Diocese of IMississippi has no Cathedral Church,

Although operating, in genernl, under the Constitution and Canons of the
national Church, the Diocesc has its ovm constitution and canons, as las
odopted in 1897 and amonded to dates A first constitution was ndopted at the
convention of 1826,° and later largcly revised afd the revision approved in
1840.7 Thore was another rovision begun in 1850,8 and completed by 1853, In
1886, a now constitution and canons were adoptod.lo

According to the Constitution of the Dioccsc, o’ council of the Diocosc is
held annually (Article II), usually, in recent yoars, at Ste Androw'!s Church,
Jackson,

1e i JiBgEaE 5. J1849, 22,

2. JGCIB26, 75 ' 6. J1826, 4=5,

d. William Steovens Perry, Tho Te dJ1B%Z0, 6s
History of the Amcricon Episéo- 8. J1850, 7.
pal Church, Boston, 1885, II, 211 9., J1853, 35=39.

886, 29.

4. JIg4s, 15,

e




Archives of the Diocese

The officers of the Diocesc in addition to the bishop are a scoretary, a
treasurer, o registrar, "and such other Diocesan officers as may be rcquired,”
(Article IV), It is provided also that "the Bishop shall nominate o lay
communicant of the Dioceso learned in the lew" as Chancellor. (Cahnon 8,
section 3)e The present secretary is the Reve Val Sossions, D. D., Bolton;
registrar, Capt. Thomas H, Shiolds, Jackson;’ treasurer, Mr., Eugeno H. Simpson,
Jacksone The chancellor is lr. A, M, Pepper, Loxington.

A Standing Committee of the Diocose consisting of four Presbyters and
four lay communicants of the Diocesc is clected by the Council "to advise the
bishop ore « sto perform other duties." (Artidle IV, section 11 and Canon 2)4

However, many of the details of diocesan work are administered through an
Executive Committee (Canon IIT), with the Bishop as President, and twenty-one
other members, as follows: "five (5) clergymen and five (5) laymen to be
elocted anmually by the Diocesan Council, five (5) persons to be nominated by
the bishop, one (1) woman to be elected by the Council of Churchwomen, one (1)
person botween the ages of fifteen and twenty-five, to be elected by the
Diocesan Young Pcople's Service League, onc él) person to be elected by each
of the convocations of the Diocesc, and one (1) person to be elected by the
Rural Parsont!s Conference.," The gencral function of the Executive Council is
the unification, development, promotion, and evaluation of the missionary,
cducational, and social work of the Church in the Dioccse.

Funds for the support of the opiscopate are administered by three trustees,
appointed by the Stending Cormittee (Canon 12). Since 1880 these trusteos of
the Diocese of liississippi have been an incorporated body.l Preésent trustecs
are, the Bishop; Garner W, Greon, Jackson; and Lester W, Dawley, dJackson. The
Diocese is divided into four coéonvocations: HNorthern, Southern, Rural, and
Colored, oach headed by & dean, appointed by the bishop (Canon 14).

The auxiliary organizations of the Diocese at this time are: The Womants
Auxiliary, Council of Church Women, Daughters of the King, Brotherhood of St
Androv, the Young People's Service League, and the Church Peridiocal Clube
Reports of those organizations are carried in the Church News, and tho Council
of Church Vomen publishes an annual booklet of its work,

The records of the Diocese of liississippi are maintained under the
direction of the registrar, the treasurer, and the sccrotary.

The dutiecs of each as prescribed by Canon law are, in part, as follows:
CANON 4
Of the Secretary of the Diocese
Scction 1. At cach Amnual Council a secretary shall be
elected., His duty shall be to toke minutes of the Pro-
ceedings, and deliver to his suécessor all books and

papors belonging to the Council, which may be in his
custodye

1. L. 1., 1880, 625; amcnded 1918, Secrctary of State, Statc of Mississippi,
Jackson, Incorporations, 21, 16.
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Section 2., It is hereby made the duty of the sccrotary to transmit
annually to cach of the Bishops of the Church in the United Stotes
and to tho Sccretary of the House of Deputies of the Goneral Conven=
tion, and to cach of the Secrctarics of the Diocesan Convention, o
copy of thc Journal of the Council, and he shall requost the last

nemed officers to send copies of their respoctive journals in exchonges

He shall also transmit to each Genoral Convontion a certificato of the
appointment of clerical and lay deputies.,
L] ° [ ]

Scetion 5. It shall be the duty of the Secrotary, as soon after the
close of cach Council as possible, to couse to be printed cight
hundred copies of a Journal of its proccedings, said Journal to con=
tain also a list of Diocesan Officors and permanent Committees, the
official list of the Clergy, the list of delegates to the Council,
the Bishop's address, the parochicl reports, the proceedings of the
Amual issionary liceting, o summaery of statistices and such other
matter as is usually included in a diocosan journal,

CANON 5,
0f the Treasurer of the Diocccse

Section 1. At each Amnunl Council & Treasurer shall be elected,

It shall be his dubty to reccive ond care for all moneys of the
Dioccse, not otherwise provicded for, and to disburse them upon
roquisition made, and to submit, at each Annual Session, an account
of all receipts and oxpenditures.

Section 2. The Treasurer sholl keep a properly bound book, in
which shall be cntered accounts and statements, in detail, of all
noney, rcceived and disbursed by him. He shall pay all bills al-
lowed by the Standing Cormittee and Executive Committee in the in-
terim, as certified by their seccretaries,

Scetion 3. It shall be the duty of the Treasurer to collect and
recoive all assessments levied upon Parishes and liission Stations
by the Council, and pay out the same, as ordered by the Council.

° L] e
Section 5. He shall make o rcport to the Council each ycar of his
recceipts and disbursements during the year, and a statement of his
nccounts writh the Parishes and liission Stations, showing payments
and delinquencies in the assessmonts made for the support of the
Lpiscopate and for other purposcs.

CANON 8,
0f the Registrar

Scction 1. At each Amual Council therc shall be elected o Reg=
istrar of the Diocese, who shall keep tho archives and official
records of the samoc. The journals, files, papers, roports and
othor docunents, which under the Canons, or othorwise, shall become
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the property of the Council, including what may come into the hands
of the Secretary, shall be committed to the keeping of the Registrar,

Section 2, It shall be the duby of the Registrar to procure, if
possible, all such journals, files, papers, reports, copies of
charters and acts of incorporation of parishes, and other documents,
as may be of velue in the history of the Diocese; to arrange, label,
file, index, and otherwise put in order and provide for the safe=
keeping of the same, and to hold the same under such regulations as
the Council may provide; to preserve, in a proper boolk, a record of
the ordination and the consccration of the successive Bishops of the
Diocese, designating the time and place of the same, with the names
of the ordaining and consecrating Bishops, and of the persons present
and assisting; to record a list of all the Presbyters and Deacons and
the date of their comnection with the Diocese, and the dates of the
charters of parishes in the same, with such additional facts as may
be worthy of preservation in the archives of the diocese,

Thée depository for diocesan records (see Entry l-a) is at Battle Hill,
Jockson, where offices are maintained by the Bishop and Registrar. At Battle
Hill also is a diocesan library of some 7,500 volumes. These volumes are for
the most part from the private libraries of the bishops of the Diocese, are
numbered but uncatalogued, and are of all types, although chiefly theological,

l-a, THE BISHOP'S HOME AND DIOCESAN LIBRARY, Battle Hill, West Capitol, St.,
Jaclisone

In 1852, the Diocese of llississippi purchased from F. S. Hunt, 140 acres, "about
a mile from Jackson, on which was a handsome house and the necessary out-
buildings," at a cost of 3}55,000.l This included all the land north of Capitol
Street, from Monument Street to the western edge of the present Deaf and Dumb
Institute, extending north, in part, beyond the Alabama & Vicksburg Railroad
tracks, The chief reason for the purchase wes to furnish a home for the newly=
consecrated, first bishop of Mississippi, the Rt, Rev, William llercer Green,
The hone and all furnishings, including Bishop Green'!s large and valuable
library, were burned by Union troops, after the Civil War battle of Jackson,?
Since that time the property has been called Battle Hill. An appeal was issued
in 1867,° for rebuilding; however, a new residence was not conmpleted ungil
1887,% This second building was destroyed by fire on January 17, 1919, By
April of 1920, a new home was completed, which included also an adjoining one-
stofy library building of brick and stucco construction, the total cost being
$21,768,44,8 This home was first occupied by the Rt. Rev. Theodore DuBose
Bratton, second bishop of Mississippi, and at present by the Rt. Rev, William
Mercer Green, The adjoining library building contains a study for the bishop
and an office for the Registrar. Iiuch of the original Battle Hill property

has been sold, leaving about eight acres in possession of the Church,

J1852; T2x 4, J1887; 244
JIBBY, 18k 5., J1919, 56.
JI867, 14, B¢, IOZT, Ol
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Doeds: Chancery Clerl, Hinds County, Jackson, Land Deeds Record, Book 21,
pe 3193 Book 24, p. 36; Book 14, p. 482.

Diocesan archives found in the Diocesan Library at Battle Hill, unless
otherwise noted, are: - I

Journals of the Proceedings of the Amnual Councils, 1826--, [1830-1836,
1845 and 1864 missing] 32 vols. Publisher and number of pages vary. Include
minutes of the Council, address and Journal of the bishop, reports of the
trusteos, treasurer and registrar, and parochial statistics (see page 30).

"iinute Boolk," 1850-1885, 1 vol. Rocord of acts of the Rt. Reve Willian
Y. Groen I, including baptisme,confirmations, marriages, ordinations, consecra=-
tions of Churches, bishops consccrated, ministers deposed or otherwise dis-
ciplined, candidates for the ministry. "liiscellanecous Papers," 1850-1904, 4
file boxes. Assorted letters, notes for sermons, receipted bills, notices of
letters dinissory received or asked for, notices of election of bishops by other
Dioceses, progrems of Church services, clippings, anc goneral miscellaneous
meterial, the greater part from the episcopates of the Rt. Rev. William llercer
Green I, and Rte. Rev. Hugher liiller Thompson. Correspondence of the Rt. Rove
Theodore DuBose Bratton, 1903-1938, 8 file boxes., Illiscellaneous corrcspondonce
of an official nature regarding the work of the Diocese. Arranged chrono=-
logically. Correspondence Relating to Diocesan Institutions and Departments,
1919--, 1 filing cabinets, Correspondence of Bishop Green concerning the
Vicksburg and Okolona Industrial Schools and All Saints' College. Correspond=
ence of the Rt. Rev, William liercer Green II, as Bishop=-coadjutor, and Bishop,
1919-~, 27 file boxes. Letters relating to the gencral administration of the
Diocese, correspondence with laymen and clerpymen, within and without the
Dioceses Arranged chronologically, Ordination Applications, 1922--, 2 file
boxes. Letters of application to the Bishop asking ordination to the ministry,
including also letters of reference, Correspondence of the Rt. Rev, William -
liercer Groen II, as Chairman of the Joint Commission of Rural Work, 1928-1937,

6 manila folders. Letters and literaturec relating to the work of the Joint
Cormission of General Convention on Rural Work,

The Church Herald, 1852-1853 (Vole. I). The first volume of the diocesan
paper, published at Vicksburg, 1852-1855, Editors: the Rev. Stephen Patterson,
and liessers George S. Yerger and William C. Smedes. "Journal of the Diocesan
Missionary Committee," 1883-1892, 1 vol. liinutes of the meetings of the
lissionary Cormittee. The Church News, 1885--, 13 bundles. Copies, with some
duplicates, of the diocesan monthly paper. Arranged in bundles chronologicallfe
“Services," 1892-1902. Record of services in St. Columb's Chapel, Battle Hill,
Jackson., Deeds and Incorporations, 1900--. Originals and copies of deeds to
Church property in the Diocese, and copics of the charter of incorporation of
parishes and diocesan institutions. Kept in an iron safe in ‘the Registror's
office, List of Church liembers in Diocese, n. d., 1 vol., Baptized and con= °
firmed members of the Church in liississippi, arranged alphabetically by towms,
seeningly compiled since 1900, Not brought up to date. "Diocesan Register,"

n. do, 1 vol., containing a clergy list of the Diocesc for the yoars 1826-1852
and a fow historical notes by the Reve Nowell Logan. Financial Records of
Educational Endovment Fund and All Saints! College, 1923~-, 8 vols. Detailed
record of recciputs and disbursements of scholarship and general endowment ;
funds of the Vicksburg and Okolona Industrial Schools and of All Saints?' Collegc.
Viscellancous File, 1923--, 3 drawers, Liinutes of the Executive Committee,
proceedings of the trustoes of All Saints! Collecge, corrospondence and papers
regarding insurance and investments of school and diocesan funds, All Saints!
College File, 1930--, 1 file bex., Loctters concerning the operation of All Saints?
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College. Amnual Parochial Reports, 1933~~, 8 bundles. These repérts are bun-
dled by years and are arranged alphabetically by towns; show year, by whom sub-
mitted, name of Church, location, name of rector, wardens, vestry clerk, and
treasurer; list baptisms, confirmations, communicants, services, statistics of
Church school, parochial organizations, indebtedness, endowment, and invested
fundse

"Journal of the Standing Cormittee," 1826~1898, 1 vol., lMinutes of meetings
and members present at meetings of the Standing Committee, MNMiscellaneous Papers
of Standing Committee, 1922--, 1 file drawer., Includes correspondence of the ‘
Standing Committee and reports on mortgages, sale of proporty, and general aétive
ities of the Committecs "Minutes of the Standing Committec,” 1898--, 1 vol.,
kept by the secretary, the Reve Val Scssions, in his study, Bolton,

Diocecsen Financial Records, 1937-~, 2 loosc-leaf ledgers and 1 file drawer,
showing currcent income and exponditurcs of dioccsan funds (other thah endovmont
funds) kept by Treasurcr, Bugenc He. Simpson, 610 South Farish Strecct, Jacksons

Corrcspondence of the Trustoes of the Dioccse, 1914~-, 4 filo boxes.

Lotters rogarding meetings and activitics of the dioccsan trustecs. liinutes of
Trustces of the Diocese, 18917=--, 1 filc drawer, Procoedings of the Trustees of
the Diocese of Mississippie i

"IJinutes of the Convocation of Pass Christian," 1906-1920, 1 vol, Iliembers,
place of moeting, program of meccting, and gonoral activities of the Convocation

Records of inactive Churchos or non~current records of active Churches;
"Parish Rogister", Ste. John's Church, Early Grove, 1851-1909; "Vecstry Minutes",
St. Pault!s Church, Grand Gulf, 1843-1861; "Vostry lMinutes", St. MMark!s Church,
Kississippi City, 1857-1860; "Porish Register", Grace Church, Okolona, 1858-1887;
"Vestry Minutes", St. Luke's Church Shieldsborough [Bay St. Louis], 1857-1860.

"History of the Younz Pcople's Sorvice League," 1922--, 1 vol, Kept by
liiss Rebecca Miller at All Saints' College, Vicksburg,

1-b *ST, THOMAS®* HALL, 1841-1898, Holly Springs, larshall Countye.

'Orgonized 1841, as a parochial school connccted with Christ Church,! In
1844, the Reve Francis L. Hawks, rcctor of Christ Church, introduced a motion in
the Diocosan Conwvention, "that there shall be cstablished at Ilolly Springs an
institution of lecarning, for males, of the highest order, affording all thc ben-
efits of collegictc educations"™ The resolution carried, and tho name of the
school became Ste Thomas' Hall, in reference to the previous comnection of the
Rev. Dr. Howks with St. Thomas' Church, New York Citys® The school wos incorpo-
roted Fob, 20, 1846,% In 1846, the Rt. Rov. James Horvey Otey "was much grat=
ificd at the reasonsblc prospccts" of the school under the direction of thé Rev.
David C. Pages® The school furnished o theological and acadomic edigation,b be=
ing taken over by the Diocese in 1848,7 The sixty students of 1849,8 increased
to ninoty by 1855,9 Tho school was closed, lacking a rector, for a ycar or twol0
between 1856 and 1858, and Bishop Groen oxpressed "disappointment and mortifica-
tion" on finding the buildings & "scene of ruin and desolation."!l The school
wos revived under the Rev. Joseph Holt Ingraham, in 1858, and the building re=
paircde 12 In 1861, St. Thomas' Hzall beeome o military school under Claudius
Wistar Soars, liost Point graduatc and former acting head of the University of
Louisianneld The Civil Viar closed the school, and the buildings werc used as a

iz, B BTy 11, J18b8, 42
9 ¢ J1848, 124 JE859, ‘Bay
42, 8, J1849, 134 - JAG0L, 284
1846, 330, 9. ' SR

19,
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hospital by both armies, at different times.l The schogl was revived under
the Rev, William M. Pettis, in 1867, with forty pupils,2 althouzgh the buildings
were roported still "in comparative ruin," from their use and neglect during
the warws The school seems to have closed again, for it was reported in 1893
thet the school was to reopen and occupy the buildings of the former Bothiehen

Acadeony, on Salem Avenue, bought from the Roman Catholic Church for $9,OOO.4

The orizinal St. Thomas® Hall had beea _at the same site, Still a military school,

there werc fifty-three cadets in 1894,5'under the Rev, Peter G. Sears, son of
the earlier hecad, C, We Sears. In 1898, the school was destroyed by fireb anc
has not since been operated. .
Incorporation: L. M., 1846, 330; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, liarshall County,
Holly Springs, Deed Records, Book 29, p. 243; Book 47, p. 303; Book 58, p. 221,

1-c *PASBS CHRISTIAN INSTITUTE, (Trinity School), 6s 1850=1893, Poss Christian,
Harrison Countys

Trinity School, for girls, was founded in commection with Trinity Church,
at Pass Christian, around 1850, by the Rev., Thomas S, Savagé, . D.,‘ under
whose supervision the school flourished for about ten years,é during which
time he was assisted by a "lr, Green,"9 ond at one time by the Rev, George W,
S111 A8 1860, D¥e¢ Savage turned the school over to lir. Revel Keith, who
had been associated with Lieutenant M&tthew Fontaine lMoury in the National
Observatory at Washington.ll In 1862, the institution was forced to close its
doors on account of the War Between the States.12 Bishop Green, writing in
1862, said, "Trinity School, Pass Christian, which has, heretofore, done so
much for the cause of education and the Church, has been forced, by the pre=
sence of the enemy, to close its doors."13 The school was reopened in 1866,°
when the Rev. Dr. Savage, the founder, again became rector at Pass Christian,
operating, at this time, a boys' school in conjunction.l4 Dr., Savage had,
as associate principal, the Rev. John E. C. Smedesel® Also connected with the
school, was the Rev., William E, Phillipsel6 For several years the Journal
refers to the continued life of the school., It is spoken 6f as "in a growing
condition,"17 and as "a large boarding school,"l8 In 1886, the school was
reorgaenized as the Pass Christian Institute, under the Rev. H. C. Hayer,lg’
Dr. Savage having loft the Diocese by 1868.20 The institute, at that time, was
ammounced as an official Diocesan school, by appointment of Bishop Thonpson.21

1. J1867, 43, and tauzht in Jefferson County
2. J1868, 43, in 1854, and in St. indréw's
8. [ J1B6B 28, College in 1855, (J1867, 21;
4, J189b, 42-43, J1854; 30y J1856, 3)s
5. Ibide 10, J1857, 45,
6¢  JLBO9 ;427 ll, J1B6L, 24, 25,
7. J1850, 7. For detailed account of 12, J1862, 43, 44,

life of Dr. Savaze, see Remington 13, 1Ibide

Kellog, "Thomas S. Savage," Dic- 14, J1B6T, 68e 34

tionary of American Biography, New 156 S HLBET, 5%

York, 1926~1937, XV1, 391-3924" : 16, Ibide’
8. J1858; 393 J1856,133 J1861, 24, 25, 17+ JIBT0G LTs
9. Probably the Rev., James S. Greenme, 18, Jlsra. 15y

from Ircland, who ceme to this 19. J1886, 23,

country as a "classical Teacher" 20. J1868, 3.

21ls  ULBBYS 296




1-o
Archives of the Diocese 1ed

1l~-e

In 1890, a new building was erected, by the assistance of lir. George T, Lowis,
of Philadelphia, father-in-law of the Rev. lir. Mayer.,l At this time, Bishop
Thompson said of the school, "It has been worked to a hizh prosperity and housed
in, perhaps, the most clegant and perfect building in the State.,"? In 1893,

the school was roported "in a most flourishing condition, . .large nuiber of
pupilse o emany new and inproved features. . .buildings have been fitted up and
the rround beautified."® - : .

" Dceds: "Chancery Clerk, Harrison County, Gulfport, Deeds, Book 9, ppe 353=
361, 547-549, Book 10, ppe 42, 283, 410, Book 12, p. 300, Book 17, De 3443
Incorporation: L. M., 1866, 112; Secretary of State, State of Iississippi,
Jackson, Incorporations, 399F’ Saips O

1-d *COLLEGE OF ST. ANDREW, 1852-1856, W. Capitol Street, Jackson, Hinds
Countye.

Orgenized 1852, as a diocesan institution, the first session beginning
Januvary le The school was located on 132 acres of land,® on the north side
of Capitol Street, where the Deaf and Dumb Institute now stands. The school
was opened chiefly with the help of $4,000 subscribed in the city of Jackson®
and“the "great liberality" of George S. Yergor, of Vicksburg.”? In addition,
$10,000 was sought from the Diocesc at larze.8 The Rev. Meyer Lewin was
appointed rectore "Forty-five students werc enrolled at the opening, twelve of
whom were boarders,? and it was reported that several applicants "had to be
rejected owing to the wont of room."10 Board and tuition were $25O.OO.;1 The
College was incorporated by the legislature in 1852, 1n 1855, it was re-
ported that the school would be forced to close unless $20,000 were raised,l®
This distress was due to three years of unusually severe yellow-fever outbrealks
in Jackson and the State at large, which caused a drop in enrollmentel4 1In
1856, the collezé wos closedel® Some of the land and buildings were sold in
1857, for $8,000,6 byt of the greater part of the land, now occupied by the
Deaf and Dumb Institute, there is no record of conveyance from the Church,17

Deeds: Original deeds to the Battle Hill property (Entry 1-a) cover the
St. Andrewt!s College land, Incorporation: L, I,, 1852, 26,

l-e THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH, 1857--, Sewanee, Franlilin County, Tennessee.

Organized July 4, 1857, at a meeting on Lookout lountain, Chattanooga,
Temessee, by clerical and lay delegates from Tennessce, Louisiana, Alabans,
liississippi, South Carolina, North Carolina, and Texas.l8 As carly as 1837,
the convention of the Diocese of liississippi had resolved that "the intorests
of Education and the Church arc most intimately connected. . .ond thet thercfore

I, J1890, 21. 11, J1852, 64,

2, JIBY0, 354 B 25 g 1852, 260

3. J1893, 31, 18, | WJ18bb. 674

4, JIB52; 33-34, 149 JIBBEY 334

5. JIBT8, 42, 15 JIBBO, B34

6. JIB52, 33-34, 16. JI857, 44.

7. JIB53, 51~52. 17, J1881, 40-41,

8¢ JIBHZ; 524 18. George R. Fairbanks, History of
9. J1852, 63 the Univorsity of the South,
0. JI852, 65, Jacksonville, 1905, 22.
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we regard the establishment of a comprehensive literary institution in the
Southwest as among the most desirable of objects."1 This ideal, furthered
especially by Bishops Polk, of Louisiana, and Otey, of Temmessee, came to
fruition with the issuance of a statement, Qctober 23, 1856, by the Southern
bishops regarding the contemplated southern university "under the auspices of
the Protestant Episcopal Charch.,"? Bishop Greon presented the plan to his
Diocesan convention of 1857,3 which endorsed it and elected trustecs for Missis-
sippi, who would attend the organization meeting at Chattanooga.4 Trustees
clected were the Reve We W. Lord, of Christ Church, Vicksburg; Goorge S. Yorger,
of Vicksburg; and Eugene J, Hinton, of Madison County.5 Following the Chatta-
nooge meeting, other gatherings were held to complete plans for establishing

the school, and by the time for laying of the cornerstone, Ostober 10, 1860, the
site at Sewanec, on the Cumberland plateau had been selected, a domain of 10,000
acres had beon obtainod,6 the legislature of Tennessee had granted the school a
charter” and $600,000 had been raised.8 The name, the University of the South,
was suggested by Bishop Green,® The Civil War halted plans for opening the
Univérsity, wiped out the funds raised, and left the University with only its
nome, its land and its charter.10 A second founding of the University was
achieved, in 1866, by the Southern bishops, led by the Rt. Rov. Charles Todd
Quintard, of Tennesscc,ll 'B%shop Green removed to Sewanoc as Chancellor of the
University in January 1867,1 and maintained his rosidence there although still
active as Bishop of Mississippi, until his death in 1887, The University
today consists of threc schools: Sewance Ililitary Academy, the College of
Liberal Arts, and St. Luke's Theological School. There is also a Graduate
School of Theology conducted in the summer., There are fourteen permanent stono
gothic buildings belonging to the University proper, and several other univer-
sity buildings, as well as other stonc structures occupied by fraternitios and
residents of the University community. The present Chancellor is the Rt. Rev,
Henry liikell, bishop of Atlanta, and the Vice-Chancellor is Dr. Aloxander Guerrye
Present University Trustees for thée Dioccse of Mississippi are Bishops Bratton
and Green, the Reve Joseph Kuehnle, Notchez, and liessers Ben F, Cameron,
Meridien, and J. T. Welsh, Laurel.

Sec: George R. Fairbanks, History of the University of the South, the

He and ¥, B. Drew Co., Jacksonville, 1905, 403 ppe ;
The Rev, Moultrie Guerry, lien Vho Made Sewanee, University Press,

Scwanee, 1932, 102 ppe B ot

For the rccords of the University of the South see the forthcoming:
Inventory of the Church Archives of Tonnossec, Protostant Episcopal Church,

1-f %ROSE-GATES COLLEGE, 1859-1862, Okolonz, Chickasaw County.

Organized and in operation in 1859, as a diocosan institution. The Rove

I, "J1837, 10 ! 8. J1860, 52.

2. Falrbanks, ops cit., 11-Ble 9, Teirbanks;, op. cit., 3l
3s 18BN EBREEERE ST 10, Fairbanks, op. Cit., 59.
4, B30 B 196 AbldLy omely Y

5. Thid, 12, . I0%ds; 82

6. Talrbenksy ops cits, 59 18, Ibid.; 266,

7. TIbid., the datc was January 14, JI859, 34.

6, 1868,
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Jonathan B. T. Smith had conducted a "flourishing female school" in Qkolona in
1852,1 which was being continued by the Reve Thomas Lawson, in 1855.2 Closed
temporarily in 1858, the school was purchased in 1859, by Col. Charles Gates
end reopened under control of a Board, made up of "members of the Church", with
the Bishop as Préesidente® The school was under the charge of the Rev, Dr.
William B. Lacey,4 and, in 1861, had fifty-six pupils.5 However, the Civil War
forced closing of the school, the buildings, located in the western part of the
town, on what is now state highway 23, being used as a hospital.6 It has not
since been opened. - ! ;

Incorporation: "Secretary of State, State of Mississippi, Jackson, In-
corporations, Book 1, 124-125; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Chickasaw County, Okolona,
Deed Records, Book RR, p. 468,

l-g *THE BISHOP GREEN TRAINING SCHOOL, 1872~1878, Dry Grove, Hinds County.

Organized in 18727 by the Rev. Wm. K. Douglas, rector of the Church of
the Holy Comforter, Dry Grove (entry 64), a parsonage and two cottages were
first used by the school, which was begun to prepare men for Holy Orders. Thore
were originally four candidates in residence, who were being instructed in "elo-
mentary literary studies, and in the Exegesis of the Hebrew and Greek Scrip=-
tures".8 Designed to aid students who might, for one recason or another, be
unable to attend the morc formal and cxpensive theological colloges, the school
wes, at first, supported mainly by thc Ladies Society of the Church of the Holy
Comfortor., To raise funds, these ladics manufactured coarse cloth and othor
articles to sell to nearby plantations.9 Goorge H, Jackson, colored, was a
student herclO and was ordained deacon on May 13, 1874,ll the first colored man
to bé ordained in Mississippi, to the ministry of the Episcopal Church. In
1875, Dr. Douglas, as Warden of the School, reported that, "In this large house-
hold of over twenty people, thore has becn no hired service outside the kitchen
and laundry. Not only that, considcrable carpenter work, the foncing and cul=-
tivation of a large garden have been done within oupselves™,12 By 1876, the
school had grown to the extent that it necessitated the use of four rented
buildings,13 and by 1878, it had its own library, consisting of 1,000 volumos .14
Nine Churches had been organized near the school, where twolve ycars before
thero werc none.l® In that year, the school was almost wiped out by the yellow
fever,16 suffering so much in the loss of its members that it was discontinued.l?

Decds: Chancery Clerk, Hinds County, Raymond, Land Decods Record, Book
96, pe. 595,

1-h VICKSBURG INDUSTRIAL SCHOOL (formerly St. lMary's Collegiate Institute),
1890~=-, Vicksburg, Viarren County.

Organized as a parochial school in 1885, through the efforts of Bishop

I. Jia0%, 5bh 9. Ibid.

2.. J16B5; Hoe 104 TIBY5, 25.
3. JIB6O, 32-334 11, JL8UE. 15,
4, Tbid, 12," TLBT5; 35s
5., JIBOL, Ei4 13, JIBVG, 33
6. JIBBD; dus 14, JIB78, 34.
To., JAO 0w e 15, T1bid.

8. Tbid. 16, JIB79, 28.

2
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Thompson,l and with the Rev. Nelson Ayres, in charge.2 In 1887, "A friond in™"

In 1890, the school became St. Maryt!s Collegiate Institute with sixty-five
pupilse® It "succecded beyond expectation," and by 1892 had an cnrollment of
150 studentse® Attendance in 1907 was "over o hundred,"6 1Tn 1910, the school
wos incorporated os the Vicksburg Industrial School for Negro youths.7 Since
September 1933, it has beon under the dircction of the Rev. Alonzo Morgan,

ulum includes the usual grammar-grade subjects, the school preparing its 85
pupils for the city high-schools., St. IMary's Church, roctory, and school, oc=-

Sec: Entry l-a; Deeds: Chancory Clerk, Warren County, Viocksburg, Dood
Books,- Book 107, p. 142, B X B

1-i #*ST. COLUMB'S CHURCH, 1892=--c., 1905, Battle Hill, Viest Capitol Street,
Jackson, Hinds Countye

Built 1892, as a memoricl to Bishop Grecn.® This Church constructed of
stone from the old Hinds County jail at Raymond,l0 was gothic in design, and
stood on the Battle Hill property. It served as a chapel for the Bishop and
place of meeting for various Diocesan activities, including some of the ses-
sions of the Diocesan Councils. Bishop Thompson spoke of it as "perfect in
itself, but only considered as the Chancel of a future Church."1l Scating
175,12 the building wos consecrated April 26, 1894,1% Bishop Thompson was
buried under the floor of the Church, but the chapel later being allowed to
fall into disrepdir, his body was removed to the cemetery of the Chapel of the
Cross, Annandale,in HMedison Countye.

Services, 1892~-1902, 1 vol., Record of services, kept by Capt. Thomas
Shields, at his office, Battle Hill; Deeds: see Entry l-a.

1-j OKOLONA INDUSTRIAL SCHOOL, 1904--, Olkolona, Chickasaw County.

Founded in 1904,14 chiefly as a vocational college for Negrocs. In 1920,
upon recommendation of Dr. Wallace A. Battle, President, the Trustees offered
the school to the Diocese and to the Church Institute for Hegroess Tho offer
wes accepted in December of that year, the Diocese agreeing to contribute
$1,000 per year to the school. At that time the property consisted of 400

all together worth $150,OOO.15 In 1924, the school reported 154 students.l6
In 1917, o fire destroyed the power and heating plent, the steam laundry and
printing shop. However, the activities of the school were not allowed %o
lag, and the school moved on until 1929, when the two largest buildings,

1, J1885, 40, 8« The Revs S. Alonzo Morgon,
2. JLBBE; 894 March 1940,
3. J1887, 48, 94 J1B92, BT
4, JIsgE LGy 0% JIBOEL 88
: 5. JIg9l, 45, 11, JIB89Z, b7,
| 8+ JI907, 90. 3 12, JIB93, 49.
; 7s Sscreotary of State, Jackson, 1351 THIdGE S0 e
Incorporations, Book 16, pe 14, J1921, 63,
600 - 154 bt

61,

the Northwest" gave $1,000 for o school in comnection with St Mory!s Missioned

Priest-in-charge of Ste Mary's Chureh (Entry 90) and Mrs. Morgan.8 Tts curric-

cupy several brick and frame buildings on Main, First, N., and Third, N., Stroctse

acres of land, Abbott Hall, a brick administration building end other buildings,
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Abbott Hall (in which the administrative offices, classrooms, auditorium,
library, and girl's dormitory were located) and Springfield Hall (the boy!s
dormitory) were likewise completely destroyed by fire. Local white frionds
raised funds and replaced a dormitory on the Springfield Hall site, into which
the girls were moved. The boys lived in small cottages, and classes verc taught
and assemblies held in what had formerly been the trades building for boys.
During the next two years, the Board of Trustees arranged for the erection of
o four-room classroom building, and a fire-proof building (ultimately designed
to house the girlts industricl work). These buildings werec put into use for
administrative offices, classrooms, and auditorium.t The buildings today,
exclusive of the President's home and six teacherts cottoges, consist of one
dormitory for mele students; one dormitory for girls, McDougall Hall, with
administrative offices, chapel, and five classrooms; a new unit of the Academic
Building with four classrooms for the high school department, and administrative
offices; the Rosemwald Building, with classrooms for the Junior College Teacher=
Training Depertment, and the college library, a dairy barn; trade shop, laundry,
beauty parlor, and & modern potato house.2 The courses of study include:
Teacher~Training, Junior College, High School, Music, and Vocational Tradese.
In 1239, the school had a faculty of 15 members and a student body of over
300,

Official correspondence, 1918=--, in 98 box files and three 4-drawer
stecl files; official scholastic records, 1902=--, six loose=leaf record books,
and two 4=drawer steel filing cabinots; official accounting records, 1920--,
16 bound and 4 loose-leaf binders, and four storage cabinets, all the pre-
coding roccords kept in the school office by Herbert L. %White; Church Register,
1926--, 1 vol., for the school chapel (St. Bernard's); Financial Records,
1926==, 1 vol.; Church School Minutes and Data, 1926--, the procoding Church
records are under the supervision of the chaplain, the Rev. Charles G. Hamilton,
Aberdeen; Deeds Chancery Clork, Chickasaw County, Okolona, Deed Records,
Book 148, pe 358; Incorporation: Secretary of State, Stete of IMississippi,
Jackson, Incorporations, Book 12, 532-533; Book 18, ppe 46-47. (See also Entry
L=cis

1-k ALL SAINTS! JUNIOR COLLEGE, 1907=--, Vicksburg, ‘larren County.

In 1905, the Council of the Diocesc resolved that "in the near future
and as soon as practicable a Diocesan school for girls" should be established ;4
the Council, at the same time declining to join the Diocese of Temnessce in
the management of St., Katherine's School, Bolivar,5 although Bishop Bratton
had recommended that the offer of the Diocese of Tenhessee be accepted and
that Mississippi establish o boys! school,® 1In 1906, a committec was appointed
to raise $100,000 for the school,” at that time approximately 20,000 seomed
already subscribed or paid.8 By 1907, $41,655.75 was subscribed,é and the
school was chartered by the State, September 28, of the same year,lo viith
Bishop Bratton as President of the Trustees, the Rev. Albert lartin, Secretary,

1+ The Okolona Industrial School, the 6s; 19055644
school, Ny Qe, Ne Pe, 6 PDes 3416 Te: 2000, 22, 31y
2. Okolona Industrial School Bulletin, 8¢ Ibdds
RydlsineiDey 28ings e 9. J1907, 156
Senilbide g B5i28s 10, Sccretery of State, Jackson,
4, li90bR B9 Incorporations, Book 15, ppe

. Ibid. 255=2564
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and Je Ce Purnell, Treasurer,l In 1908, it was decided to locate the sghool
at Vicksburg, thet city donating twenty-five acres of land and $32,500. The
Dioces¢ increased the acreage to twenty-cight and nine-tenths acros by pur-
chasce® In the fall of 1909, the school was opened.4 Since its opening the
school has achieved an increasingly strong position in both its high=school and
college departments. In addition to the large original brick and concretoe
building, costing $80.000, a second brick building made possible by a gift of
lirs. Fannie Willis Johnson was completed in 1927. The Reve Williom Gerow
Christian is rector, and lMrs. Jessic Palfrey Leake is decan,

School Correspondence, 1909--, 12 file~boxes and two steel files; Records
of Students, 1909~-, 6 loose-leaf books; Financial Records, 1909~=-, records
to 1934, unbound, in one storage closct, rccords since 1934, 3 vols., all the
preceding récords kept in the school office in charge of the rector; Service
Record Book, 1909--, 1 vol., kept by the rcctor in vesting room; for other
records of the collecge see entry l-a, j

Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Warren County, Vicksburg, Deeds, Book 113, De
224; Incorporation: Secrectary of State, State of Mississippi, Jackson, In-
corporations, Book 15, 255-256, T

2. CHRIST CHURCH, 1820--, Church Hill, Jefferson County.

Organized in 1820, by the Rev. Adam Clouds® In 1825, the Rev, James
Pilmore became rector.® It was reported in 1828 that to "the little flock
of Christ Church, too much praise camnot be given for their laudable exertions.
Though their members are few, they have erccted a very neat and commodious
brick Church."? On December 27, 1829, this building was consecrated by the
Rte. Reve. Thomas Church Brovmell,8 of Comnecticut, and at that time thirtecen
persons were confirmed.? The parish was "made up of a few wealthy planters
and their families. « swell established Churchmen" and willing to "give
about 600 dollars a year to a worthy clergyman. . .the chief supporters of
the Church are Col. Jof G. Wood, Jo® Dunbar, John Foster, M Young, MY’ Green
ond M' J. G. Wood, J¥."10 The Rev. Jomes A. Fox_was rector for a time,
taking charge of Christ Church in January 1839.11 He reported ten cormmunicants
in that year.l2 The Rt. Reve. Leonidas Polk visited the parish the same year
and spoke of the very large number of colored porsons in attendance, giving
"apparcently devout attention to the services."!® Although thore were not more
than one hundred white people, children and adults, within a radius of four
miles of the Church,l4 as many of these &s could, usually attended the ser-
vicess15 1In 1846, the Rev. John F. Fish, rector in charge,reportod thirty-
five comunicants<l® An organ was installed in the Church and side~-galleries
for the colored added in 1849,17 In October 1857, the cornmer stone was laid
for a now building on the site of tho old one.l8 It was completed in 1858

. J1908, 29. 10y dhide
2. Thidy 11, J1889, 7.
3, 1bidy 12, Wbids
4, J1910; 41, 184  JL889, 21,
O¢ dJones, 96, 14, JI84Z, 23.
8. J1826, 6, 15, - Ibid}
7. JI1828, 6. 16, J18%Z6, 38.
8. Browmell, 310. 17. JI849, 28,
9. A00dNTT 18, JIBGE, 59.

19. JIB58, 46.
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and on June 13 of that year was consecrated.? This brick Church is in use
today. Bishop Green visiting here at that time, wrote, "on approaching the
site of the old Church, I was pleased to find in its stead, a structure not
only more commodious and Churchlike, but most tasteful in style, and becoming
in all adormment."® For several yoars efforts had been made to erect an
coademy here and "a comsiderable amount subsoribed.™® Iu 1860, .Mrs,Olivis Dunbar
left "more than $50,000"for a girl's school in the parish.® The War Between
the States, however, intervened, and there is no further mention of the school,
the money evidently being lost in the war. 1In 1867, it was reported that
". « «no contribution has been made by the parish for any Church purpose, other
then the Bishop's salary since 1862. . .for nearly three years the rector was
absent on duty as Chaplain in the Army."® The parish was referrcd to as "once
wealthy ond flourishing."® In April 1870, Bishop Green found the Church
"suffering., . .for went of a rector."” The number of communicants reported at
that timec was forty,8 and in 1880 forty-four.9 Follow}ng this the communicent
strength declined to iznumber of twenty-seven in 1890, 0 twenty-three in 191511
and fourtcen in 1925, Christ Church continucs today as the oldest parish in
the Diocesc, served by the Rev. Joseph Kuehnle, of Trinitg Church, Natchez,
The number of communicants reported in 1940 was sixtecn.l

Parish Register, 1828=-, 1 vol.; Vestry Minutes, 1826--, 1 vol., both
volumes kept by the Viarden, Mr. T. Rodney Shields, Church Hill. Deed: Chan-
cery Clerk, Jefferson County, Fayette, Deceds, Book B. p. 243; Incorporation:
L. M., 1827, 128,

3, TRINITY CHURCH, 1822=-, Washington and Commerce Streets, Natchez, Adams
County.

Organized 1822, the Rev. James Pilmore, of Philadelphia, arriving in
Natchez in March, and assisting in formal organization of the Episcopal
families in Natchez.l%4 Services were held first in the Presbyterian building,
corner Pearl and State Strects, then in the courthouse.l® A partly finished
Church, on the present site, was in use by the spring of 1823.,16 In 1822, the
parish advertiscd in a local {&por for " a porson well calculated to cct as
clerk, and leader of a choir."l7 1In 1823, the public was informed that there
were o few pews in the new Church still unsold. Interested persons could sce_a
floor plan in possession of liessers Henry Postlethwaite and John T. Griffith,
The organizing convéntion of the Dioccse of liississippi met in Trinity Church,
May 17 and 18, 1826,19 In 1827, the Rev. Albort kuller, who had succeeded lir,
Pilmore, rcported thirty-seven communicants.20 On Christmas Day, 1829, the Rt.
Reve Thomas Church Brownell, of Connecticut, celebrated the Holy Communion and

147 gu8sgagy 12, J1925, facing 166,

2, J1858, 46. 13. J1940, insert after index.
3. Jlg4z, 23, 14, J1B826, 6.

4, J1860, 43-44, 15. 1Ibid.

5. JIBBI, 2728, 16. Tbid.

6. TIbid. : 17. Natchez, Mississippi

T4, JLBTOL 264 Ropublican, November 7,
8. J18705 604 1822,

9. T1880, 68, 18. TIbid., June 26, 1823,
10, JI890, 56, 19, Ji82e, 1,
11, J1915, 111 20, J1827, 6.
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consecrated the completed Church, 1 ng costly edifice."? Bishop Brownell spoke
of the parish as "1arge, resnectable, and liberal."® 1In 1838, plans were under
way for enlarging and improving the Church buildings,4 and during the repairs
services were held in the clty-hall. The remodeled Church was consecrated by
the Rt. Rev. Leonidas Polk, Bishop of Louisiana, Easter, 1840.68 Present also
was the Rt. Rev. James Hervey Otey, of Temmessee,?! The perish reported 100
communicants in 1848,8 In 1850, $8,000 was paid for a rectory, at 813 lain
Street, for the use of the newly elected first Bishop of the Diocese, the Rt.
Rev. William Mercer Green, who was to serve as rector of Trinity as well as
Bishop.9 No damage was caused the building by the Civil War, and the occupation
of the city by United States troops, but the conflict had a naturcllv depréssing
effect on the number and wéalth of the membership. 10 1n due time, howeyer, the
parish agein began to growy and 219 communicants were reported by 1880,11 "In
1884, the Church was repeired, and e ncw chancel and othor improvements were
conscerated by Bishop Thompson.12 Today, the Church'is a rectangular and con-
crete building in the classic style, with six Doric columns across the front
supporting the pediment, on the front of which is a large cross. The steined-
glass, mcmoriel windows are rounded at the top in the classié fashion. A large
two=story parish-~house was built qoxt to the Church, in 1885, and the present
rectory purchased, in 19223 at 310 South Commerce Street. The parish reported -
460 communicants in 1940.1°_ The Rev. Joseph Kuehnle, 310 South Commerce Strcet,
has been rcctor since 1914,

See: Charles Stibtenroth,One Hundred Years with "Old Trinity" Church,
Natchez, Miss., Natchez, Uatchcu Printing Co., 1922, 77 ppe

arish Register, 182/--, 5 vols., kept by the rector at the Church;

Vestry Minutes, 1920--, 1 vol., kopt by Mr. Ernest E. Bennett, Jr., clerk
of the vestry, ot the Church; Financial Records, 1908-1923, 4 vols.; Parish
Cash Book, 1923--, 3 vols., these rccords kept by the treasurer, kr., William
Butler Marks, at his office, 325 liain Strect. Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Adams
County, Natchez, Deeds, Book Y. Y., pe 373; Book 4 D, p. 315; Book 4 I, p.
6; Book H. Hi, pe. 263 Book M, ps 3583 Incorporations: L. Ms, 1822, 45 L, N,
1827450l lias 182551205 Tieibiss 1829184

4 ST. PAUL'S CHURGH, 1823==, Church St., Woodville, Wilkinson County.

Organized October 4, 1823, by the Rev. James Angel Fox19 who became the
first settled clergyman of St. Paul's.l® Scrvices seem to have been held in’
the courthouse during the first year. The Church building was bcgun in 1823,
and in use soon after, although it was reported in the Journcl of 1829, 'th"t
the bulldlng was stlll unfinished,8 1In 1830 it was rcported, "The pﬂrlsh of
Woodville has a neat wouden. Church, well finished, with a good organ and goed
nusicky " A clergymon should Bo settlad betwoen this. place and Pinkneyvilleés

l. Brownell, 310. 10, 26%
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Woodville could raise 400 dollars for two thirds of his time. . .the situation
of Woodville is peculiarly healthyes The principal members of the Church are
General Joor, Judges Liddell, Randolf, and Prosser, Maj. Feltus, Le R. Morshall,
DT Eccloston, and Judge Posey."l The Church was described as being "in dimen-
sions forty-two by thirty-seven feet, built with a convenient vestry."? “In
1827, the Rev. lir, Fox moved to Natchez and opened a schools He reports,
"the business of the school has been exceedingly laborious, yet it has not
been suffered to prevent the fulfillment of appointments for divine service
at Woodville, every second Sunday throughout the year olthough the cdistance
from Natchez to Woodville is nearly forty miles."S "On Tuesday tho 5th Jany.
DSSQ] the Church was consecrated by the name of St. Paul!s Church. « .and the
Revd John C. Porter was admitted to the Holy Ordér of the Priests."4 The
building was<repaired in 1837 and an organ added,® By 1844, twenty-cight
families were represented in the members$hip of the Church.® A rectory for the
Church was purchased in 1853:7 In 1868,8 the Church reported sixty-cight
communicants, eighty in 1880,9 and ninety-five in 1925.10 The parish is served
today by the Rev, William Gerow Christian, rector of All Saints! College,
Vicksburge In 1940, the reported number of commuhicants was sixty-three,il
See:” Anonymous, St. Paul's Episcopal Church, Woodville, lississippi,
Woodville, The Woodville Republican Print, 1923, 20 pp. ;
Church Register, 3 vols., 1825--, kept by lir. MUaxwell Bramletto, in his
law-office, Commercial Row, Woodville,

b ST, JAES' CHURCH (formerly St. John's), 1826--, Church Ste, Port Gibson,
Claiborne Countye

Organized April 9, 1826 by the Rev, Albert liuller,l2 although it scems
that services were held prior to that time by the Rev., Jamos Pilmore, and the
Rev, James Fox reported services here, May, 1825413 Tho first settled clorgy-
nan, thé Rev. John Wurts Cloud, was in charge of St. John's from 1826 to 1828.14
In 1830, the Rte Rove Thomas Church Brovmell, of Connecticut, visited Port
Gibson and found "soveral persons strongly attached" to the Church,l® and added,
"I Dave Vertner offercd to pay 100 dollars a year towards the support of’a
clergyman, (say half the time) and to guarantee 500 a yoar from the place,
provided he should be a man of talents & worth. Bésides Iff V, the principal
supporters will be Col. J°% Callendor, DY lMagruder, M Greoonleaf, Gen. Horring,
&« It would be well that a llissionary should be sent, to divide his services
between this placc and Vicksburg."16 In 1835, the Church was reported to be
in a "depresscd state,"l7 yet there wore cnough communicants and friends "to

Brovméll, 312, ; Te JLB53, 19

Porry, obe olte, I, 211y This 8. J1B68, 70

building, still in use, is claimed 9. 1880, 69.

to be the oldest Episcopal Church 10. facing 166,
building west of the Allezhanies. 11 40, insert after indox.
It is apparontly modelled on St. 12.. J1826, 5.

John's Church, Richmond, Va, LS%, I JEBL64-6) Te

J1828, 5. 14, J1827, 3.

Brownell, 311, 15. J1830, 312,

J1338, 5. 16. Ibid.

J1846, 40, 17, J1835, 5.
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oid effectively the efforts of a devb%cd ond faithful minister."! The Church
wes dropped from the Diocese in 1839, and in 1844 there were reported to be
but six communicants at Port Gibson. The parish was reorganized in 1848 by
the Reve Frederic W. Boyd, under the namc of St. James'.4 The following year
the number of communicants was roported as 9,9 But this revival was short-
lived and the Church was again revived in 1860, Bishop Grocn holding a service
there on liarch 16 of that year, when scveral thousand dollars were raised for
the purpose of building a Church.® In 1861, the Bishop reported that the
"congregations were large and apparently much interested."! Funds raised for
the Church building were evidently lost in the Civil War., It was not until
1885 that the prosent Church building of brick was complcted,® at which time
the number of communicants was reported %6 56,9 The structure was consecrated
on St. Matthias' Day, February 24, 1897. The Church has gothic lines and

a steepled belfry, with a peal of three bells. There are scveral memoricl
windows and other memorial interior furnishings. The present priest-in-charge
is the Rev. Joseph Kuehnlc,; who serves the Church from Hat:hez. In 1940, the
number of communicants was thirty-three.ll

See: Ama Jones, "Historical Sketch of St. James' Church, Port Gibson,
Mississippi," Church News, Brandon, October, 1926.

Parish Register, 1860--, 4 vols.; Vestry Minutes, 1860-+~, 2 vols.; Minutes
Ladies Aid Association, 1870-1905, 2 vols.; linutes Woman's Auxiliary, 1902-
1923, 2 vols.; Church Service League lfinutes, 1923-1928, 2 vols.; Sunday School
Minutes, 1895-1923, 1 vol.; Sunday School Treasurer's Book, 1922-1936, 1 vol,;
all these records kept in the Port Gibson Bank in care of lir. John Jones; Deed:
Chancery Clerk, Claiborne County, Port Gibson, Land Deeds Record, Book, W. W.,
ps 413; Book J. Jds, ps 764; Book He H., p. 47; Book I, I., p. 8; Book D. Ds, pe
149; Book C. C. pp. 198, 394; Book B« Bes, pe 64; Book Y, p. 422; Book R. p.
344; Incorporation: Secretary of State, State of Mississippi, Jackson, Incor-
porations, Book I, pp. 906-908; L. M., 1871, 552.

6o CERIST CHURCH, 1828=-, 1117 Mein St., Vicksburg, Warren County.

The Rev. Albert liuller, rector at Natchez, held services and begen or=-
ganization here in 1828.12 In 1830, the Rt. Rev. Thomas Church Brovmell, of
Comecticut, visited Vicksburg and reported numerous persons "attached to the
Church," notably, "M' Turnbull, M' Cameron, DT Bay, M Smyth, & MF Berriton."l3
Organization was completed January 3, 1835, at which time Bishop Otey reported
"a considerable number of persons friendly to the Church and her institutions,
and desirous also of having the regular services of a minister."l14 The Reves
[Thomos?] Wright, accompanying Bishop Otey, remained here, and during that
time he 'road prayers and preached on Sunday."15 The organization was completed
by the Rev. David C. Page the following year,16 The parish was admitted to
the Diocesec in 1837,17 at which time the Rev. Richard Cox was rector and
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sorvices werc held in the courthouse.: In that yeer o lot was bought for
$7,000 and $18,000 subscribed for a Churchs2 The Rev. Guy R. Pinching settled
0

here, as rector of Christ Church, in 1838, n April 14, 1839, the Rt. Rev,
ILoonidas Polk confirmed twelve persons,4 and on the 19 he laid the corner-
stone for tho Church.® The number of communicants reported in 1840 was twenty-
cighte® Tho rector speaks of the "rapid growth of Vicksburg" and the“strong
hold which the Church alrecady has upon the affections and respect of the
communitys"7 In 1843, scrvices were held in the Presbyterian building.8 The
completion of Christ Church had been delayed for lack of funds and by a fitc
which destroyed part of the material for building.9 However, at this time,
Churchmen of the older parishes contributed $500_ to the building fund,l0 and
the Church was completed, at o cost of $30,000,11 In 1846, the number of
communicants roported was scventy-five, 2 It is interesting to note that u
to 1850, the pews were still rented, but, in that year, were declarcd freé.§3
In 1868, the Church building was_enlarged and improved.l4 On December 23,
of that year it was consecratedsl® A new rectory was built in 1873.18 The
reported number of communicants in 1905, was 228;17 in 1925, 404;18 and in
1940, 386419 The parish today is served by the Rev. Charles E. Woodsons
Parish Register, 1829=-, 6 vols.; Vestry Minutes, 1900--, 3 vols., both
records kept by the rector at the rectory, next to the Church; Financial Rew-
cords, 1934=--, 2 vols., kept by Emile Jabour, 1425 Cherry St.; Decds: Chan=-
cery Clerk, Warren County, Vicksburg, Deed Books, Book K, p. 362; Bool Y. ps
692; Book 113, p. 266,

7. TRINITY CHURCH, 1834--, Main Street, Yazoo City, (formerly Manchester),
Yezoo County.

Organized as o mission in 1834.20 This status continued for several
years, services boing held by visiting clerpgymen, usually from Christ Church,
Vicksburg.21 In October, 1845, Trinity Church was organized as a_parish by
the Rev. Willard Presbury,22 and admitted to the Diocese in 1846.25 At that
time the Rev. Norman W. Camp was rector.24 On April 28, of that yoar, the Rt.
Rev. James Horvey Otoy, of Tennessee, visited Trinity Church and reported
that the congregation had "hired a commodious, house," that the Church furni-
ture vas "tastily arrangeé and cushioned, where ncedful and appropriate" and
that overything wore “an aspect of comfort ocnd neatnoss."29 In 1847, there
were thirty communicants reported.26 Under the direction of the Rev. Mre

1, Teo 11540 Tbadis
2 i 16, 18.
Se 24 17. 136,
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Se .19. J1940, insert after index,
9. 20. [The Rev. Albert Martin| "History
24, of Trinity Parish," in first
20, pages of Parish Register, Vol. I,
21, 10,
224 39,
26, 23, ] Se
24, o5 21,
25. 24,
26, 34,

(S
o
|

HS]
[

<
=
Qo 9|
0] R )
Of o] 3] W
v W W W vY'w'ew'e

©




Archives of Churches

Camp, & Church was crected on the corner of Mein and Jefferson Streets,l
described as a "handsome gothic (plank) structure."? It was conscerated by
Bishop Otey on June 11, 1848,% A rcctory was purchased in 1850,% Vhen
Bishop Grecn was here in 1860, he reportod that he "was much gratified at
finding in this parish signs of health and increase."® During the Civil
War the Church was used as a military hospital, and at the conclusion of tho
War, was torn down. After this, scrvicecs were held in a house whiéh had
originally been prepared for the Baptists of the town,6 which building oc=-
cupied tho site of the public library, opposite the prescnt Church, on lain
Strect, Later under the lcadership of the Rove William D. Christian, who
was assisting with tho work at Yazoo City in 1867,7 a now Church was built
ot o cost of about $4,000, at Main and Jofforson Sts., and this building was
consecrated March 10, 1872,8 1In 1875, the Churéh reported forty-cight
communicantsd and fifty-two in 1890,10 In 1895, thc Church building was
torn down and the present lot Burchnscd.ll A ncw, brick Church was compléted
in 1898, on the present site,1? "This Church was burned in the great fire,
which dostroyod most of tho tovm, on’lay 25, 1904,13 A new Church was crocted’
the following ycar,_ on thc same sito,14 and was conscorated, by'%%shop Bratton,
on October 1, 1906.151 There were 183 confirmed members in 1910,-° and 140
cbmmunii%nts in 1925, The Church cdifice was destroyed by a cyclonc on lay
1y digea and has not yot becn roplaccdel9 Services are held in tho Albort lare
tin Memorial Parish Housc, adjoining the Church on the southe Tho prosent rector
is the Reve. Edward Reynolds Jonese The number of communicants reported in
1940 was 185420 i

Parish Register, 2 vols., 1904--, kcpt by rcctor in parish house, North
Moin Ste; Vostry Minutes, 2 vols., 1925=-, kept by rector in parish house;
Financial Records, 1924-1940, 6 vols., kecpt by Parish Secrotary, Miss Lula
Holbert, in her home, Main St., Yazoo City; Young People's Service League
Record, 1 vole., 1925~-, containing rccord of most important cvents in the
League, kept by the rector in the parish house; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Yazoo
County, Yazoo City, Deed Records, Book A, p. 640; Book BG, p. 36; Book BR,
p. 260; Book CI, p. 634; Book CP, p. 475

8. *ST. PAUL'S CHURCH, 1837-ce 1885, Grand Gulf, Claiborne County.

Orgenized under the guidance of the Reve Roderick H., Ranney, a missionary
clergyman, from the Diocesc of Now York.2l The first service, held Decembor
11, 1836, brought forth a congregation described as, "vory respectable. It
was made up of all denominetions, Episcopalians, Roman Catholics, Presbyteriens,
Methodists and Campbollites."22 The organizotion began and continued to exist

The Rev. Albert lMartin, op. cit. 12 . Ibid,
J1849, 31, T T R TR
Ibidns 10, 145 Thads
J1850, 51, 157 eI 80Y
J1860, 48. 165 J1oT0) 152
The Rev. Albert liartin, op. cit 17, 925, facing 166,
J1867, 22. 18+ The Rov, Albert liartin,
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J1875, 49, 1oy Thids &
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under unusual difficulties of firc, flood and pestilence.l Efforts were
made early to crect a Church building. Verious sums of money beoing raiséd
at different times,? a lot donated and a bell promised,3 but, apparently,
the building ncver materalized, since services were held in various public
buildings, and even "in an upper room, above o warchouse."® Thore was,
however, & rectory.5 The Rev. B. B. Killikelly of Indiana, who came hero,
in 1843, thus described his oxperiences, "My family end self wore visited
with severe sickness soon after our arriwval, Before the close of November
heavy rains begen to fall and continued through the entire winter, rendering
the roads, in every direction, almost impassable."® The Rev, lir, Killikelly
conducted services herc twice a month,7 devoting the rest of his time to
Port Gibson.,8 The parish mainteined a regular existence until the War Between
the Staotes when "the town was entirely destroyed by the United States Army."9
However, the parish was revived by 1870, when Bishop Green held service in a
private homﬁ,lo and services were held irrepgularly, during the years following.ll
As late as 1875, ten communicents were reported here, but the Rev. James S.
Johnston, the same year, found the prospects unfavorable. "This old end once
importent towvm is now a placc of no momente The people are very poor and dis-
pirited and very little progress can be expected here,"12 The importance of
Grand Gulf as a Mississippi river port had diminished, and by 1885 the parish
seemns to have been extinct, 3
Vestry Linutes, 1843-1861, 1 vol., kept by Capt. Thomas H. Shields,
Battle Hill, Jackson.

9. ST. MARK'S CHURCH, 1837--, Raymond, Hinds County.

Organized in 1837, by the Rev. James lcGregor Dale,13 The Rt. Rev,
Leonidas Polk wgs here and held service in the courthouse on the night of
Aprailiidis 1839,14 1t was reported thet "the humber of Episcopalians is greater
than in Jackson. « .a vestry has been elected, and steps are taking{%;g] for

the erection of a Church. The number of cormunicants is about 10," The
Church was adnmitted to the Diocese ig 1840,16 The Rev. James S. Grocne settled
here, as rector, on April 18, 1841, In that year there wore six or scven
communicantsel8 Wr. Groenc reported in 1843, that, "the Episcopal mode of
worship is fast gaining upon the respect and veneration of the educated and
intelligent portion of this comnunitg."l9 In 1853, a fund of $3,000 was raised
to build a Church and a lot sccured,40 under the direction of Bishop Grocn and
tho Rove Res Hober Weller,?l who was sorving as roctor of St. Mark's at that
timee22 The building, “a credit to the congregation,"23 was completod in

1., J1860, 42. J1875, 38,
2. JIBBT, 8% J1839, 23.
3. 183 8‘9. £ 3 20.
4, William Mercer Green, Journal and 23,
Addross, Natchez, 1850, 5. 4,
5. J1B75, 38 41, 124
6. J1844, 31, id
7. J1844, 18, Dy ol
8. Jlg844, 31, L, 22,
9. Vestry HMinutecs, Last entry n. pe i
10, J1870, 25, 2 19,
11, J1871, 37; J1872, 33; J1875, 38; 29,
JI1876, 25; J1883, 24,
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1855,1 However, it sufferced much damage during the War Botween the States.
Bishop Groen was herc on November 29, 1866, and held services in the Methodist
building. He spoke of the Church as being "robbed of its benches whilst used
as o hospitel during the late wor."? In 1868, the Church building had been
rcpaired,3 and on May 5 of that year, it was consecrateds® The condition of
the perish was reported as "truly cheerinz."® it thet time there were forty
communiconts ¢6 Following this the communicant strength steadily declined,
The number reported in 1890 was seventcen,7 and b% 1915 there were only four.8
However, in 1925, these had increoased to fifteen,” and the number listed in
1940 wos twenty-four.lo The mission today is a part of the Bolton Field, served
by the Rev. Valentine Sessions, Bolton,

Parish Registeor, 1867-=, 1 vol., includes also minutes of the Vestry for
1879=1881; Missionary Committee Minutes, 1919--, 1 vol.; Financial Records,
1937=~, 1 vols, all these records kept by the Rev. Valentine Sessions, Bolton,

10, ST HATTHEW'S CHURCH, 1837--, no present building, Clinton, Hinds County.

Orgenized in 1837, and reccived into the Diocese the same year,ll The-
Rt. Rev, Leonidas Polk of Arkansas, held services in the lethodist building,
Aprill dere 1839,12 and the Rt. Rev, James Hervey Otoy was here on lay 11,
1846,13 Various visiting priests, notebly the Rev. George Vleller of Vickse
burg, held services at Clinton,l4 Evidently thero was a lapse in these scrvices,
for the parish was again received into the Diocese in 1847, 5 at which time
James Roach was lay-delegatesl® In 1850, the number of cigmunicants via.s eight.17
The Church had "no settled clergyman until Junc 1, 1853,"+° whon the Rev.
Reginald Heber Weller, son of the Rev. George ‘Weller,19 and also principal of
lte. Salus Acadcmy,zo vias placed in charge.2 On lfarch 30, 1856, Bishop Green
was here and encouraged a reorganization of St. Matthew'!s,22 The following
year the Methodist building was purchased®® and refitted.24 Bishop Green
wrote, "It was truly gratifying to sec how neatly and appropristcly the congregne
tion had fitted up the Church building which they have roggntly purchased and
to learn that Mr, Elwell!'s®? services arc well attended.” In 1887, the
Church was "thoroughly rcpaired, indecd, almost rebuilt"27 for sorvices aftor
being "ruined for a quartor of & contury."?8 In April 1881, Bishop Green said,
"It gave me no little pleasurc to sec this parish. . . so long dormant, waking

1. J1855, 74, Ibid,
2. J1867, 19. 1850, 54.
J1868, 21. 1854, 73.
J1869, 19. 1854, 22,
1868, 21, 1854, 30,
1868, 21 JI85%, 19.
» 61, J1856, 29.
61, 23+ JLBOT, 652,
facing 166. e JLB0Y, 38.
insert after index. The Rev, Frederick Elwell,
Lo rector at Brandon end
20, Clinton, (J1859,3).
17, J1859, 38,
10. J18g87, 8l
21 J1887, 47.
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up into a new life and expressing a determination to do what it can towards
obtaining the ministrations of the Church."l Bishop Thompson, holding services
here on April 4, 1888, reported, "This was the formal reopening of a Church
ruined by the Federal forces in the advance on Jackson from Grand Gulf., It
has been restored by gifts from our brethren'%n the north."? St. Matthew's
was listed as an unorgenized mission in 1886,° and as an organized mission in
1889.4 In 1900, the reported number of communiceants was fourteen.® In 1904,
the chapel had been closed "for a long time,"6 and although out of repair it
was reported to be "built of brick and the cost of repairing the wood work will
be slighte"7 However, Bishop Bratton, at Clinton in February, 1905, was forced
to hold services in the Methodist Church.8 On May 27, 1906 the Bishop held
"first service in this chapel for sevoral years" and addressed the faculty and
students of Mississippi College on "the Gospel of Reconciliation."”® The num=
ber of confirmed persons in 1920 was_cighteen,lO and in that year St., Matthew's
again became ap unorganized mission,ll remaining so until the latest reorganiza=-
tion in 19371 The present clergyman is the Rov, Valentine H., Sessions of
Boltone. Secrvices are held in the Methodist building om Main Street in Clinton.
The number of communicants reported in 1940 was nineteen,l3

See: The Reve Valentine Hunter Sessions, Short Histories of St. Luke's”
Episcopal Church, Brandon, Mississippi; St. lMark's Episcopal Church, Raymond,
Mississippi; St. Matthew's Episcopal Church, Clinton, Mississippi, [Brando
News Press, Branden, Miss., 1937]| 46 np. 7

Parish Register, 1 vol., 1919-~, kept by the Rev. Valentine Sessions,
Bolton; Financial Records, 1936--, 1 loose~leaf vol., kept by Mrs., John R.
Shields, Clinton; Deed: Chancery Clerk, Hinds County, Jackson, Land Deeds
Record, book 26, p. 531, J

5

11, ST. PAUL'S CHURCH, 1837~-, Second Ave, and Fourth.3%t. S., Cdolumbus,
Lowndes Countys

Organized January 1, 1837, by the Rev. lathias L. Forbes,l4 missionary
from Tennessee.15 A Church, located on what is now the north-west corner of
the Stephen D. Lee High School grounds was consecrated by the Rt. Reve Jackson
Kemper, Missionary Bishop of Missouri and Indiana, on April 22, the first
Sunday after Easter, 1838,16 At the same timeo, Bishop Kemper confirmod fif- °
teen, reported thirty-six communicants, and thc prospects "flattering."17 This,
the first congrcgation in the Diocese at any great distance from the Natchez
country and at the far corner of the Statec from the original parishes, was
only briefly noticed by the Journal of 1838,18 and its oxistence was still
mentioned with a note of wonder inm 1839.19 However, the Church was plainly
flourishing, and the next year, 1840, it was roceived into the Diocosc,?20

1, AT 126 J1920 16

544 12, J1939, 80.

s 10 13, JI940, insert after index,

205 145 1858, 2k o
51 15. Spirit of Missions; I (1836), 11.
44, 16, JGCIB3S, 63; J1838, 7.

: e SR L
al{0ji k" 184 (458884 24
T4 19y JIB3G; 18,
158, 20 JIBL05 4




Archives of Churches 11
12

In 1854, tho original, framc Church was sold, and a new building was begun
on the present siteel This brick, gothic structure, with stained glass windows
and numerous mcmorials, was consecrated November 13, 1860 by Bishop Groon,2
end is till in use. The first pipe orgen in Columbus was installed in the
Church in 1859.% Entrics in the Parish Register during the antebellum ycars
give many evidences of religious care of the slaves. Baptisms of colored por-
sons totaled 136 betweon 1838 and 1861, A parish housc and rectory adjoin
the Church, In 1940, the parish reported 231 communicants.4 The present rector
is the Rev. Joncs Stuart Homilton. ; :

Scc: William Lowndes Lipscomb, A History of Columbus, Mississippi During
the 19th Contury, Birmingham, Press of Dispatch Printing Co., 1909.

[The Reve Duncan Gray], Ste Paul's Episcopal Church, Columbus,

Mississippi, Contennial Year Book, 1837-1937, n. pr., Columbus, 1937, 36 pp.

Parish Minutes, 1839~-, (1856-1880 missing), 96 vols., kept by Mr, D, D.
Patty, at theo Merchants and Farmers Bonk; Parish Register, 1856--, 2 vols.,
kept by the rector at the roctory, 300 Second Ave., S.; Altar Guild Minutes,
1887=1939, 9 vols., kept by Mrs., Frank P. Phillips, 601 Main St.; Financial
Records, 1860-1939, 3 vols., kept by Mr, D. D. Patty, at the Merchants and
Farmers Bank; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Lowndes County, Columbus, Deeds, Book
28, p. 113; Book 66, p. 240,

12, CHURCH OF THE NATIVITY (formerly Immanuel Church) 1838=-, Jefferson St.,
Macon, Noxubee County.

Organizod as a missionary station in 1838° by the Rev. Mathias L, Forbes,
"Minister of the Episcopal Congregation at Columbus."® The Reve Georgo W.
Freoman held occasional services hero in 1842 and 1843,7 In the latter part
of 1843, the Rev. John Honshaw, took charge of Immanuel® as the first scttled
clergyman., There were throe communicants at that time.9 In addition, twelve
miles southwest of Macon near Shuqualak,l0 a small rural congregation, the
Church of the Messiah held services betwcen 1852 and the outbreak of the Civil
War,1l There was a "noat little Church,"12 but most of the members evontually
moved away or associated with the Church of the Nativity, lacon. Bishop Grecn
officiatod in the formal organization of the Church at lacon, on June 3, 1856 5
The Bishop was again herco in 1859 and hold services in the Methodist buildinge
In 1870, the Church wes reorganized under the namec of tho Church of the Nativ-
ity,14 and received into the Diocese the same yoar,15 On Octobor 15, the samé
year, Bishop Green and the community met in a newly completed Church building,
at Bighth and West Strects, to pay honor to Robert E. Lee, whose funeral was
on that day,l6 The building was consccrated by the Rt. Rev. Charles Todd
Quintard, Bishop of Tennessee, on the Twentieth Sunday after Trinity, 187917
The Reve Richard Hines, rector of the Church of the liediator, Meridian, was

l. Church News, Brandon, February 1927, 10, J1857, 32.
JIB61, 45, 11le. JE8HE, "27: JI1BBS, 83
3. TThe Rev. Duncan Grayj, St. Paul's J1B60, 34; J1B61, 86,
Episcopal Church, Columbus, 1937, 23 12, JIB6I, 45,
insert after index. 186t d180T, 824
1744 14, JI8T0,; 27
2, 15464 (0dBT0; 544
22 184 J10T1,. 24
oo 17, JI880, 2bs
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holding scrvices at Macon twice o month in 1876, but reported, "I never hove
seen the Church in a worse condition than at the present."l  Therc were twenty
communicants reported in 1881,° by 1885, the number had inereased +to thirty-
six.9 Following this the Church scems to have declined for in 1899 +the Rev,
Charles lMorris roported the outlook "not at all promising."4 In 1900, the
number of communicants had decrcased to twenty.5 Bishop Bratton was here in
November 1903 and held services in the Presbyterian building. In his eddress,
at this time, the Bishop said, "our own Church was burned scveral years ago."©
The rebuilding of & Church was discussed,’ and by 1908 a building of brick was
under construction.® It was consccrated on Novembor 15, 1914,°% The following
year there wore twonty-four communicants reported.l0 The Church of the Notivity

inues todey as o mission, occasional services being held by the Reve J.

mdy Sykes, retired priest, living at Ifacon., The number of communicants re=-

ported in 1940 was forty.l

Service Record Book, 1913-1923, 1 vol., kopt in the Church by the Pricst-
in-charge; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Noxubee County, lincon, Deed Records, Book
83, pas 165e

13, *ST. MARY'S CHURCH, 1839-c. 1850, Laurel Hill, Adams County.

Organized 1839, in which year, on April 28, a frame, gothic Church was
consecrated by the Rt. Rev. James Hervey Otey.12 In the same year, St, liary's
Church’'was received into the Dioceseo13 The Church was built by W, Newton
lercer,14 on his plantation, Laurel Hill, about twelve miles below Natchez,
on the old Woodville road. Services for both whites and negroes were held
in tho Churchs The Reve Danicl H. Deacon, the first rector, in 1842, reported
his chief work to be "visiting through the week, the sorvants atbtached to the
cstates.™®  In the same year, 118 colorcd persons worc baptizod.l® Again in
1843, the Rev. Mr. Dencon spoke of his "principal and most important charge,
the colored pcoples"l? The following yoar there were twenty-six colored porsons
confirmed here by Bishop Oteys18 The building described as "a most beautiful
specimen of gothic architecture,"l9 is still standing, although not often usocd.
There has been no parochial orgonization since about 1850. The Rev: Thomas
Savage.was, probably, the last resident rector, being there in 1848,20 and the
1854 Journal stating that the parish has been "for nearly five years unoccu-

pied.T2L

14, *ST. ANDREW'S CEURCH, 1839-1895, Salem, Benton County.

Organized April 14, 1839, by the Rev. Colly A. Foster.?? In 1842, it

43, 124 1 J1839, 214
B54 13, J1839, 17,
62. 14, JIg4z, 36.
59. 15, TIbids
544 16, J18%44, 25,
57, Yorch 14, 1901, was the date 17.: Ibidse
fire, (Mr. Arthur G. lurphy, 186 1839 20,
lecon,February 1940). 19, J1848, 35,
82, 20¢ 01864, 22,
T4 21,  The Rev. Raymond E, lacBlain,
584 Christ Church, Tts History and
125, Traditions, Holly Springs,
insert after index. 1936, 5; J1839, 24,
J1840, 11§
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was reported that the congregation had "procured a building to their exclu-
sive use, within three miles from the towm of Salem,"l This place of worship
was described as a "log house, formerly used as a private dwelling."2 The
Church reported twelve cormmunicants in 1842% and wus received into the Diocese
in 1844,% A Church was reported under construction in 1846,5 being consecrated
by the Rt. Reve. James Hervey Otey, lMay 2, 1847,6 but in 1853, it was said to
be "not yet finished."7 By 1849, it had twenty-three communicants,8 and in
1852 the number had increased to thirty-nine.9 However, the Rev. William Fngg,
rector of St. Andrew's in 1855, reported, "this parish is not improving."
Tn 1857, the Church had eleven white and twenty-three colored communicants.il
In that year, Mr. Fagg reported, "I hold Divine Service in St. Andrew's Church,
on the first and third Sundays in each month, in the morning for the white, and
in the evening for the colored congregation. During the winter, on account
of the badness of the roads, and the great distance of most of the people from
the Church, I have given up the evening service at the Church, and instead,
thereof, have preached one Saturday evening on one plantation, and one Sunddy
on another,=--preaching the Gospel from house to house."l2 In October, 1857,
Bishop Green was here and reported, "this parish. . .has suffered much, by the
removal of several of its families; and., . .does not promise any immediate
increase."13 1In 1870, only nine families remained to support the’Church,l4
The Rov, John Gordom, in charge of St. Andrew's in 1876, reported,."the old -
Churoh throes.niles:frém Lamar, is in ruiks.. We worship in & school house."15
(At this period, Lamar was sometimes given as the address for St. Andrew's).
Theré were seventeen communicants in 188016 On December 27, of the following
year, Bishop Green was at Lamar and held services in the_home of A. M, Clayton.
St. Andrew's was listed as an organized mission in 1886,18 There weérc ten
communicents in 1890,19 and by 1895 the number had declined to five.20 By 1810,
active Church life here scems to have onded.

See: The Reve. Raymond E, MacBlain, Christ Church, Its History and Tradi=-
tions, Holly Springs, n. pr., 1936, 12 pps ki

15, ST. ANDREW'S CHURCH, 1839--, S, West and E. Capitol Sts., Jackson, Hinds
Countye

Orgenized in 1839 by the Rt. Rev. Leonidas Po1x?l with the assistance of
the Reve Daniel S. Lewis.?2 The first reported service at Jackson was held
by Bishop Polk in the lethodist building on the morning of April 16, 1839,
and "at candle-light" he "preached in the same place to a still larger con=
zregation."23 The Rev. Mr. Lowis sorved as the first recctor of the Church,
being at the same time in charge of the work at Raymond.?4 In 1839, the

T I8, 254 13, J1870, 58
24 307 14, J1876, 46
3. digacy sl B 15, J1880, 68
4, 2 404 16, 882, 26.
5. Ty T 17 8o
84 Ly M6s 18, 67,
19, 33. 19. L 08,
88, 20. .20,
20% 21 89 284
55, 224 B85 204
23, Y

43, 24, ;
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Church hed eight communicants.t Aftor the departure of Mre Lewis, the Rev,
George Weller of Christ Church, Vicksburg, visitcd Jackson, holding services
once or twice o month.2 The Eucharistic lights on the altar of the present

St., Andreow's Church are a memorial to the Reve, Mr. Weollor. As late as 1841,

it was reported that "this parish hes been much discouraged by the failure of
repoated attompts to obtain a pastor."3 The Rev. Norman W, Camp become rec-

tor in Decembor 1843% and romnined until 1845. In 1848, the Church reportod
forty-soven communicents,® but at that timo, whon the Rov. James V. Haskins

wos made rector,5 therc wos as yet no Church building, and services were held

in the City Hall.” However, a Church was orected at the cornor of Amitc and
North President Streots, in 1849,8 and consocrated the same yoar® on Jonuary 14,
The Rove Y. P. C. Johnson took charge as rcctor,l0 and the following year an
orgen was installed in the Church at the cost of 5.5600.ll The Rev. Meyer Lewin
became rector in 1858,12 hoving resigned the rectorship of St. Andrew's Col=
leg013 (sce Entry l-ds. In .1855, the Church lost its roctor and scveral morme
bers in onc of the many yellow fover cpidemicse On October 28 of that year,
Bishop Groen officiated at the Church and reported, "this wos the first time
within six weeks that its doors had becn opened. During that period the goats
hed mede & shelter of its vestibule and silence and dempness had reigned with-
in its wall, The congregetion was small in number, inasmuch as many familics
had not returned to the citys. « .not only was the pastor missing from the
Alterts side, but seven of the flock,"!% A new rectory was erccted in 1860,%°
During the War between the States, St. Andrew's was burned by the Federal forces,
On June 1, 1869, Bishop Green assisted by the Rt. Rcv, Joseph P. B. Wilmer of
Louisiana, laid the corner-stone of a new Church at the corner of Congress and
Copitol Strects.l® In 1870, the Church was in use,17 clthough it was not wholly
completeds It was consecrated on Moy 14, 1878,18 1In spite of the ravages of

war, the Church had been able to repggt 106 cormunicants in 1868,19 and this

number had increased to 129 in 1875, The present Church was bogun in 19032
end wos consécrated May 20, 1917,22 The Church, of buff colored brick, in the
gothic style, has a square tower, contoining chimes, the gift of Richard Howard
Grecn.” There is a large circular window of the Ascension at the rear of the
Church, as well as several memorial windows and other memorial furnishings. A
two~story brick parish housc at the rear of the Church was built in 1923-24.
The rectory, a large, two-story framc rcsidénce, is at 705 North State St.
In 1925, the number of communicants was 749,23 and by 1940 had increcasecd to
917.%% "The present rcctor is the Rev. Valter B. Capers.,

Parish Register, 1877==, 3 vols., (vols 3, 1934==, docs not include
nembers, which are kept separately); Vostry Minutes, 1877--, 5 bound and

41, 136 dl 896 18 19
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loose~leaf volumes; Register of Services, 1 vol,, 1935--; Marriage Register,
1907-1934, 2 vols. (vol. 2, 1922-1934, contains confirmations for 1922-1934
ond one marriage entry for 1930); Financial Records, 1924-1931, 1 vol.; St.
Andrew's Church Women, 1934--, 2 loosc-leaf notebooks, containing papers and
minutes of the work of the Church Women of St. Andrew's Church; Parish Cash
Book, 1939==, 1 vole; List of Current Members, kept on loosec=lcaf cards in 1
file box; all these records kept in the parish house by Mrs. J. W. Willioms,
secrotary; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Hinds County, Jackson, Land Deeds Record,
Book 18, p. 288; Book 25, pe 572-578; Book 27, p. 48; Book 30, pe 304; Book
40, p. 150-151; Book 100, p. 116; Book 116, p. 492; Chancery Clerk, Hinds County,
Raymond, Land Deeds Record, Book 18, p. 438; Book 31, p. 178; Incérporation:
Secretory of State, State of Mississippi, Jackson, Incorporations, Book 3, p.
466,

16, CERIST CHURCH, 1839~--, Van Dorn and Randolph Sts., Holly Springs, liar-
shall Countye

Organized in March 1839, by the Rev. Collay A. Foster of Temnessec, with
"Nine Episcopal families, besides many single gentlemen and ladies."l It
was reported in 1840, that a Church building of the "Gothic order," 30 x 40,
was under construction.? Tho Church was completed and an orgon installed during
the following yoe.r.5 It was coasecrated on February 4, 1842, by the Rt. Rev,
Janes Hervey Otey, of Tenncssco,4 and admitted to the Diocese the same year.d
In 1843, the Church reported fifty=cight cormunicants.® The Rev, David Cook
Page vias placed in charge in 1846, In 1847, the Rove. George . Sill began his
duties as rector of Christ Church,8 where he remeined until 1856,9 A new Church
building was completed in 1858 0 ¢nd consecrated on Qctober 7 of the same yooar.
The Rove Joseph Holt Ingraham became rector in 1859,12 Church life sufferod
heavily in the War between the States,1d due to the almost constant fighting in
north kississippi. During most of this period the Reve_ Jomes Thomas Pickett
was rector, coming to Christ Church on January 1, 1862,1% The Rev. lir. Pickett
"ministered constantly to the Church in Holly Springs except when absent a part
of two summers in rendering services as Chaplain in the Armics of Generals
Broxton Bragg and Joseph E. Johnston,"!® Union Soldiers, however, used tho
building for a stable, and the altar was overturned and used for a trough in
which to feod the horses.l8 The organ was dismantled and the pipes used in
leading a parade through the tovmel?  After tho close of the wor, the United
States govermment granted to the parish the sum of $600 to holp poy for the
demages doncel8 1In 1867, the Reve. William M, Pottis becamo roctor.19 At this
time Christ Church entorcd upon a long poriod of sustained growth. In 1870,

16. 1264 - ID e n 0w
24, 13, Church Nows, Jure 193Q.
10, 14, Tho Rov, Jamos Thomas Pickott,
13, "Autobiography of Rev. Jomes
28, Thomas Pickett, De D." Diocosan
234 Library, Battle Hill, Jackson,
40, e da
34, Ibid,
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thcrg were soventy-two commmicants,l and 1895 the number had incréased to
122 In 1885, a rcctory was conplotoc at 700 Randolph St.8 In 1940, the nun-
ber of communicants was nincty.% The pres nt rcctor is the Rev. Raymond E.
iacBlain.

Soc: The Rove Raymond E. MacBlain, Christ Church, Its History and Trodi-
tions, n. pr., Holly Springs, Mississippi, EEN9BE oTHY PDe
T Rorister, 1839-~, 3 vols., (1842=1855, mombcrs only; 1860-1862, and 1883
nissing); Vestry Minutcs, 1883=-, 2 vols.,, all rccords kept by the rector,
except Vestry lidnutes II, kept by Mr, John Craft, clerk. Deeds: Chancery
Clerk, Marshall County, u”llJ Springs, Decd Records, Book F, pp. 82, 149, 150;
Boolk H, ppe 215, 29k

by
7

17. CHURCH OF THE ASCENSION (formerly The Holy Evangelists), 1840-=-, Commerce
and Center Sts,, Hernando, DeSoto County.

Organized in 1840 by the Reve Phillip P. Alsten of lfemphis, and tho Rev,
Andrew Motthews of Alabama.® The first resident clergzyman was the Rev. Andrew
lotthows.® He was transferrcd to tho Diccese of Ifississippi in 18417 and had
cherge of this Church, then knovn as the Church of the Holy Evangelists, until
1859,8 He received no salary from his congrezation,9 ond supported himsclf
Ly farning.lo When the parish was admitted to the Diocese in 1848, its nome

as tho Church of the Ascension, that name replacing the oripginal

Reve lir, Matthews rcported to the convention of 1851 that, "the
sorvices have becn kopt up as regular as the statec of my health vould adnit."12
The first Church building was erected in 1842, o "small but neat little
Church."18  The number of cormumicents at that time was reported as 11,1% The
Rov, lMr. Motthews was succeeded in 1859 by the Rev. M, Leandor Wellcr,15 and a
new Church was purchased on Cormerce St., in the following year.16 In 1860,
the Rev. lir. Weller'!s first report dcclared conditions "not very encouraging,"
and added that therc were "prejudices against the Church, as due however to
the nombers of the congregation, I.nost choerfully stote that tho Church build-
ing hes been purchased, all necessary repairs made; a set of cormunion service
hes been provided and the parish is ontirely out >f debt."17 In 1867, follow=-
ingz the ruinous years of Civil War, the )gr¢sh had fallen into sad decay.lU In
1875, the prospccts of the Church wore still not encouraging and the financial
concition "much to be regretted. "9 1 1881, Bishop Grebn held sorvices in
the Presbyterian Church, the Eplscop“l oullalng boln "no longer fit for uso, 120
The Diocesan Journal stated in 1885, that the parish oS cntlroly deade o oNO
service, no vostry for yoars."?l Thurc was a revival of Church life after that
tine, however. In 1886, the Church was listed as wn orgenized mission, and in
1690 the number of communicants was rceported as 17. 2 Thc present oullﬂlnu,

J1870, 56, 125,
J1895, 73. 13.
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on Cormerce and Conter Sts., erected in 1388, has been described as "a beautiful
Church in a fine position,"+ It is o frame building, of rothic design. a
copper electric cross was placed above the roof in 1930, The Rev. Aubrey llaxted
of Tunice (Entry 115% serves the Church today. The cormunicants reported in
1940 were scevecntcen,

Sce: lirse liary Stovenson liitchel, "The History of Asconsion Ilission;"
1939, copy in Ilississippi Department of Archives and History, New Capitol,
Jaclzsone J

Woniants ssionary Guild, 1934--, 1 vol., kept by Iirsy Robért Percy Cooke,
Sece=Treas., at her héme; Deedy DeSoto County, Chancery (lerk, Hernando,

Deed Rccords, 10, p. 286,

18, ALL SAINTS! CHURCH (formerly St. Paul's, later Grace Church), 1040=-,
liain Ste, Grenada, Grenada Countye

Organized as St. Paults Church, 1840, by the Rev. Andrew Mbtthews, of
Hernando, and admitted to the Diocesc the sane year.3 The nearest priest was
the Reve Guy Re Pinching, living ot Charleston, but his recport of missionary
activity for that yoar makes no montion of Grenada.% Lay delegates fron
Grenade to the convention of 1840 were James A. Girault and Nathaniel Howard,®
The orgzanization seems to have beon prenaturc for the convention of 1342 dropped
St., Paul's from the rank of parish.® It is likely, however, that occasional
services continued, and it is certain thet Bishop Green was making visits here
as early as 1055,7 Those earlier services were held in the Presbyterian® or
H{ethodist? buildings. Present organization dates fron 1870, when a lot was
bourht and a building progran undortaken.loThis'organiz&tion wes effected under
the leadershin of the Rev, David Starke Goodlow,ll a graduate of the University
of North Carolina,lz who geve one~half his time to Grenmada.l3 The diocesan
convention received the recorgenized Church as Grace Chapel in 1870,14 and the
next year the first Episcopal Church building in Grenade was sufficiently
finished to De usedel® This building, of frame construction, stood on the
present sites In 1373, the convention approved the change of nane to All
Saintst,16 the now building having alreacy been consecrated by that name on
January 16,17 In 1375, the parish reported 55 comnunicants.l8 A "handsome
zothic cottage,"l9 at 727 liain Strect, was completed as a rectory for the Reva
Stephen Herbert Gicen, youngest son of the Bishop?0 in 1875, Bishop Groen
rojoiced, in 1878, "to sec the success which alrcady crowns efforts to cstablish
a Parish School."4l Sone sixty boys and jirls were cnrolled in this school, *
the location of which is not now knovm, consisting of "a large and central lot,
with a commodious school=house upon it,"22 Subsequent Journals mal:e no mention

1y TR ; 14
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of the school, so it covidontly did not long continue as a parochial enterprise.
The present Church, of brick, in the gothic style, with a lofty steeple and
bell was officially opened by Bishop Thompson in 1890, There arc several
memorial stained-glass windows as well as other memorials among the interior
furnishingse The parish reported 103 communicants in 1940.2 The present rec-
tor is the Reve. Charles S. Liles, T

Sec: Anonymous, "Episcopal Church Orgenized in 1870," Grenada Sentinel,
Moy 24, 1929

Parish Register, 1870-~, 2 vols., kept by the Rev. Charles S. Liles at tho
rectory; Vestry Hinutes, 1900--, 3 vols., (include financial records), kept by
the clerk lirs C. C. Catheys. Deed: Chancery Clerk, Grenada County, Grenaca, g
Deeds, Book A, p. 216; Incorporation: Secretary of State, State of Mississippi,
Jackson, Incorporations, Book I, 909-91l,

19. *TRINITY CHURCH, (originally St., John'!'s), 1842-c, 1875, Pontotoc, Pontotoc
Countye

Orgonized 1842, by twenty or more persons, "chiefly, mentlemon of high
respectability and influence," under the leadcrship of the Rev. George ',
Freefion, rector at Colunbus.é The Church was rcceived into the Diocese in
1844,4 ot which time, the Rov, Francis L. Hawks, of Holly Springs, wms in
chorge.® 1In December 1851, the Rev., Joseph Holt Ingrahem was here and ro=-
organized tho Church as Trinity Church.® In 1852, the Rev. Thomas B. Lawson
was living in Pontotoc and conducting a schoole? In 1854, the condition of
the Church was given as "encouraging,"8 Mre Lewson, at that time, was pgiving
his whole attontion to the Church.9 He also, reported a lot boughtel0 In
1857, Bishop Green reported that, "The intercsts of this parish have sensibly
suffered, by the removal of lir. Lewson to Okolona., . .as they have a large
and cvery way eligible lot for the purpose, they are desirous of érccting upoh
it, & neat and becoming place of worship, that which they now use, being held,
by them in joint ovmership with one of the denominations,"ll In 1867, Bishop
Green reported "a few faithful members" and he, himself, was visiting Pontotoc
annuallyel? Four yoars later there were twenty-threc comunicants 15 with the
Rev. Henry Canova Harris, missionary résiding in lieridian, serving themn,14
After the death of lir, Harris, in 1873,l little is hecard of this Church, and
it seems, in a short time, to have become extincte

Decd: Chancery Clerk, Pontotoc County,Pontotoc, Deeds, Book 10, p. 451,

20, CHURCH OF THE EPIPHANY, 1834~--, Hermonville (formerly at St. Elmo),
Cleiborne County.

Organized in 1843, by the Rt., Rev. James Hefvey Otey and the Rev, I'rod-
cric W, Boyd, rector of Christ Church, Vicksburg,16 and located at "what is
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called lcCaleb settiement."l In 1844, Bichop Otey spoke of a “small Charch"
naving been efocteds? This building was comsecrated by him on’April 19, of
the same year,d and the congregation reccived into the Diocese,% with a member=
ship of ten to eifhteen commicants.® The Rev. James S, Greene wos the first
scttlod clorzymnne® At that tine, moasuros werc talen "by the poople to oroct
suitable buildings for the nminister and his fanily and for a schools"! 1In 1849,an
organ was purchased for the Church, costing $350. Bishop Green visited here
on January 11, 1857, and reported that "this Parish has been in a state of trial
for some time, I now hope that its difficulties are at an end, and that by
uniting with Grand Gulf, they may Soon obtain a pastor, and give him a comfort-
able support."9 On March 10, 1860, the Bishop confirmed nine white persons and
five colofed.t0 In 1868, the Church was reported as being "in on improving
condition,"1l but by 1872 had somewhat deoclined, "owing in great mcasure to the
impoverished concition of the country."12 This period of decline continued, and
in 1881 it was Peported that, "this little flock consists of only three or four
worthy families, the remmant of a once prosperous Parish,"13 At this time, the
address of the Church of the Epiphany was usually given as St. Elmo,1%4 that
being the name of the nearest railroad station and post office. It was reported
in 1887 that & "new nission has been begun at Hermanville,"15 five miles south-
west of the Church of tho Epiphany. DBishop Thompson visited Hermanville later
in the year and spoke of it as an "unorgenized nission,"16 At that time he
confirmed four pcrsons.17 The remaining members of the rufal Church of the
Epiphany eventually joined with the mission at Hermenville, to which place the
Church building was likewise removed. ~In 1897, Bishop Thompson "officiated in
the old ruinous Church of the Epiphany, rchebilated[siclas a new Church in
Hermonville."18 Therc is today nothing left at the original site of the Church
except the old graveyard, with a few grdves and tumbled stones. Epiphany rc=
ported forty=threc ccrmunicants in 1900,19 but by 1925 thesc had dropped to
sixteen,20 THowever, it has continued as an active nission., Today it is a
part of the Bolton Field, being served by thc Reve Val H. Sessions of Bolton,
The number of communicants reported in 1940 was twonty-fivc.21

See: Janes F. licCaleb, "ily Rocollections of Claiborne County," Port
Gibson Reveille, July 28, 1921, i

Parish Register, 1 vol., 1842-1888, 1938=--, kept by the Rev. Valentine
Sessions, Bolton; Minutes of liissiomary Committes, 1 vol., 1940-=-, kept by
Ir, William lcCalob, Carlisle, Miss.; Financial Records, 1938=-, 1 vol,, kopt
by Mre William HcCaleb, Carlislo; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Claiborme County,
Port Gibson, Deeds, Book 2, pe 91; Book 3~C, p. 20%4; Book 3-H, p. 5013 Book
3-K, p. 1l4; Inéorporation: Séeretary of Stato, State of Hississippi, Jackson,
Incorporations, Book 2, 11=13,
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2le ST. JOHN'!S CHURCH, 1844~--, Glen Allon (Loke Washington), Vlashington
Co un'cy-

Orgénized in 1344, by the Rt. Rev, Jomes Hervey Otey, assisted by G. Ge
Skipwith, and other planters of the Mississippi Delta,l Bishop Otey found
"every disposition manifested favorable to the ercction of a Church and the
support of a ninister."? The first sorvices werc held in a tenporary, " frome
Church on Lake Washington.8 Soon after the orgenization of St. John's, the
Rove William T, Leacock settled hérc as rector,4 and the Church was received
into the Diocesc, 1848,° In 1852, $3,000 was raised for the erection of a
new Church’building and $1,000 for a rectory.6 Bishop Otey visited here on
Jonuary 28, 1855 and reported "The beautiful Gothic Church, bogun by the
liberal pcople last summer, will be, when conpleted, one of the most finished
and tasty structures ndot only in our Diocese but in tho whole Southweste"7
This building of brick, in the sothic style, was located at the south end of
Loke Washihgton, on the same spot as the orizinal Church,8 and was consecrated
on April 5, 185749 Howevor, Bishop Green was herec in May 1869, and spoke of
the Church as boing "unfit to be occupied having been so thorouzhly defaced
and defiled during tho loto ware"10 In clambering over those ruins the Bishop
foll and broke his armell Tho status of St. John's was roduced from perish
to nission in 1882,12 and by 1892 it was listed as an unorganized nission.l3
Since 1936, St, John's has been reorganized, and at present is served by the
Rev, Janes Sessions Butler, of Hollanc‘.&lc.lé Services arc held twice monthly
in élgrick union Churche The number of cormumicants reported in 1940 was forty=
tvoe i

Parish Rogister, 1933==-, 1 vol., kept by the Rev, James Sessions Butler,

Hollandale; Woman'!s Guild Minutes, 1939==, 1 ¥ol., kept by lMrs. Willion Te
Touchberry, Glen Allan; Deed: Chancery Clerk, Washington County, Greenville,
Deed Records, Book U2, p. 135.

22, *3T., JOHN'S CHURCH, 1845-c. 1865, Wakefiocld, DoSoto County,

Orzanized in 1845 by tho Rev, Andrew Matthows, missionary in the north-
ern part of the State,16 A Church building and a school weré crected in
1847,17 Tho Church building was "a noat little frame Church, with Gothic
windows, and of o sufficient sizc for the congrogation,"18 located in the
country %20 niles S. We [Se E.] of Hornandos"l9 In addition to the Rove lir,
lintthews, the Rev. Chauncy Colton, of Iarshall County, visited St,. John's,20

1, Bet Sl Tho Rev, Janmes Se Butler,

2o i Hollandalo, February 1940
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but lr. Colton removed to Louisiane in 1855,1 and Ire latthews had retired by
1860, Without a priest-in=-charge this S““ll rural Church was unable to sur-
vive thc unsettling conditions of the Clv11 Wor, and was inactive by the close
of that conflict,. -

Decds: Chancery Clerlk, DeSoto County, Hernando, Deed uCCOr\a, Boolz L, pe
213; Book H, pp. 422, 452-453; Book J, p. 123; Book G, pe. 89

2%, ST IWRK'S CHURCH, 1846--, Church and Second Sts., liississippi City,
Horrison Countys
Organizod 1046, 3  hAdnitted to the Diocose in 1858.% Probably the first-
scttled clergyman was uhO Rev, Jomos S. Grecne, who came to liississippi City,
frow Claiborne County in 1846 ancd remainecd horo until 1849.% There is local
dition of Ep 1scopa1 serviccs in a logzg Church, but whether this was ar
nplscogal Church or sinply o building used by all is not kmovm. Bishop Green
assisted by Dr. Thonas S. Savapge held services in the hotel of "Dr. Teagzarden,!
August 7, 1861 In June 1855, after visiting here, Bishop Green wrote,
"Every year writnessos the coming of more and more families from the neighboring
cities ancd up-country, to meke this either a place of sojourn for the summer,
or a permcnent residence, Amonyg them arc sone already in commexion with the
Church, as well as others kindly disposed to its interests, . .the Rev., Charles
Whitall, late of Now Orlcans, hag just been engaged."? The membership consist=
ed of four commmicants in 1859, The first Church building was erocted on
the site of the present rectory in 1860, 9 end comsecrated in ln ay of 1869, 10
The Reve Les Yo Jossup of Louisiana, who was teaching in the school of Dre
Thonas Sevage of Pass Christian wos in charge of the Church at this tine,ll
The number of cormmunicants, by 1871, had incrcased to twenty-threc.l2 Jefferson
Davis was onc of two lay delegates from this parish to the Diocesan con- _
vention of 1878413 The status of the Church was changed in 1882 from parish
to nissionel%4  After a few years of slizht activity the mission was reorgans -
izad in 1908¢1° The Church building was noved to its present site on Second St.
in 1924, and remodeled in 1930, The building is of white, frame construction
of sinple, colonial design, in a.good state of repair. A rectory was built
facing the boach, at the rear of the Church in 1924, The prosent pricst-in-
chmrTc is tho Rocv, Robert W, Emerson who has served the Church from Gulfport
since 1929,16 The Reve Robert E, Grubb, retired clergymen, assists in the
rorlz of the nmission. The nurbér of CQJJUHICMALo in 1940 wﬂu thirty~threeel?
Vestry Iii nuteo, 1857-1860, 1 vol., kept by the Registrar, Capte. Thonas
Shields, Battle Hill, Jaclison; Church Reﬂlster 1888~~, 2 vols., kept in

31, 11, d.
31, 12, J18 394
S N8B0 12 1By J1u78, 10, Sce also Entry 35,
128 14, J1882, 56
2 However, the Rev. Janes 154 . WJTG08E 81
Angel Fox made visits to the coast 16, JI1929 ,171
section as early as 1828 (JluES 6 17 J19fO, insert after index.
J18b25 15¢ Dr. Willian Teozardons
18566, 14,
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Church by the Rev. Robert W. Emerson; lfissionary Comnittee Minutes, 1928==,
1 vole, kept in’the Church by the Rev. lr, Enerson; Deed: 'Chancery Clerk,
Harrison County, Gulfport, Record of Deeds, Book 7, p. 458,

24, TRINITY CHURCH, 1848=--, 2nd and Church Sts,, Pass Christian, Harrison
Countye

Organized in 1848.1 At least three clergymen held services in Pass
Christian at this time and had a share in the organization of the parish,
Nemely, the Reve James Greene, (Sge Bntry 23)living at Mississippi City,2’
the Reve Je Ao llassey, of liobile,” and the Rev, William Giles, of Naotchez.%

4 building Cormittee raised $600 in 1848% to erect a Church. Lots were donated
by John Henderson, and in March, 1850, the present buildin was completed and
in uses® The parish was rgccived into the Diocese in 18650,7 and the buildiﬁg
consecrated July 31, 1851,° The number of comrmmicants at that time was 22,
and tho parish grew steadily, "there being no other housc of worship on the
Pass, excopt &4 Ronish Chapels"l0 The first settled clorgyman was the Rev,
Thomas Savage,ll who also conducted a school for girls (Entry l-c), onc of the
earliost roferences to which was made by Bishop Green in 1855, when he roported
that "the school of the rector is in a highly and deservedly prosperous condi-
tione"12 He resigned his rectorship in 1857, to devote his tine wholly to the
schooleld In 1867, Bishop Grecn wos gratifiod "to find that the increase or
zrowth of the congregation had called for a considerable enlargement of thoir
Church edifice and that the work was near its completion, and. . .was very
thankful to witness also the truly prosperous condition of the Rev. Dr. Savage's
Schools"1% The Rev. Dr. Sevage left Pass Christian, in 1861,15 but returned

in 1866,16 to take charge again of the school as well as to be rector of the
parishe. Dr, Savage had jone to Virginia, however, by the convention of 1868.17
The condition of the parish wos "as prosperous as’could well be expected conw-
sidoring thet its ministor, the Rev. lir, Phillips,l8 has to giﬁf the larger
portion of his time to his school," wrotc Bishop Green in 1870, 9 The 1life of
the parish seomed to recover slowly, however, from the depression of the war
years, for in 1881} Bishop Green spoke of tho "gradual decline of the Church
there."20 Fifty-six cormunicahts had been reported in 1880321 these had in-
creased to ninety-five in 1905,22 and 116 in 1910423 The original Church
building, still in use, is a frame structure, of gothic design with stoined=-
zlass windows, and numerous nemorials anong the interior furnishings. Situated
in a grove of spreading live-oak trees the Church is adjoined by its ovn centirye

1. JlgB0, 48, do. I 145 1718584894

2, Trinity Church Register, I, l. 15, J1867, 43,

3. dpidy 16. J1867, 68.
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old cemetery. The Rev. Warwick Aiken is the present rector. The nuiber of
cormmunicants in 1940 was 164, i

Parish Register, 1849--, 2 vols,, (vol. I, 1849-1922, also conbtains
some Vestry liinutes); Vestry liinutes, 1839~-, 2 vols.; Sunday School Recofds,
1849==, 2 volse; all the above rccords, oxcopt the current Vestry Hinutes,
are kept in thé Church by the rector; lir, Wolters Terrell keeps the current
Vestry Ilinttes, 1915--, 1 vol,, in his home at Hondersén Point; Deeds: Chan= -
cery Clerk, Harrison County, Gulfport, Record of Doods, Book 4, p. 276; Book 6,
Pe 39

25, GRACE CHURCH, 18480~-, East Peace Ste., Canton, liadison County,

Organized in 18483 by the Rove Elijah Dovming, and adnitted to the’ diocese
the same yeare® By the time the diocesan convention of 1849 assembled, the
parish hod as resident priest the Rove Edward Fontainc.?  Unusual, for the
Episcopal Church, is the cntry in the Parish Registoer, under date of August
23, 1058, recording the baptism of thrce whitc and several colored persons
by immérgion in Batchelor's Creok.® Scrvices werc held in "the old Methodist
Church,"? 141 E,. geace Ste, until a new building was begun in 1851° and con=
secrated in 13563, This building, although largely rebuilt in 1886, is still

in use and is the oldest Church building in Cantons It is modified gothic
architecture, with a steople and bell, and of frome construction. The interior
is well furnished, with stained-glass windows, a brass pulpit, and a handsome
altar w ith furnishings of brass. The present rector is the Reve Elnathan
Tartt, Jre, who’lives in the rectory ot 132 E, Center St, The twenty’ cormu-
nicants of 1849,8 had increased to fifty-seven by 1870,9 and, in 1940, were

roported es 125,

Séc: Mrs., A. K. Foote, "History of the Episcopal Church," liadison County
Herald, Centon, liiss., larch 23, 1934, ; :
T Véstry liinutes, 1853=1939, 2 vols., 1353-1865, kept by lirse Corrine’
Parker, Secy. & Trecfisurer, 22 BEast Peoce St.i 1926=-, 1 vol., kept by llr.
Hoffman Shackleford, Secrotary of thé Vestry, 207 Bast Peace St.; Parish
Rogister, 1843--, 4 vols., 1340~1869, 1 vol., kopt by lir. Ben E, Jonos, Vestry-
non, Liberty and Peace Sts., 3 vols., 1869=-~, lept by rector, at rectory,’ 132
East Contor St.; Grace Guild, 1926~-, 1 vol., kept by lirs. Corrine Parker,
Socy. & Treasurcr, 220 East Peace Ste; St. Agnesd Guild, 1926--, 1 vol., kept
by lirse Catherine llackintosh, Secy. & Treasuror, 447 East Center St.; Bratton
Guild, 1925«=, 1 vols., kept by Ilrs. Virgil Gordon, Secy. & Trcasurcr, 105 E,
licadeny Ste; Sunday School Record, 1926=-, 1 vol,, lept by lirs. Coérrine Parker,
Trcasurer, 220 East Peaco St.; Finaneial Records, 1927--, 3 vols., kopt by lir.
Leon Bailey, Trcasuror of the Vestry, 212 E., Peacc St.; Financial rccords fof
1058-1865, kept in with Vestry liinutos; Deed: Chancery Clerk liadison County,’
Canton, Land Deeds Récord, Book N, ps 22. Incorporation: Secrectary of State,
State of llississippi, Jackson, Incorporations, Book 1, pp. 834-836,
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26, *ST, PHILIP'S CHURCH, 1848-c., 1900, Kirlwood, lindison County.

Orpganized liarch 9, 1848,1 by the Reve Elijoh Dovming who came to Kirkwood
from South Corolinne? This organizetion was an outgrowth of services pre-
viously conducted in the home of Col, Vim. I.ZcWillic,8 and it was largely through
the cfforts of the licWillic and Andorson familios that this rural Church was
organized.4 Stops were immediately talken for the ercction of a Church, which
was comploted and in use by August 3, 1849,° The Church was constructed on
zothic lines, of hand=hewvm, solid timbers.® The dimensions, not including the
vestry, which was attached, were 36 x 20 x 17 A only lire Dovming, but
nost of the parishoners constituting this Church werss South Carolinicnse In
1648, the parish was admitted to the Diocese,8 and in 1349 reported 15 commum.
nicants.? The spiritual welfare of the ncgroes, in ante=bellum days at Kirkwood,
was not neslecteds In the Church gollery seats were provided for them, and there
are many reforences in the parish records of baptisms and marriages of the
slaves, In 1351, the house and land of Ilajér Vaughn was purchased for a’rcc=-
tory.lo A parish school was built, in 1349, and conducted by the rector, the
rectory serving as boarding house for the students, the wifle of the rector
usually ossisting with the teachingell In 1857, the strongth of the small par-
ish was woakened by the renoval of one of tho largest and most active fanilics,12
By 1860, & revival of Church life was evicenced by the report of Bishop Green,’
who was "gratificd, not only at finding this rural parish in healthy condition,
but at witnessing the prosperous statc of the rcctor's school,"13 The school
continued to operate even through the war years, 1061-1365,1% In 1373, the
dilapidated condition of the Church building necessitated holding services in
the rectory. Then the rectory was sold, and with the proceeds, the Church was
reroofed,15 By 1390, the community of Kirkwood had so dwindled, numerically,
that the activities of St. Philip's had largely ceased,

Vestry ifinutes, 1848-1338, 1 vol; Parish Register, 1840-1893, 1 vols;
these records arc in’the possession of 1iiss Louise Dinltins, groéat-grand=cdaughter
of Gove Vime lic¥fillic, at the Li6sby residence, East Central St., Canton. Dcod:
Chancery Clerl, lladison County, Canton, Decd Books, Book 1i, p. 710.

27, ST, JOHN'S CHURCH, 1848«=-, Cormerce Strect, Aberdeen, lionroe Countys

Organized the londay after Easter, 1848,16 by the Rev. Edward Fontainosl7
Aberdeen had been listed as’a missionary station by the Journal of Genoral
Convention as carly as 1833,18 and occasiodnal services may have becn helds
The Rove George e Frecman, from Columbus, wes certainly coming here by 1042,19
In 1047, the Rev, David Cook Page, fron Holly Springs, roported to the Diocesa

=

|
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J1848, 14, : ' 3 { 39,
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Convention that he had orgenized a Church in Aberdeen,! The Rev. Edward
Fontaine, who_had been temporarily at Columbus, settled in Aberdeen after Jan-
wary 1, 1848,2 and cffected o permancnt orgonization, admitted to the diocese
by the Convention of that year.°® The parish has been active since its organiza-
tion, with occasional brief irregularities in the services when without a res-
ident clorgymen, notably during the last two years of the Wor Between the States,
The present building, begun in 1851,4 under the rectorship of the Rev. Joscph
He Ingroham,5 is the only building the Church has had, and is the oldest Church®
building in Aberdeen. This building, which is of brick, is in the gothic style,
with a tower séventy foet highe® The Rt Rev. Willianm Mercer Green, first bishop
of the Diocesc, conscecratcd the Church on November 16, 1859.7 The boll in the
towor was telzen down during the Viar Between the States to be made into cannon,
but the war ended before it was thus used, and it was later rehunge There are
numerous nenorial tablets and stained-glass windows in the Church dedicated %o
early roectors and nembers of the parishe. The present rector is the Rev. Charles
Granville Hanmilton. The twelve communicents listed in 1851,8 had inereased to
seventy=-two by 1885,9 and in 1940 were rcported as twenty—fivo.lo

Parish Register, 1850=--=, 1 vol., lzept in lionroe Banking and Trust Co., by
the Rev, Charles Hamilton; Service Record Book, 1913-1917, 1 vol., kept in the
Church by the Rev. kir, Hamilton; Financial Records, 1930=--, 1 vol., kept by
J. Sidney Hopliins, at Lamm=-Carter Herdwarc Co., Commerce St., Aberdeon; Deeds:
Chancery Clerlz, lonroe County, Abercdecen, lliss., Deeds Record, Bool 15, p. 282;
Book 43, pe 566; Bool 46, pp. 390-399; Book 50, p. 2463 Book 63, p. 262; Book
H, p. 390; Incorporation: Secrotary of State, State of llississippi, Jackson,
Incorporations, Book 2, 646=647T.

28, ST, LUKE'S CHURCH, 134C~-, College St., Brandon, Rankin Countye.

Orzonized 1843 and admitted to the Diocese the sane yeor.ll The Rov.
lmos Cleaver vwas the first rector, serving the Church fron Jackson.l2 At
first the parish secms not to have flourished for Bishop Grecn roported a
reorganization in Jay 1054413 Pirst scrvices wore held in "a public room used
in cormon by verious denominations and for other than religious purposes, "'14
The first Church building occupied the present site on College Strcct. It was
of frame, gothic construction, begun in 1368, and consecrated October 29, 1870,
In that year the parish reported fifty-four communicents.l6 Hard tines, howcver?
caused a decline in the parish and temporary cessation of services around 1376
Services, resumed after only a brief lapse, have continued uninterrupted to dates
The parish was rcduced to the rank of an organized mission by the council of
1921,18° The present building, a ncat, frame, structure, with three memoricl
windows, dotes from 1925, the first building having been destroyed by fire,
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Today, as a part of the Bolton Field, the parish is served by the Rev, Valentine
Hunter Sessions, with rcsidence in Boltons To the council of 1940 the nission
reported forty-two cormunicontsel

Scc: Tho Rove Valentine Hunter Sessions, Short Histories of St. Luket's-
Episcopal Church, Brancdon, llississippi; St. liark'!'s Episcopal Church, Raymond,
lississippi; Ste liatthow's Episcopal Church, Clinton, liississippi. [Press
of the Brandon News, Brandon, 1937j.

Perish Register, 2 vols., 1370--, kept by the Rev. Val Sessions, Bolton;
liissionary Cormittee ifinutes, 1 vol., 1919--, lept by lir. Wayne Howatrd, College
Streot; Womants Guild liinutes, 1926=-, 1 vol., kept by the Secretary, lirs,-
Anthony liorrow, ot her home, Felicity St.; Sunday School Financial Records,
1925==, 1 vol., kept by lirs, Jemes Morris, at her home on 1ill Road; Church
Financial Records, 1925--, 1 vol., kept by the Tréasurer, ILir, Wayne Howard, at
his home on College Streoct; Deed:  Chancery Clerk, Brandon, Rankin County,
liss., Land Decd Records, Book 24, ppe 4£57-458.

29, *CHURCH OF THE CRUCIFIXION, 1848-1868, Ivanhoe, Yazoo (originally in

" Issaquena) Countys

Organized 1848, by the Rev, Norman W, Camp, of Yazoo City,2 as a Church
for negrocs, with Charles Snyder, as Senior Warden.,3 The Church was located
at Ivanhoe, the plantation of llrs George 5. Yerger of Vicksburg, and vas
"about eight miles" from Yazoo City.% Begimiing with one communicant, and
twenty=-three baptized persons the first year,® the parish increased to twenty-
two communicants by 1858, The construction of "a comfortable, and tasteful
log Church" was begun the year of the organization, being completed with bell,

tower, end chancel in 185147 This Church was served bX rectors from Trinity
Church, Yazoo City, notably, the Rev, Vm., Parker Scott® and the Rev, Johha
Fostore? The Civil War, especiclly unscttling to the colored population,
brought an end to rogular Church life here, and the Church of the Crucifixion
wos dropped from the Diocese in 1860,10

30, CHAPEL OF THE CROSS CHURCH, 1849=--, innandale, lindison Countye

Organized 04911 undor-the guidance of the Rev. John F. Young, who came
into the Diocese from Texas,l? and with the financial aid of lrs,. liarparet
Johnston, ovmer of Ammandale Plantation, who was interested in the erocction
of a chapel for her family and slaves, a building was begun the year of orpaniza=
tion.13 Bishop Green wrotc that the chapel was "indebted for nuch of its
architectural completeness to the taste and unremitting labor of the Reve lire
Younz."14 Built of briclk, burned on the ground and shingles riven by slaves
of Anmandale Plantation, it contains nany of the original furnishings, donated
by lirs. Johnstonel5 Tho altar and Bishop's chair are of hand cerved oak,

insert after index, 9% J1BHTH S
Blis 104 J1868 414
30 11, Tirs. Famay Thompson, Annandale,
31, 3C liarch, 1940,
124 J1B8BY, 28, J1862, 224
60 13, Irs. Fanny Thompsons
20, 14, J1362, 22,
16, Irs. Farmy Thompson.
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The comploted chapel was consecrgted by Bishop Green, October 19, 1852,1 and

1itted to the Diocesc in 1853, Following the services of the Rev. Ire
Youn;, the first roctor, the chapel was served Ly the Rev, Henry Sanson, o
native of Nottinghan, England.3 Bishop Green has thus recorded a service,
for the slaves, during lir. Sensomts rcsidence: "At an afterncon service for
the ncgrocs, the Church was crowded by a throng of apparently eager listeners
and devout worshippers. Every required response was pronptly and correctly
mades The 'Confession' and 'Lord's Prayer! and 'Creed! were ropeated dis-
tinctly and with one voice, and the anthem  was chanted with a heartiness
that night well put-to-shame the listless indifference with which nany a
congregation amongst us leaves that most beautiful and devotional part of
our stated worship to a band of hired singers." During the Civil War, the
Rev, Thomas S. Savage who had been conducting a girl's school, at Pass Chris-
tign, took over the work at Annandalee® The unsettled war years had a
depressing effoct on the parish, and in 1066, Bishop Grecn wrote that he held
scrvices here for "o small congregotion of whites in the forenoon and an equal
number of blacks in the afternoon., It was no light grief to me to sec the
change which a few short years have nade in this neighborhood. liost of the
former friends anc members of the Church have removed avay, their places
being filled by strangers who are not lilkely to tale nuch interest in koeping
up the services of the Church."® 1In 1868, the Rov. George C. Horris became
rector here and soon had wmdervay a short-lived school, the Annandalé Train-
ing School for tho cducation of young nen preparing for the mgnistry.7 }re
Harris left Ammandele in 1871, and did not return until 1882.° Due to the
declinc of members and irregularity of services, the Chapel of the Cross wa
dropped from the Diocese, by the Council of 1903, and was inactive for several
yearse.9 Héwever, in 1906, the Rev, Edwmrd licCrady, of Canton, was holding ser=
vices here,10 and the Church was definitely rovived under the leadership of
the Rev. Val Sessions, in 1914, end received as a nission the same year, with
the address as Ingleside,l2 since which time services haove been repgularly
nointaincds The mission teday is o part of the Bolton Field of which the Rev,
Dr, Sessions, of Bolton, is_rcctor., The Chapel of the Cross reported thirty-
seven cormunicants in 1940,

Church Register, 1919=-=-, 1 vol., kopt by the Rev, Val Scssions, Bolton;

Deed: Chancery Clerk, lladison County, Ceanton, Land Deecd Records, Book N, p. 5CC.

3l. GRACE CHURCH, 1850~-, Viashington St., Carrolton, Carroll County.

Orgenized by the Rt. Rev. Yillian lMercer Green, in April, 1850,14 and
adnitted to the dioceso, 1861.19% The first settlod ¢lergyman wos the Reve
John Charles fAdams, ll. D., doacon, in charge in 1861,16 but who resigned in
the following year to enter the Confederate army.l? Prior to 1861, sorvices
were held as frequently as nissionaries and the Bishop found possible,
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Sometines service was held in the courthouse,l at other times in the Presby- -
terion buildinge? The corner-stone of the présent building on Vashington St.,
was laid by the Rt. Rev. Hugh liller Thompson,3 and was conpleted by October
26, 1884, when Bishop Grecn made a visitation.4 The style is gothic, the walls
brick, and there are threg stained-glass, memorial windows, This building was
consecroted liny 30, 1906.° There is a onc-story frame rectory next to the
Churche The Church is served from Irmanuel Church, VWinona, (Entry 75) of which
tho Rev. Pipes Jones is 1ector, The tyenty-three cormunicants listed in 10616
had increased to thirty-eight by 1005,7 and in 1940 there were thirty-two.S
See: Frances Eggleston, "Grace Episcopal Church," Carrolton Conservative,
July 13, 1934, e i
Vestry linutes, 1864-1922, 1 vol., kept in home by the Senior Warden, lir.
Orman Kimbrough Gee; Parish Register, 1804~-, 1 vol., kept in rectory by the
Rev. Pipes Jones, Winona, liss.; Sunday School Records, 1926--, 1 vol., kept
in Church by lirs. Hallie Sims Egpleston, superintendent; Childrents Iissionary
Society Records, 1903-1914, 1 vol., kept in vestry=-room at Church, by lirs,
Egsleston; lfinutes of the Council of Church Yomen, 1398~-, 2 vols., kept in
home of lfirse. Egjleston; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Carroll County, Carrolton,
Misse., Deeds, Book 9, p. 476 and p. 67C; Book 10, p. 80 and p. 762; Book 16,
pe 754; Incorporation: OSecretary of State, State of Ifississippi, Jackson,
Incorporations, Book 2, pp. 543-544.

32, *8T. JOHN'S CHURCH, 1850-1910, Larly Grove, lLarshall County.

Organized in 1850, by the RevI Thomas B, Lawson of Pennsylvania® and
received into the Diocese in 1351, In 1852, upon the departure of the Rev.
1r, Lawson, the Reve. William C. Stout, of Arkansas, but residing ncer Barly
Grove, was placed in charge of St. John's,1l 1ir, In¥well Wilson had offored
part of his estate to support a clergymon and school,l2 and in 1851, a brick
parsonagc was built and a parish school, kmowm as Wilson Hall, was opcned.ls
In 1852, the Church had eloven commwmicants.l4 The membership was worshiping
in a log house,l8 but it was roported thot, “the congresetions arc good and
constantly incroasing."le In 1853, a brick Church buildinyg wes comploted.l
In October, 1857, Bishop Grecn wrote concerning St. John's, "this zeclous
little Parish continues in a healthy state, but I feel assured that its pros-
poerity and growth would be much more promoted by having a rcsident and settlod
Pastor, 4t great labor and sacrifice, thoy have, since my last visit, erected
& large and woll finished brick building for an acedeny for boys."18 The St.
John's Parish School, knovm as 'Wilson Hall, hed been erccted at a cost of $3,100,
and had an enrollnent of fifty pupils,lO with the Rev., James V. Rogors, roctor
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Archives of Churches

of St. Johntg,in chargesl Bishop Green reported in 13860 that, "“the condition
of this hither-to prosperous Parish is likely to be seriously effected by the
cmigration of some of its families to homes still further in the scuth ond
wests" In 1652, of thirty-five comrmmicants reported, scven werc colorcd.®
The Church continued to losc members by orisration, and in 1875, Bishop Green
was gricved at the negloct of the buildings and groundse* In August of the
same year, the Rove John Gordon becane rector of Ste. John's and he reported
that there had beon no services here for three years.® In 1090, the nission
reported nine cormmmicents.® In 1906, Bishop Bratton spoke of "the disco¥ery
of this fine old brieck St, John's Church."! Tho entire property, hovever,
reverted to the heirs of Haxwell ilson in 1910,° and Church and school passed
out of existence, E

Parish Register, 1651=1909, 1 wvol., kept by Capte. Tl H, Shields,
Battle Hill, Jackson.

33, *ST, CYPRIAN'S CHAPEL (originally St. James'), 1051-c. 1870, near Qlolona,
Chiclasaw Countye

In 1059, Bishop Grecn consecrated a chapel and cenetery for the slaves of
(9}
bo

Dr, John E. Tuckor and liajor Duncan Hubbard, under the nome of St. Cyprian's,
The building stood on Dr, Tucker's plantation. This chapel, or an carlior
building, was nentioned, bubt called St. James', as early as 1351, T8RO
the building was still standing, end Bishop Groen reported Dr, Tucker as
encdeavoring, in spite of the effcects of war and reconstruction, to keep alive
in tho colored foll "a love of the Church in which they were baptized and
trained M1l This v wever, the last refercnce to this Church.

4, CHRIST CHURCH, (formorly Ste Luke's) 1851~--, Carroll Ave. and Front Stse,
Bay St. Louis, (formerly Shieldsborough), Honcock County.

Organized in 18561, when Bishop Green, assistod by the Rev. Thomas S
Sawvege, of Pass Christian, held services 1orc,12 and confirned two personseid
Later sorwvices werc held by Dr. Savage end the Rev. Charles Vhitall.l4 The
parish was orpganized as St. Luke's, and admitted into the Dideeso in 1558,15
The next ycar the Rev. Thonas Ozanne; rector of 8t. Luke's,16 reported nine-
teon fomilics and soven commmmicents,l? $000 in hand for the purchase of a lot,
ond $900 for building a Church and rcctory.l8 He also reported the purchase
of a’lot of 137 feot frontage o»n Bay Ste Louis, and sne and one=half niles
deep,y19 with donation of matorial "anply sufficient" to build a rectory.

Ibid.; J1855, 3l. The Rev. Francis P. F. Duffy,

J1o60, 46 "History of Christ Church at
T2 Bay Ste. Louis, lfiss." The Church
24 News, Yazoo City, September 1013,
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next ycar he reported a Church in process of construction, costing $2,OOO,1
to be ready for consccration in June. He described it as "a neat Gothic
Structure," fifty-six by twoenty-six feet, fronting the Gulf of llexicoe? A
rectory was also coxmletcd.3 The Church and rectory were destroyed during
the Civil War and title to the lot somehow loste4 In 1069, Bishop Green s
here, and servicés werc held in the courthouse, The nuiber of cormunicants
reported in 1871, was twenty-once® In 180 » St. Luke's, Shieldsborough, was
dropped from the roll of porishes.6 Part of the congrogation moved their
nerbership to Grace Church, iaveland (see Entriy 85). However, the congregation
here was reorganized in 1392, as Christ Church,7 under the direction of the
Reve Nelson Ayerse8 A4 Church was built at Cedar Point,® on the Bay, which
location was soon déscribed as "unsuitable "0 The Church was readnitted to
the Diocese in 1901, as an orgonized mission.ll In June, of that year, Bishop
Thonpson visited Bay St. Louis and rcported "lir. Trout holds services in a
rented Baptist lleeting house, disused by them. He is to build a real Church
here. « othe VWaveland and Cédar Point congregations are to join in building
o brick Church."12 In 1905, a lot was purchased on the corner of Carroll
Avenuc and Front Strect and "the Church. . .rolled down the beach about a nile
from the old site," at Cedar Point, "to a far botter location."l3 The first
service was held in the romnoveted Church, on lhitsunday, Junc 11, that yoor .14
4 lot on Carroll Avenue, close to the Church, was purchaséd for the sitc of the
presont rectorye Christ Church was comscérated on July &, 1913.1%  Therc were
seventy=two cormunicants reported in 1915,16 oighty-threc in 1025,17 and eighty-
one in 1940.*% It is served today by tho Rev. Warwiclk Aiken, of Passé Christian,
Parish Register, 1904--, 1 vol., lept by the Rev. ilarwick Aiken, Pass ’
Christitn; Deed: Chancery Clerk, Hancoclk County, Bay St. Louis, Deed Record,
Book A9; ps 407; Incorporation:  Sccretary of State, State of llississippi,
Jackson, Incorporations, Boolk I, ppe 109=190.

THS CHURCH OF THE REDEEIER, 1051--, Bellman and East Beach Sts., Biloxi,
Hnrrison Countys.

Organized August 10, 1051, by Bishop Green assisted by the Rev. Thomas
Savapee+? In 1353, the Rev. Lloyd Johnson care to Biloxi to serve the Church,
Lut he died one weck after his arrival,?0 Bishop Green and the Réve Frodrick
e Damus, completed the organization of the Church, July 24, 1354,21 and it vas
admitted to the Diocese in 1059.32 The first settled clergyman - was the Rev,
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Charles lihitall, 1055-1050.1 First services worc held in the old Ilasonic
Hall, the Rove Whitall reporting in 1856, that "we have fitted wp very neatly
the basement of the llasonic Hpll which serves us. « «2s a. o .place of
worship."2 In June of that year twenty-one confirmed nembers were received
into the Churche® For a nwibor of years, beginning with the iar Detween the
States, services were more or loss irregular, being held by lay recders and
visiting ninisters.4 In 1374, a "beautiful Church" was erected,5 on the corner
of Howard Avenuc and Nixon Street, This building was loter noved to its pres=
ent location, adjoining the Church, on Bollman and East Beach Strects, and is
used &s a parish housce® 1In 1875, there were forty recported cormwumiconts;?
by 1890 this number had increased to 15,8 The present Church building was
orected in 138919 and described as the "most exquisitely beautiful Church in the
Diocoses"10 1t vms consocrated liny 13, 1592,11 by the Rt. Rev, Huch Iiller’
Thonps nel2 The Church vms built, by Harry Howard as a nomorial to the Revs
Robert Grohan Hinsdale, who was rector of the Redecmer, 1883-1839 &t which tine
the building was projocted.l3 Jefferson Davis, (see also Entry 7), during his
stay at Beauvior, worshipped in the old Church on Howard Avehue and Bishop
Bratton dedicated several memoricl windows to hin October 27, 1906,14 and one
to lirs, Davis, February 208, 1900.15 Thero were 334 corrunicants reported in
1915316 252 in 192517 and in 1940, 447,18 Tho present rector is the Rev.
Edvarcd Deliiller, :

Boe: Reve Edvard Albert Deliiller, "History of Church of Redeemer," Church
of the Redeener Record, Biloxi, May 5, 1923, pp. 3-4,
T 7T Church Ilinutes, 1921-=, 3 vols., kept by Secretary of the Vestry, lenry’
Roberts, at his home, G613 E, Howard Avenuc; Church Register, 1054--, 5 vols.,
kept at the Church by the roctor, Reve Edward Albert Delliller; Financial ‘Rec-
ords, 1854--, 5 volss, lzept at the Church by the Treasuror of the Vostry,
Charles Schurnhaun; Deed: Chancery Clerk, Harrison County, Gulfport, Deeds
Book, Book 23, pe 204; Incorporation: Seccretary of State, State of lilssissippi,

L

Jackson, Incorporations, Book 1, pp. $593=094,

36, ST. LARY'S CHURCH (Formerly Calvery), 1051=--, Tchula and Church Sts,
Lexington, Holmes County,

Organized” in 1651,19 as Calvary Churohé Holmes County, by the Rev. Ben-

janin Halstead,®0 assisted by Bishop Groen. It was adnitted to the Dioccse
the sane year.éz A Church building, located "about six miles fron Tchula,"25
was completed in December 1854,2' and the following year, on Deccerber 22, it
wes consecrated, by Bishop Green.2® The Rev. lir, Halstoad settled here, as
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rector of Calvary Church, in 1854,1 There were nineteen communicants re=

ported in 18572 and twenty~seven in 1867.° 1In 1876, the congregation was
reported "greatly reduced by deaths and removals, and the results of a disas-
trous war,"¢ In 1870, the Rev. lir. Talstead orgenized a mission, the Church '

of the Advent, at Acona,® This mission wes admitted to the Diocesc in 1872.
Services werc held hero once a month by lir. Hzxlsteads” In 1875, he roported
cight communicantse® About this time the 1life of the Church of the Advént

scems to havo conscds In 1878, the property of Calvary Church vms sold,9 and
tho procecds used t» build a Church in Loxington,l0 the building boing completed
the semc ycaroll The members of Calvary and the Church of the Advent moved
their mombership horc, Tane Church, hcncefo;th, was known as St. lMaryts. Om
March 14, 1879 tho Church wig_consceratodel? The kov. Mr. Halstoad roported
twenty communicanﬁi in 1880,13 and twenty-two in 1885,1% A new building was
complcted in 1899, 5 and consecratod by Bishop Bratton on November 28, 1906,16
The carlior building had been destroyed by fireel? The mumber of communiconts
roported, in 1905, was fifty—four.ls Ste Mary's is served today by the Rev,
Elnﬁfgnn Tartt, of Canton., Tho number of cormunicants listed in 1940 was sixty-
twoe .

Parish Rogister, 1851--1888, 1917-~, 2 vols.; Vestry Minutes, 1878=--, 2
vols.; Financial Records, 1926==, 1 vol., all records kept in low office of Mr.
Archie M, Pepper, by Miss Lelis Stansbury; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Holmes
County, Lexington, Dceds, Book I, p. 846; Book 2, ps 85; Book 18, p. 15; Inéor-
porations. Sccretary of Stote, Stote of Mississippi, Jackson, Incorporations,
Book I, pp. 891-892; L, ii,, 1878, p. 658,

37. GRACE CHURCH, 1851==-, Main and School Sts., Okolona, Chickascw Countys

Organized in 1851 by tho Rev, Josoph Holt Ingrohom.20 In its first jeaor,
the Church reported seven commuijcantsel A Church was completed in 1852,22
bej_ng consocroted June 17’ 1853,23 In 1852, the Church vras admitted to the
Diocesce?® The Rev. Thom:s B, Lowson, in chargo of the work here and at
Pontotoc in 1855,25 roported that "the poople in this community are genorally
absorbed in the pursuit of wealth, and take little interest in religious mat-
tors, unloss arousod by a spasmodic !'twe days mecting!, a few doys after which
they cure for none of these things."?® The Rov, Nr. Lawson roported eloven
communicants in 185727 -Whon Bishop Green wes herc in November. 18568, he found
the prrish "in every way, invigorated nnd improved."28 In the same yoor the
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Church was repaired and beautified.l In November, 1868, Bishop Green was ot
Okolona and held services in the Methodist building, the BEpiscopal Church
having been ruined by the War.2 There were twenty-eight communicants in 1875,3
but it was reported by Bishop Thompson in 1880 that there had been "no vestry
for years,"4 In 1886, Grace Church was listed as an orgenized mission,5 al-
though o few years later it was noted that the Bishop had ceased to visit
Okolona, and no servicecs werc held thore for some years.® It was made an un-
organized mission in 1891,7 ond an orgonized mission in 1908,8 A year later
o Church building was completed of brick, a replica of St, Columb's, Jackson,®
and was consecrated October 5, 1909,10 The following year the Church had twenty-
six confirmed membersll and fifteen in 1920.1° At presont, Grace Church is
served by the Rev. Charles Granville Homilton, rector of St. John's Church,
Aberdeen, The number of reported comaunicants in 1940 was fourteen.ld

Parish Register, 1909~--, 1 vol., last few pages containing provious his=
tory of Church; Service Record Book, 1909--, 1 vol., both kept by the Rev,
Charles Granville Hamilton, Aberdeén; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Chickasaw County,
Okolone., Land Deed Recordj.Book 97, p. 367; Book 98, p. 248,

38, ST. PETER!'S CHURCH, 1851--, Jackson Ave, and Ninth St., Oxford, Lafayette
Countye

Organized May 12, 1851 and admitted to the Diocese the same ycar.14 The
Rt. Rev. James Hervey Otey, acting as Provisional Bishop of the Dioccse, had
asked the Convention of 1849 to send a missionary to Oxford, he himself having
clready visitod hercel® The year aftor organization the parish Feported nine
communicantse1® The parish wms briefly, under the cherge, first, of the Rev.
Thomas Be. Lawson, missionary, living at BEarly Grove, Marshall County,17 and
then, of the Reve Chauncy Colton, rosiding in Holly Springs.l8 Tradition has
it that carly services were held in the Court House, and in the Presbyterian
Church,l9 The Rev. Frederick Augustus Porter Barnard, originally a member of
the faculty of the University of Mississippi and later its Chancellor, was the
first resident clergyman, taking charge in 1855, O 1t was during the tenuro
of the Reve Dr. Barnard that the present Church was built, and largely complcted
by 1860,21 a tall spire, part of the original plan, was not added, however, un=-
til 1893, the gift of Mrs. Alexander Pogues. In 1871, the land for St. Poter's
Cemetery, ot the eastern edge of Oxford, was conveyed to the parish by Col.
Jocob Thompson, & parishoner, for onc dollar,22 The rectory, built in the .. .
1880'5,23 situated at 113 S. Ninth St., was transferred to the Diocese on July
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7, 1883 as a rcsidence for the newly elected assistant bishop, the Rt. Rev., Hugh
Miller Thompson.1 Bishop Thompson designated Sts Peter's, the Cathedral Church
of the Diocese, and its rector as Dean,g this arrangement continuing until

1888.,° St. Potor's was thus for five yoars tho only Cathedral the Diocese has
hade The communicant strength of seventy=-three membérs at this time wos the
greatest the parish has roported.4 In November 1923, the parish become a mis=
sion.® The Church building, although énriched through the years by memorial
windows and furnishings, still appears, with the addition of its stecple, very
much as§ it did in’1860. It is of good gothic design, reputedly by Richard
Upjohn,6 in brick, with high, steep roof ond a rose window over the altar, There
were §ixty-three communicants in 1940,7 The rector is the Rev. William Mercer
Green, III. ;

Sec: Members of David Recse Chapter, Daughters’of the American Revolution,
"Some Eerly History of Lafayette Cownty, Mississippi," 1922, kept in the Li-
brary of the High School, University Ave. Oxford, 7

Thé Rev. Edward McCrady, "St. Peter's Episcopal Church," Oxford
Eagle, Oxford, December 16, 1937, Bt s

Parish Rogister, 1851=1881, and 1900=~-, 2 vols., kept by the rector at
the Church; Financial Records, 1851--, 8 vols., (records for 1851-1922 kopt
in the vault of the Bank of Oxférd) all in charge of the treasurcr, lr, Carl
Richafd Coors, Jr., at his home, Filmofe Ave, and Eighth St.; Deeds: Chancery
Clerk, Lafayette County, Oxford, Deeds, Book H, p, 373; Book N, p. 389; Book
BB, pe 92; Book FF, p. 62

.

39, *CHURCH OF THE ADVENT, 1852=-c. 1861, Washington, Adams Coumty,

Orgonized in 1852 and admitted to the Diocese the same jeare8 Occa- '
sional services were held in the chapcl of Jefferson College,9 usually by a°
clergyman connccted with the collegestO In 1854, the Rev. Charles Reighley,
then President of the colleze, served the Church as rector,t} The nuuber of
communicants listed at that time was fiftccn.l2 Bishop Green was hore in
March 1858, and reported, "the friends of tho Church in this place have, for
the last two yoars nearly, despaired of building up an independent end solf=
susteining parishe. There appears, however, at this moment, some botter pros=-
pect of attaining their wishoss. The Reve Mr, Millerl3 who has occasionally’
officiated for them kindly offers to aid in the rcsuscitation of tho Parishe14
In 1860, the Bishop wms again hore and held services in the Methodist Churchet®
It was roported in 1861 that "as soon as the present unsettled condition of
affairs shall have passed away, there will probably be ercctod by the congro=-
gation o tomple of their own."16 However, the War Betweeon the States dis-
rupted these plans, and after that timo the Church of the Advent scems to have
become cxtinct,

1% id., Book BB, ps 92. 10, Ibid., J1854, 23,

24 By 11y icgigna. 25,

3e iy Bs’ 124 18545 126 5
<8 s 63 13, The Rev. Benjamin Miller,
5. : 8is roctor of Christ Church,
6. Miss Kate Skipworth, Oxford, 1939. Church Hill,
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8o IBEEL BiS 15, J1860, 44.

9. JIT53, 72, 73. 16, JIB861, 58.




Archives of Churches

40, *CHURCH OF THE HOLY COMIUNION, 1854=-ce 1891, VWiarren Countys

Orgonized 1854,1 by the Revs Frederic W. Damus, "late a minister among
the Moravians,"? who undertock the spiritual charge of slaves on several
plantations along the lMississippi river, south of WVicksburg, notably those
of Diamond Placé, ovmed by Edmund C., Leughlin,and Hurricane Place, owmod by
Joseph E. Davis, brother of Jefferson DaviseS The work at Hurricanc Place,
however, was given up in 1860, owing to "the pernicious influence of fivé or
six negro preachors, who have becn allowed to counteract all my [The Rove iir.
Danus '} efforts."4 This loss was somowhat equalized by work begun at ®§irs,
Froelandts" in 1858.9 Chapels for the slaves were built or preparcd fron
existing buildings ot Hurricene and Diamond plontations,® as well as at Mrs,
Frecland's.! Bishop Groen reported Nr. Damus! labors, "earncst and untiring",8
Priested in Christ Church, Vicksburg, January 17, 1855,9 the Rev, Mr. Domus
continued to labor with the nogroes of Warren County ufatil forced by the Civil
War to move inland, to Newton County.lo After the War, the Rev, Edmund Charles
Laughlin, Jr., son of the owner of Diamond Place, continued this worlk with the
negroes and devoted his ontire ministry to it until his death in 1889:11 The
fifty-one cormunicents under the charge of the Reve Mr, Danus in 1858, forty
of whon wore colored,l? had decreased to five by the time the Reve Mre Laughlin
took charge after the warel3 Yot the Reve lir, Laughlin felt "very hopoful",l4
and, holding services in a farnm house on Diamond Place, had gathered ocloven
familics tosethor in the Church by 1871415 Although never officially admitted
to the diocese, the Church of the Holy Cormwunion had been making regular con-
tributions to the Diocesoe Finding this not possible in the pover#y of rocon-
struction times, the Church asked to be dropped from the rolls in 1873, 6 The
Reve Mr. Laughlin was self supporting,17 and contihued to hold services until
1889, as montioned, In 1891, it was reported that, "No sérvices are boing
held at the Chapel; ia fact, it is all covered with watér, and has been for
sometime."18 However, the Church of tho Holy Cormumnion, Glass, Werren County,
adnittod to the Diocese in 1899 (sec Entry 108) might woll be considerod a ro-
vival of this carlior Church, being only a short distance to the east,

41, *CHRIST CHURCH, Monticello, (1855-c. 1859), Lowrence County.

Organized in June, 1855, at which time Bishop Greén spent four days here,
and confirmed two persons.19 The Rove Jomes S, Greenc, was conducting a =
school in Monticello and serving as rcctor of Christ Church in 1857.2b lire
Greenc reported: "the services of the Church arc gaining on the pcople of
this place, beyond my most sanguine expectationss We have o’ good choir and
nolodeon."él The Church was adnitted to the Diocese in 18.‘37,22 and in 1858
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&4
roported cight comaunicants,l However, in 1859, although the parish had
acquired a lot on which to build,? lir. William Vammerson, Senior Warden,
reported the roctorship wvacant, no services since October 1858, and condi-
tions "not encouraging."® The parish seems to have become inactive after
that tine, ; ; ?

Deed: Chancery Clerk, Lavrence County, Monticello, Deed Records,

Book G, pe 4544 i o

42, *ST, JOHN'S CHURCH, 1855-1868, Amnandalc, (near Satartia), Yazoo Countye

Orgonized 1050, by the Rev. David Kerr, of Yazoo City,%4 and adnitted to
the Dicceso in 1855,9 Delcgates to the Convention of 1856, wore Robt. W,
Ewing,6 Martin 1, Ewing, and Jonathon A. Waimwmright, M. D., the later being
lay readeres’ The Church was located “about thirty miles below Yazoo Ci%g.“8
In 1857, therc wore sixteen communicants, cleven of these being colorcd,
Bishop Green secns to have held services here on séveral occasionseiQ The
Civil War brought an end to this plantation Church, and it was droppoed from
the D%gcese.ll However, an unorgonized nission was reported at Satartia in
1889,

43, *ST. THOMAS' CHURCH, 1856-1859, Egynt (formerly Pikeville), Chickasaw
Countys

Orgonized 1856, by the Reve Thomas B, Lawson, rector of Grace Churoh,
Okolonnel® The Reve Mr. Lawson, once cach month, héld services in Pikeville,
o distance of eight miles from Okolona and reported, "I havo good hope of
building up a parish heree Mr. Charles Gates and his son, Dr. Gatocs have
repairad an old house in which we worship and arc zealous in the cause of the
Church."1% The parish was admitted t6_The Diocese in 1857,15 In 1850, the
Church, thon listing two comnunicants,l6 was without a building and held
sorvices "under an arbor,"l7 The following year St. Thomes' united with
Grace Church, Olzolonaze

44, ST, JOHN'S CHURCH, 1856--, Ocean Sprinrgs, Jackson County,

Orzonized June 16, 1856,19 by Bishop Green,20 on his first visit to
Ocean Springse?l At this time there werc threec or four comnuniconts hore;22
The Reve Charlos Whitall complcted the orgonization of the Church’in 1358,
under the namc of St. Paul's.?® Aftor tho Viar Botweon the States, services
were irregular, until, in 1877, the Rev. Wi, Pe Browne undertook the carc of
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the Church as a part of his work in the Soacoﬁgt Mission,l Nelson Ayers, of
Bay St Louis, had charge of the work in 1892,% at which time, a Church was
built,® at a cost of $2,000, on a lot donated by W. B. Schnidt,4 and St.
John's was received into the Diocesc as a mission in 1901.° In 1905, the
Church reported twenty-four cormunicants;® in 1915, fifty;7 and by 1920,
the number reported was sixty-throe.8 The nission is listed today as St.
John's, having beon so called since 1877, and is served by the Rev. Edward
Ae Degillcr of Biloxi. The number of cormunicants reported in 1940 was forty-
four, ]

Parish Register, 1900p-, 1 vol., kept in the Church; (including occesional
Missionary Cormittee Minutes); Financial Records, 1900--, 4 vols., kept by
George Arndt, at his office, near the L & N Railroad station.

45, *[DEKALB| CHURCH, 1856~c. 1870, DeKalb, Kenper County,

Between 1856 and 1370 there was a small but active group of Church people
in DeKelb, Bishop Green visitod the tovm in 1856 and held services in the
Methodist building.lo Mrs, Ann He Hampton was a leadoer in the group of Epis-
copalians and the Bishop spoke of her as "not only a pious and intellizent
nerber, but one who is cearnestly and zoaloﬁle engaged in bringing others
to acknowledze and love of oure. . .worship."1 In 1861, there were three com-
rumicants, 2 and the Rev. Henry C. Harris, missionary in east Mississippi,
was living in DeKalb, in 1862, in & "comfortable Réctory,"l3 There wore
eight cormunicants in 1867,1‘x and, two years later, the Bishop reported "the
little flock at this place are warmly attached to the Church.®1® However,
after that date there arc few references to the DeKalb Church, and it evident-
ly became inactive through removal of its memberse. There is no evidence of a
name for this Church, which was never more than a mission.

46, ST. JANMES' CHURCH, 1856==, Washington Avenue and Broadway St., Grecnville,

Ylashington Countye.

Organized 1356, when Bishop Groen met at the house of "Col. Thos. J. linnly
scveral gentlemen who were friendly to the Church." At this time a lot was
offercd and subscriptions made for a building.16 The Rov. James Philson was
rosiding in Grecnville, ¢onducting a“"Classical School," and holding services
overy Sunday ot his homeel? 1In 1861, the Reve, John Wartrous Beckwith, later
Bishop of Georfgic, wos ninistering in Greenville and on Decr Croek,10 Bishop
Green, in"1869, reported the members, "thoush without a pastor for thé last
six years, still Taithful to the Church."19 A now organizatiof was offocted
and Ste Jancs! rcccived into the Diocesce?0 A Church building, framo, on
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gothic lines, with sguting capacity of two hundred, and was completed and
conseerated in 1672,1 on the south side of Main St., near Vizlnut. TUnder the
loadership of the Reve George Waldo Sticlmey, a "Femnle Institute was. ostab-
1ished" in 1871,2 in comméction with the parish. The Church building was
destroyed by fire in 13804,3 but was rcbuilt by 1806 on tho proscnt site? and
conscerated in 1887.,9 In 1093, the building was enlarged to its prosent
proportions.6 The enlarzed building was frame until 1919, when it was veneored
with brick and Sunday School rooms added,’ The cormunicants wero thirty-one in
1370;3 240 in 1595,9 and in 1940, 308 W10 Tho present rector is the Rev. Philip
G, Davidsone

Sce: lirs, Helen Finlay Holmes, "Episcopalians of 13839 Sharod Usc of
Methodist Church," Greenville, Democrot-Tines, August 31, 1933,

Parish Repister, 1804=-, 3 vols.; larriage Register, 1905--, 1 wvol.; all
volunes kept by the Reve Philip G. Davidson, at the rectory, 109 N. Broadway;
Vestry ilinutes, 1934=-, kept by Clive lMetcalfe, II, at the City Hall, }Main and
Shelby Stse; Minutes Young Vomon's Guild, 1921-1927, 1 vol., kept by Miss Graco
Evormen, 111 N, Hinds St,.; lfinutes Woman's Auxilicry, 1927--, kept by lirs.-
Norris L, lMayhall, 1302 Hain Ste; Deed: Chancery Clcrk, Viashinzton County,
Greonville, Deed Records, Book Y, pe 640; Book Q 2. ppe /D12, B3; Book T 2, De
5673 Book R 2, ps 214; Book M 2, pe 8583 Book G 8, De 769

47, ST, ALBAW!'S CHURCH (Formerly Church of the Nativity), 1857=-, Bovina
(formerly t. Alban), Viarren County.

Orzanized in 105711 by Bishop Green and the Rev. Janes A. Fox as the
Church of the Netivity and admitted to the Diocese the following yoarel? Mr,
Fox was living in this cormunity and had held services provious to the or=
ranizotion.,13 As early as 1856, and perhaps carlier, thé Bishop had visited
the conrreration, holding sorvices in a Baptist buildinge.+% & frame Church
was built in 185915 and consecrated on liay 5th of that year,16 The Rev,
Henry Sanson was rector of the Nativity during 185817 and again in 1061,+°
In January 18660, Bishop Greon roported that "the rapid srowth and prosperous
condition of this infant Parish is truly wonderful. . «Throe yoars ago our
Church was but little known in this regiones « enow a beautiful Temple, complete
in all its arrangenents, and well furnished for the worship of God, rears its
cross and belfry. « oliost of the fanilics have become constant worshippers
before its altar; and within the last twenty-one nonths forty-eizht persons
(nany of then heads of families) have roceived the rite of confirmation,"19
The mmber of cormunicants roported in this yoar was forty-six.?0 In 1861, the
Church was reorganizod ond adnitted to the Diocosc under the nome of Ste Alban'se

21
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The Chufch building was destroyed by Federal troops during the Civil War,:and
in 1363, Bishop Green refors to St. Albak's as "once beautiful indecd, but
with nothings now to mark the spot but a heap of mouldering and brokea stoncsa"t
In spite of this, the congregation seems to have héld together, and, in 1870,
the Church reported twenty cormunicoents,? In 1871, a new Church was crected
"on the site of the one destroyed by the Northern invading army during the
late War" at a cost of $1,200, $100 of which was given by St. Alban!s Church,
New York,® It was consecrated on February 27, 1880,% " St. Alban's reported
thirty cormunicants in 1880° and twenty-three in 1905.6 It became an organized
mission in 192147 There were forty-four cormunicants reported in 1940.8 St,
Alban's Church today is in charge of the Reve Valentine Ses$ions of Bolton.
Vestry liinutes, 1919=-, 1 vols., kept by Mrs., Alex Cook, Bovina; Parish
Rerister, 1857=-, 2 vols., kept by the Reve Valentine Sessions, Bolton; Fin-
ancial Records, 1919~-=, 3 vols., kept by lirs. Alex Cook, Bovina; Voman's Guild
Linutes, 1919==, 1 vol., kept by lirses Thomas V. Batéhelor, Bovina; Deods,
VWarren County Choancery Clerk, Vicksburg; Deed Books, Boolk LA, pe 635,

45, *CIURCH OF THE REDEEIER, 1357-ce. 1053, Coahoma Countys.

The Revs William G H1 Jones, of Kentucky,? settled as a nissionary
in Coahoma County in 1857, Encouraged by Col. Hs C. Charbers, who gavo’forty
acres of land, the Rove Mr, Jones organized o Church, sorvices boing held,
first, in "an old log=house," lator, at tho homo of Col. Chamborsell A
rectory and school-house werec also built by the generosity of Col, Chamborss
In 1859, tho Church applied to the Diocese for adnmission, but its application
boing incomplete, the application was denied.1?2  The Rev. lire Jones had re=- -
noved to Virginie about the time of ap;licution,13 and, probably as & result,
this first attempt to establish the Church in Coahoma County did not succeods
Aftor this denial of application no more was hoard of this Church,

CHURCH OF THE REDEEMER (formerly Ste Luke's), 1857--, Ne linin St.,
Sardis, Panola Countye.

Orranizod 1857.,1%¢ 1In 1060, Bishop Green reports holdins services here
"in the Presbyterian plcce of worship."1® At that tinmo Safdis was ono of
sevoral points ministered to by the Rov. I, Leandor Veller,16 residing at
Hernandoe.1? Services were interrupted by the Civil War, but formal organiza-
tion was achicved in April 1372, under the Rey. Viillian S. Spoirs,l8 and the
Church was adiitted to the Diocese that yearel9 A building, on N, lain Street,
was undertalon at once and was in use by 1373 O In 1275 therc wore 13 com=-
nunicants,?l and the noxt year, the Rev. Chaplin S, Hedges roported prospocts
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"inproved," the Church debt almost paid, and the congregation increased.l
Bishop Green on a visit to consecrate "their handsome Church," in 1879, was
too ill to officiate.?2 In 1890, thig building wes blovm dovm by a tornadoed
L new building was underwey by 1u91 at the same site, and in that year the
p;rlsh was recduced to the rank of an unorgenized nlSoloﬁ.S A-ain the Church

as aestroyeﬂ this tine by fire, in 1910, but azain it was immediately rc=-
bullt. Finolly, in 1932, the congreg tion had so declined that the franme
Church, in bad repair, qu torn down, “tho lunber used in building a rectory
at Cono and the altar installed in the Church at Betesville. The mission,
however, has retained possession of the lote The Church, still active, is
served by the Rev., Thomas N, Brincefield, of Conos. Twenty-six members were
reported to the Council of 1940,7 :

Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Batesville, Panola County, Decd Records, Book W,

pe 210; Church Lot Record Book, Ps Se

ST, IIARY'S CHURCH, 1858--, Enterprise, Clarke County,

Orgenizecd in 18 56,0 Bishop Green anc the Rev. Georgze Stewart holding the
first sorv1ces.9 The Bishop wrote that Enterprise at this time contained
nearly 2,000 inhabitants, nany of whom had nover seen a ninister of the Church,
"but all seemed gratified, end pave an carnest as well as rospectful wttcnulog 10
The Reve George Stowart the first settled clergyman, was in charge in 10601
At that time thé Church had a nermbership of eight or ten communicants.l2 In
September, 1869, Bishop Grecn reported, "The members ond friends of the Church
here are in rather o dispirited condition. « .1y brief annual visitotions are
the only ninistrations which they have enjoyed for several yéars. "13  The Bishop
laid the corner-stone of a Church building on larch 16, 1874,1% and this build=
ing was still under construction in 1587919 Services (ur1n~ this time were
being held in the Presbytorion buildingel6 The nurber of commmicants reported
in 13831 was thirty-eight, Ste liary's was adnitted to the Diocese in 1804, C
In 1886, the Church was flnally con‘lcted 19 The parish was nade a mission in
13869, 0’ and an Bgorranlzeﬁ nission in 1920,%1 Flftocn cormunicants werc ro-’
ported in 1925, Ste lary's is now served by the Reve Cecil B, Jonos of St,
Paul?s Church, leridian, The number of cormunicents reported in 1940 was thire-
toen, 23 7 - : f ]

[Church Régister], 1836~=-, 1 folder, 2 memorandun books, kept by the Rev,
Cecil Be Jones, at his study, 1114 23rd Ave., Heridian; Incorporation:” Sec=-
retary of State, State of Mississippi, Jackson, Incorporations, Book 2, ppe
699=700¢
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51, CHURCH OF THE GOOD SHEPHERD, 1353~==, (formerly Zion Church), Terry, Hinds
Countye

Ofjonized in the autimn of 1856, whon the Reve Hehry Sonson, of Madison
County, and his assistant, the Rev. Benjanin R. Smyser, asscmbled friends and
cormunicants of the Church and undertcok organization, obtaining a lot for a
Church building and $1,000, This origindl orgzanization, undér the name of
Zion Church, was perfected April 17, 1059,° end on January 29, 1860, Bishop
Green held services in a "new and beautiful little Church."® In 1067, this
building wes comnsecrated as the Church of the Good Shepherd,4 with fifteen
cormunicants,® Conditions, here, were roported as "very encourazing," in
107545 This Church had never been admitted to the Diocese, but in 1881, the
Council resolved that the parish be regarded as previously admittede’ Twenty=
eight cormunicants were listed in 1875° and in 1940, thirty-fives9 The parish
was nade an orgonized nission September 5, 1925,10 The Church today is a
nission of the Bolton Field, of which the Rev. Valentine Sessions, of Bolton
is regtore f : :

Parish Register, 16956--, 1 vol., kept by the Reve Valentine Sessions,
Bolton; lissionary Cormittee liinutes, 1923==, 1 vol., kept by lr. John Collins,
Terry; liinutes Woman's Guild, 1923--, 1 vol., keopt by liiss lMary Terry Hutchinson,
Torry; Financial Records, 1919--, 1 vol., kept by Mr. Warfield W, Hestér,
Terry; Deod: Chancery Clork, Hinds County, Jackson, Land Deeds Record, Book
30, e 331,

524 ST. PAUL'S CHURCH (Church of the liediator), 1850--, 12th St, and 23 Ave, ,
Meridian, Lauderdale Countys

Orgenized Novembor 24, 1058, At that time a parish under the nane of the
Church of the lediator was organized in Meridian, "the point at which the
tSouthorn Railroad! will soon intersect the 'liobile and Ohio Railroad', . .
though now containing not o half dozén houscs." Bishop Grecn reoported that
"one of the proprietors of the place, kindly offered me a site for a Church,"1l
Lbout that time the Rev. Georze Stewart bogan his worl as a missionary in

audordalc Countyel? 1In 1861, there wore four communicants, and some efforts
seen to have been made to erect a Churchs In that year the Rove Mre Stewart
reported that $700 had beon secured and "a very beautiful plan of a Church from
Henry Congdon of New York City" to cost 2,000,413 "This work would have bogun
before this but for the present state cf our cvuntry."l4 The Reve Henry Canova
Harris was placed in charge of the work in 106715 " In that ycor the nission
reported twenty cormunicantsl® and was said to be "deoply in nced of a Church
Blifice."17 Bishop Green was here in October 1372, holding services in the
courthouscet8 Previously, sorvices had been held in the Baptist building and
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in a schoolhouscs! The Réve Richard Hines becanc roctor of thé Church in
107442 The cornerstone for the new Church wes laoid on Merch 7, 1376 on the

lot that had bLeen occupicd by the schoolhouse,d and services wore held in

the finished Church on March 10, 1573.% In 1831 thirty-seven cormunicants
wore roported,d 140 in';CDO,8 and 135 in 190047 4 nission, St. Paul's, waa
orsenizod liny 27, 1901,° and had as clergymen the Rev, Peter Gray Sears, of

Ste Andrew's Parish at Jackson.9 Of the now mission it was reportcd that

"the Hebrow Congresation asked St: Paul's congrozation to occupy their spacious
and well=-appointed symagosue free, and thet it has been so occupied through

all tho fostivals of the Christian years , o oIt Lrings bLack the old cdays,
when the Church was born in the Synazo:uoc,"10 Bishop Thompson first visited
the Church on January 5, 1902, when he confirmed a class of ten pérsons, 1l

The nission was roccived into the Diocesc as o parish in Fobruary, 1902,12

The corner=-stonc for tho Church buildin; was laid on April 14, 1902 Ly Bishop
Thonpson, assistod by the rector. This wos onc of tho last public and official
acts of Bishop Thompson before his death in November of that yoarel3 The firiz
service was held in the finished Church on All Saints' Day, Novomber 1, 1902,

4 rectory mext to the Church was built in 1903, In April 1905, tho Rev, Willian
liercor Greon bocome roctorel® In this year Ste Paul's reported 102 cormu~
nicantsel6 On April 3, 1910, the indobtodness on the Church having been paid,
tho Church was consecrated by Bishop Brattonel” In that year St. Paul's re=
portod 275 confirmed morbers,1S and by 1920 the cormunicants ﬁEmborcd 346419
The Church of thc Ifediator and Ste Paul's wore mergzed in 1911, O-and since that

time have becn one Church under the ncne of Ste Paul's, In 1940, the reported
nuiber of cormunicants was 543.21 The present rcctor is the Rev, Cecil B,
Jones. ;

Sees John McKay Wilson, History d Py

Ny Dl BRSO T

Vestry liinutes, 1901--, 3 vols., kept in Parish-house by the treasurer,
Ir, Cherles Coors; Parish Register, 15667--, 2 vols., kept in parish-housc by
clerk of the vestry, lir. Gilbert Dempster; Financial reéords kept in with
Vestry llinutes; Amual roports of Sunday School, 1901-=-, 40 ¥ols., kopt in
parish house by Iir, Gilbert Dempster; Deeds: Chancery €lerk, Leuderdalo
County, lieridiocn, Dced Records, Book 9y pe 544; Book 39, pe 149; Book 110, p.
220; Book 123, pe %23; Incorporation: “Socrotary of State, Stote of Missis=
sippi, Jackson, Incorporations, Boolz 3, 18=19; Book 10, 383,
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ST, CLEIENT'S CHURCH (formorly St. Chrysoston's), 1859--, Front St.,
Vaiden, Carroll Countys.

Orgonized 1259 os a mission by Bishop Greemel The Rev. Benjanin Halstéad
scons to have held services herec about once a month in the Baptist Luilding,
and somc 6fforts wofo nade to ercct a Churche? Bishop Grecon nentions a v131t
to Vaiden,® in 1375, and it was roported in tho Journwl of éhﬂt year that Dre
Ce Tk Vaadon offorC( a lot and $1000, for building a Church.% The following
yoar, 1876, the builCing wes convlctcd ® and was consceratod undor the nomc of
Ste Cleneont'!s on December 3, 1001, The Church was adnitted to the Diocesec in
1683.7 Two years later it reported nincteoen cormunicants.® In 1900 the number
of cormunicants had inereasod to 37.9 In 1911, the Church was renovated, and
a now brick tower was addedsi0 The building is brick, of pothic architectures
The walls arc paneclled with local yellow pince Ilicmorial windows in the front
cnd of the Church cdepict scenes from the lifc of Christ, The nission is now
scrved by the Rev. Vinfred Pipes Jones of the Winona Parish., The nurbor of
cormwunicants roported in 1940 was twenty-oight.ll

Church Re;ister, 1920=-, 1 vol., ke¢pt by the Rev. il, Pipés Jones, at the
rectory, Yiinona; Deeds: Carroll County, Chancery Clerk, Vaicden, Deeds, Boolk 1,
ppe 125 and 128; Book 9, ppe 470 and 673; Book 4, p. 2993 Incorporation: Scc-
retary of State, State of ilississippi, Jaclzson, Incorporations, Book I, 903-
0090

54, *CHURCH OF THE SAVIOUR, 1859-1920, Liberty end First Streots, Osyka,
Pilke Countye

Orrenized Janvary 17, 138 5912 and adnmitted to the Diocesc the samo” ar.l3
The Rove Benjamin R. ’?vmor, Principel of "the Freo School" in Jackson,l% was
slacod in charzeel® Earlier in Auzust, 1057, Bishop Grecn had rO)ortoc that
"o fow ladies have rosolved, with God's hela, to do all in their power towards
providing thenselves with the ministrations of the Church. "16 A lot for the
Churéh and some money had been obtained by 1858,17 and on the 12th of Foqruﬂr¥
1359, Bishop Green held services in a new Church, "cormodious and beautiful.
This bullclnu wos conscerated on October 2, 186&,19 and in 1867 the number of
roported cormunicants was 36,20 In Moy, 1869, Bishop Green found the congre=-
sation'Ma rood deal deprossed fron their want of a Pastor, and fron other
causcss"2l  The mumber of cormumicents at that time was fourtoen,22 Things

—
°

Local tradition; Bishop Green's 125
Journals do not nention his being 13,
here so carlye 14,
J1569, 26, 1557
2251254 16.
17.
19, 164
234 19.
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secneC not to have inproved by 13076, when it was roported thot the "con=-
municants are few, poor and scattercd"l gnd azain in 1885". « Jthere 'is &
Church--no vestry, no one to care for it--nonc of our people."? In 18C2,
the status of the Church had beon changed from a parish to a nission,d bLut
by 1607, tho condition of t?e Church, according to a report of Bishop Thorp-
son, wvas sonewhat strongers® "The little tovm appears to Le reviving end I
think we'nay azain count upon Osykn,"® Iven so, for a muber of years follow-
ing 1333, there were fow reports from the Church, and by 1910, the nunber of
confirned nerbers had dropped to 4,8 In 1920, the Church was destroyod by
fire,7 since which tine the Church has bLeon inactivo, 7

Parish Rezistor, 1050=--, 2 volse, kept Ly the Rov, Josoph Ord Cresap,
215 Broadway, licCorb,

55, CHRIST CHURCH, 1859=--, larnolia and Baldwin Sts., Sumit, Pike County,

Orponized July 3, 1859, by the Reve Thonas D, Ozanne,8 of Jackson,? and
Boy Ste Louisel0 The Reve lir, Ozonne had bLeon "very nuch encourasod by the
larzo attendance" at sorvices held hore in Juno,;l and he returned in July,
for organization purposese A4 lot and lumber fér"a Church werc donatedel? °
The parish was admitbed to the Dioccse in 1862il° The Reve Joseph Spencer,
conducting a "Scleot Boy's School" at Jackson, 4 was in charze in 1660,15¢
and by 1062 was settled at Swmit and conducting a school thorcel6 This,
however, was but a bLricf conterprisce Ilre Sponcer died in 1863,17 and in
1364, Bishop Greoon reportoed the Church without sorvices for noarlX two yoars,ll
liontion of a lot and material for buildinc occured again in 1366, 9 but no
buildin; seens to have Leen bozun wntil June 2, 1871, whon Bishop Green laid
the cornorstonc for a Churche?0 The sone yedr this building, on the present
site, and a rectory, alrcady partly finished,zl werc sufficicntly completed
to be uscde®® This offort at building was reported to have left the conresae
tion, still inpovorished by the Civil Var, "exhausted finoncially."23 There
were about thirty-four communicants at this tince2% However, " the pérish con=-
tinued, and the Church was comploted and Gonsceciatod liarch 2l 1673,25 thouzh
partly destroyed by a tornado in Folruary, 1675,26 Bishop Green nentioned Col,
Yillian H, Garland as one of the lecacders in finishing the Church and naintain-
inz the parishe?? In 1875, cormunicant strongth was down to twenty-five,20
and in 1007, Bishop Thompson considercd the parish "defunct,"29 Actunlly, the
Church had never Leen officially recoived into the Diocesc and its first roquest
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for adnission, as a nission, was deniod in 1890, due to imcémplote papers of
applicationet At this tipe the Church had cijshteen nonbers,2 which had in-
crcased to forty Ly 1895, Carist Church was finally adnittod to the Dioceso-
in 1093.% Tho prosent Church Luilding, of conerete blocks, was built in 1924,
after a tornado had destroyed the provious building. The nission is served
from the Church of the lNediator, ILicComb, of which tho Rev, Joscph Ord Cresap is
roctors Therc wore fiftcon comiunicants in 19409 /
Parish Register, 1059-1928, 1 vol., kept by the Rev. dJ, Ord Cresap, in
his home, 215 Ne Broadwny St., LcCombj records since 1920, kopt in with those
of the Church of the lodiator, licComb, by the Rev, lir, Crosap (soo Entry 76).
Deed: Chencery Clerk, Pike County, Inznolia, Land Trust Deed Record, Book
26, De 44e

56,

To PAUL'S CHURCH (forfierly Ste Jude's and Christ Church), 1560=-,
aylor Street, Corinth, dlcorn County,

3
T

Orgenized in April, 1860, by the Reve 'illian ¥, Burton® under the name’
of St. Jude's., A4t the same time funds worc raised teowards building e Churche?
Sorvices seen to have been held at Corinth as carly as 1853, for in thot year
Bishop Groen visited the town and was surprised to find in o place not yet two
years old, on active and thriving population of more than fifteon hundrod
inhobitontse¥ Two years later, the Bishop vwotec that “active noasures are on
foot for the orcction of o Church,"9 By 1061, the Church was nnde up of five
fomilies with eisht comumiocants,i0 In 1871, tho numboer of commumicants had
inercased to thirty-onc,ll but it wes pointed out at that time that Ste Jude!'s
had nevor Leen officially reccived into the Dioceseel? The Rete Williom M
Burton wrote that a building 22 x 40 had becn erccted for $300, which was
"used as a School Roon =nd Church,. . o [6nd] furnished with a cabinct organ,
The impoverished condition of the people, however, is such that I have not
called upon then for contrilbutions of any sort, beyond that above naned, ™3
In 1374, the Rove Andrew De Drummond,of Tennessee, was nade rector of St
Tidets A T il building was Minproved" in 1377315 and, in 1501, it is
first rcferred to as Christ Church,l6 Ly which nane it wes Tmown for some yoarse
It was listed os an unorganized nission in 1886417 In 1905, there were twenty=-
five cormunicants and tho following ycar Bishop Bratton reported that Ste Paul's
"has ercetod a very pretty Chapele"l8 The nunber of reported cormunicants in
1925 vres thirty—one.19 The present Church, originally with a frame exterior,
was enlarzed and repaired in 1929 and is now of brick vencor construction,20
The Reve Chorles Granville Hamilton of St. John's Church, Aberdeen, is in charge
of St. Paul's, In 1940, the reported number of cormunicants wos twolve, 2l

L RIBgaN a0y 12y JlBT1 O
2. J1C90, 62, LS BB B8
S TEBBL dao JUBTES 2ile JIOT5, 164
4o ATNBDE L1220 j 1ok HETT, 5de
5. J1940, insert after index. 16, ) 404
J106T, B 17+ 918 O
Te J1C6L; 42, 13, 56,
S J1868, 434 19. facing 166,
J13G0, 31l. 20. { 50,
J1361; 85 21 insert after index.
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Parish Register, 1920--, 1 vol., kept by the Rev, Charles Hanilton,
Aberdeen; Fincncizl Records, somc scwttorun financinl rocords ore found in
the Parish Register,

57« *CHURCH OF THE REDELPTION, 1860-1063, Hinds County,

Organized 1560, by the Reve Edward Fountaine, roctor of Ste liark!'s Church,

Rayriond i First sorviccs werc held in a "School=-House belonrins to a rsontlo-

non,"? located "12 milos North-ilest fron Jackson, 10 miles North-East fron
Cllnuon, and 9 milos uouthJHcst fron Livingston,"3 At that tinme thero were
four familics and five coimunicants connectod with the Church. The convention

860 ecnitted the Church to the Dicccsce® In spite of the outbrealk of the
Civil Yiar a "rudo and temporary building. . [vﬂs] crected by the congres
tion," and Bishop Greoon hold sorvices theroin, in liay 1062,° However, bho Rov.
Lr. Fontairc, Lhuhor of the well-knoim 'ajor Lomar Fontaine, enlisted in the
Confederoteo Army, wherc he achieved the ranlz of Licutcne.nt--Coloncl,G and the
nowly orgenized parish wos without a pricsts On the return of the Reve lir,
Fontainc, after the war, he roported ih the Diocosan Journal, "This is onc of
the cdark and desolatec spots left in the destroying traclk of the armies of the
United States, almost a wilderness, where in 1060, the foir and fortile region
teened with obundeonce, and a hoppy and coutented population lived isnorant of
opprossion and want, lihite and Llack are now fomiliar with bothe"7 Tho parish
soonied not able to tale up its normnl life again, and it was droppod fron the
Diocesec by the Copvcntlon of luou.v

50 ST. STEPHEN'S CHURCH, 1060--, Ponola Ave., Botesville (formerly P&nola),
ronola Countye

Orpanized June 1, 1660,O at a nocting presided over by the Rte Rove
Willian lercor GreonelO Services had boen held as carly as 1855, when Bishop
Green, assisted by the Rev, Samuel J,. Haywcru, nissionary in North liississippi,
officiated in a lLicthodist buildingell The Reve M, Leander Heller, living a
Hernando, DeSoto County, wes in charge during 1260,12 the orgenization year,
and 1861, the yoar the parish was adnitted to the diocesceld In 1375, tho Reve
Chﬂnlaln Se Hodres, rector at Como, was holding services herc and rcaortea the

"prospects of the Church. « .¥ory cncourazing,"14 but "sadly in nood of Some
place to worshipe™1®  In 1382, St. Stephen's becone an orzanized nission,
rather than a Wuilsh.ls A frhﬂo Church with brick vlllqrs was conplofed in
1895.17 Therc worc fourtcen cormunicants in 13875, S cighteen in 1915 19 and,
in 1940, tuonty-¢1Vp.20 At present the mission is serwved from Cono, fivo nilos
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to the north. The rector at Holy Imnoconts Church, Como, is the Rove Thomas
Ne Brinceficld. ' ; ;

Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Panola County, Batesville, Deed Rccords, Book G,
p. 201; Book D, p. 273; Rccords of the Church are included with thosc of
Holy Innoccnts! Church, Como (Entry 73).

59, *ST, BARNARBAS' CHURCH, 1860-c.1865, Viarrenton, Warren County.

Organizod by Bishop Green and the Reve Froderick W, Damus (see Entry 40)
Fobruary 26, 1860,1 and admitted to the Dioccse the same year.z The Reve lr,
Domus was giving two services cach month to this chargeed The outbreck of
the Civil Wor and the years of military cétivity around Vicksburg seemed to
put an end to this newly organized Church, and aftor 1860, St. Barncbas! was
unreportedes If thore was a Church building no record of it is availablo,

60, *GETHSEMANE CHURCH, 1866-1869, Chatawa, Pike County.

Orgonized 1866, by the Rev. Albert Lyon, who was conducting o school for
boys at hotawne.4  The Church, closely connected with the school, wos admitted
to the Diocesc in 1866, as Gethsemane Chapel, over the adverse recommendations
of the Committce on Admissionse® The opposition was perhaps, due to the fact
that the communicants, thirtcen in number at that time, were chiefly students
of Mr, Lyon's School, and, hcence, temporarys The entire vestry of the Church’
consisted of seven students of the school,® Among these, was Jomes P. Lytton,
o candidate for Holy Orders, who was ordained deacon and priest in 1871,¢ and
threc other students looking forward to bocoming candidates for the priest-
hoode8 All candidates were given board and tuition by the schoole? The school
for the year 1866-67 had seventy-three students and was reoported in "full and
vigorous operation."10 However, the Rov, lr, Lyon had removed to Vicksburg
by 1869, as head of Ste Stophon's icademyell With the closing of the school
at Chatawa, Gethsemane Church declined and was dropped from the Diocese by the
Convention of 1869,

61, CHURCH OF OUR SAVIOUR, 1867--, Eastport St., Iuka, Tishomingo County.

Organized October 1867, when Bishop Green mode a First visit to Iuka
and held services in the lethodist building.15 In 1869, the Bishop recported
that the congregation was "zoalously exorting thomselves" to build a Chufche
A building was completod and consecrated by Bishop Groen on’ Scptombor 28,
1873,15 on Bastport Strect, on a lot donated by o Methodistel® In addition to
occasional services by the Bishop, the ITuka congregation was served in thoese
carly times by the Reve. Henry C. Harris,17 missionary, residing at Columbug.18

Ts 1860 40% 11e: J1869,
PAR R TS Tol o 12l ' IBage
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In 1800, the nmission recported 16 cormunicantsel Sorvicos in recont years have
been irrosulare 4t present the mission is served by the Reve Charles Granville
Homilton, of ibordeen, and reported five corrmmicants in 1940.2

62, TRINITY CHURCH, 186C0-=, Railroad Ave., Crystal Springs, Copiah Countye

Ormenized 1860, as a mission of Christ Churéh, Surnit,® of which the
Reve John Hewitt was thon rectore* In Iy, 1369, Bishop Groon wrote that
althoush communicents werec feow he hoped "that our services would be both
weleonc and profiteble to all the inhabitants of Crystal Springs."® Sor-
vices werce hold in tho Ilicthodist Luilding.e By 1870, o Church building was
undervay on linrion Avce, on a lot ziven by Willian H, Gé;land.7 The nission
was not officially adnitted to the Diocecse at this timce® and thore is no
rccord of later adnission, Sorvicos, however, continued, and seventoen comn-
nunicents were listed in 1075,9 The orizinal Church building had Deen in
bad repair as early as 1877,10 and o new onec was nocossary by 1001411 This
new, frame buildin-, with a stoeple bell, was partly financed Ly diverting
the salary of the Reve Upton Be Bowden, pricst-in-charpe, and doing without
the scrvices of a'clcr;ymﬂn.lz The Church, located on Railroad Ave., was °
conpleted by 1085,13 and an era of grovth sct in, Bishop Greon wrote that,
"this protty town has a futuro before it, as the contre of our orchard and
gerden district, and we have some stoadfast and faithful Church people, who
in the darkest day have nover lost hopce"14 1In 1900, Trinity llission reported
thirty=-cight corrmmicants ;15 in 1940, thirty=-throc werc roportod.lG The nission
is in thé charge of the Reve Homor Ellis Bush, of the Broolhaven Parish of tho
Redecrior, ; i ¢

Vostry Minutes and Parish Rezister (combined), 1352-=, 2 Volse, Vole I
(1502-1926, kopt Ly lirse liaria Hill llortmoor, at hor home, V. Goorgetown Ste;
Vole II (1926=-,), kept by Mr. Hugh Ray Lovinz, at his home, 205 N, Jackson *
Ste; Financial Records are ineluded with Vestry liinutes; Deed: Chancery Clerk,
Copiah County, Hnzlchurst, Dceds, Book JJ, ppe 565=566,

63 ST+ STEYHEN'S CHURCH, 1060=-, King Strect, Hazlchurst, Copiah Cownty.

Orzonized lay G, 1863,17 ot which tinc Bishop Groon visited Hazlchurst
and held scrvices "in o now and as yot unused Prosbyterian Church", In 13872,
St. Stephonts was adnitted to the Diocescell Sorvices werc ustally hold by
visiting clorgynonel9 In 13875, therc were thirty conuunicants,zo but during
that sanc yoar whon Bishop Groon visited the Church, he was "gricved to find

NS e o L Iy 106220

2¢ Jl940, insort aftor indoxe 12, J1033;, 63,
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this late active and vigorous Parish in a deprossed condition."l St. Stephonts
wes listed as an unorgénized mission in 1391,% and the Church wes not agein
very active until 1909, when Archdeacon George Gordon Smeade was placed in
char:c.3 The original building, erected in 1073, was restored in 1886,4 and
agein in 19264 The Church is of frame construction and nodified gothic design,
with stained=-glass windowss. The present priest-in-charge is the Reve Honmer
Ellis Bush of the Brookhaven Parish, In 1940, the reported number of commu-
nicants was thirty-soven.® i :

Vestry lMinutes, 1907-1930, 1 vol., kept at the Church by lirs. Tuck Pitts,
Clerk; Parish Registor, 1907=1939, 2 vols., kept by lirs. Tuck Pitts, Clerk;
Financial Records, 1903-1939, 1 vol., kept by lirs. 'fade Lowe, Sccrotary and
Treasurer; Deed: Chancery Clerk, Copiah County, Hozlehurst, Decds, Book BB,
pp. 302-303.

64, *CHURCH OF THE HOLY COMFORTER, 1363=-1906, Dry Grove, Hinds County.

Organizecd 1868, and a freme Church built and consecrated Novermber 29, the
same year,® "throuzh the adnirablc devotion of a few zealous ladics, and the
zenerous aid of our brethren in the North."7 The Church was admitted to the
Diocese by the convention of 1069, at which time the Rev. David G. Gum vwes
living at Dry Grove and in charge of the parish.9 Twenty=-five cormunicants
were reported in 1370,10 The 1ifc of the parish was well-nigh extinguished
by the severe yellow-fever cpidemic of 1270, "no parish in the Diocese having
suffered so much, in the loss of its nerbers, "1  Services wero irregular §
for sonc yoars followins, and in 1502 the parish became a nission.2 In 1099,
attempts to sell the property were not consunated, and services in the Church

were revived by the Reves David Eldred Holt 1% 1In 1906, the Church was destroyed
by fire, and the life of the nission scemed definitely to have ended,l% How-
ever, title to the land and adjoining cenctery, in which lie several of tho
victins of the 1C78 epidemic, is still wvested in tho Diocese. (For information
rezarcing the Bishop Green Training School conducted at Dry Grove, sec Entry

Chancery Clerk, Hinds County, Raymond, Land Dcecds Record, Book
De 5954

CHURCE OF THEE REDEENER, 1360--, East lionticello and Davis Forc Sts.,

Brookhawven, Lincoln County.

Orsanized 1363,15 as o nission of Christ Church, Surmit, of which the
Rev, John Hewitt was rector. Secrvices wore first held in the buildings of
various denominations, or in the court-house.i8® In 1372, Bishop Grecn wrote
in his Journal, "A worthy member of the llethodist comnunion generously pre=
soentoc. To me onc of the most eligible lots in the whole place for the orcction
of a Churchs"}7 This lot was added to by purchaso, and on poart of this

T Rl R 106 J1LT0, B2,

2. J1091, 35, Tlg 1879420,
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property the present Church building, begun in 1878,1 and fitted up and re-
paired in 1690,% was erected. The Rev. Villion P. Browne, was probably
conducting services here in 1876,5 anc_was certeinly in charge by 1870,

The cleven cormunicants listed in 1860 had increased to twenty=-six by 19206
and in 1940 there were fifty-nine.,” The prosent rector is the Rev. Homer

E. Bush, living in the rectory at 230 West lionticello,

Parish llinutes, 1920--, 1 vol., kopt in vestry by rcctor; Parish Reg=
ister, 1920--, 1 vol., kept in vestry by rector; liomants Guild Minutes, 1937-~,
1 vol., kept by Mrs. Archie Ramsy, 614 '/, Chickasaw St.; Financial Records,
1926--, 1 vol., kept by the treasurer, lir, Earl Guess, 326 E., Cherokec St,

66. CHURCH OF THE REDEEMER, 1868--, liagnolia St., and Clarke Ave., Magnolia,

Pike County.

Orzanized at least as early &as 1{368,8 probably by the Revs John Hewitt,
who in 1867 was living at Chatawa, and officiating rezularly ot Sumit and
Osykae?  Little more was heard of Church activity here until Bishop Green,
in 1675, speaks of holding services in "a very handsome little Church,"1O
This Church was begun in 1374, or earlier, largely the result of a gift of
%1000 from the fanily of Judge Viillianm Conynghan (also written, Conyryhan) 1l
of Penné¥lvania, killed in getting off a train, This building was restored
in 1886, S and is still in use. The congresation reported six cormmunicants
in 1075,% The Bishop returned in liarch, 1376, "but found nothing encourag-
ing in the condition of that little congresation," and added thot they had
"little or no ability to obtain the services of a clerpymsn."l5 However, in
1881, the Rev, Alfred Severiano Clark, of Louisiana, was officiating here
onece per nonthel6 In 18305, the mission reported 21 communicantsel? The
Church has had no resident clergyman, and is today served by the pricst from
HcCorb, the Reve J, Ord Cresap. Therc vWorc fifteen cormunicants in 1940,10

Parish Registor, 1889-1905, 1 vol., kept in the rectory of the'Church of
the Mocdiator, licComb, by the Reve J. Ord Crosap (Entry 76), Since 1927 rec--
ords of the lMagnolia Church have beon included in the lMcComb Parish Register,
likewisc kept by the Rov. J. Ord Crosap.

67, ST. LUARY'S CHURCH, 18G69=~, Us, S, Highwoy 00, Bolton, Hinds County.

Orjanized 1069 by the Rov. Albert Lyon, Principal of St. tephen's
Acadony, Vicksburgel® 4As early as 1855, Bishop Green held sorvices in "the
cotton shed,"20 one such service beins thus described by hin, "The day was
pleasant, and I found, on my arrival, a large congregation of blacls as well
as whites, confortably seated under the cotton shed. The rude extempore seats
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were covered with clean cotton bagging,and a triple tier of bales, at the
further end, formed a very good sort of gallery for the accomodation of the
wondering but attentive blacks."l 1In 1870, a lot was purchased and a builde
ing planned, on the occasion of a visit and service by Bishop Green,2 and
six years later, 1076, the Bishop held a scrvice in what he described as an
unfinished but "new and beautiful Church,"® This Church was brick-venecred
in 1929, a tower having beon added in 1396s 1In 1921, a parish-house at the
rear of the Church was builts The building was consccrated April 10, 13581,
and the parish was admitted to tho Diocesé the same yoar.5 The next year six-
teen pérsons wore confirmed,b and in 1890, seventeon communicants were re-
portod,7 the number gradually increasing to twenty-six in 1915,° The parish
wes roeduced to the rank of mission in 1916,9 St. Ibry's reported fortywoight °
cormunicants in 194051 The rector is the Reve Val Sessions, living in Bolton,
Porish Register, 2 vols., 1870--, kopt by the Rev, Valentine Sessions,
Bolton; lMissionary Cormittee Minutes, 1 vol., 1370=-, kept by the rector;
Vioman's Guild liinutes, 1919--, 1 vol., kept by lirs. Valentine Sessions, Bolton;
Financial Records, 1919--, 1 vol., kept by lf, Guioh G, Willianms, Bolton;
Deed: Chancery Clerk, Hinds County, Raymond, Deéeds, Book 77, p. 564; Inéorpora=-
tion: Secrotary of State, State of Mississippi, Jackson, Incorporations, Book
1, 879=3880,

68. CHURCH OF THE NATIVITY, 1369==, Main St,, Water Valley, Yalobusha County.

Organized in 1369,11 by the Rev. Alexander F. Sanuels, of Grénada 1?2
Bishop Green was here January 11, 1870 and reported services held, "in a roonm
comfortable and‘%gpropriatoly fitted,"13 The parish was roceived into the

Diocese in 1370,*% the number of cormunicants at that time being seventeon,l5
The Rev. liallace Carnmahan visited Water Valloy in 1571 and reported it "one
of the most favorable fields for missionafy labor of any town in the Diocese,"16
The parish had a small Church on Main Ste, partly Finished and in use by 13572,
However, the building was not completed until 187418 The growth of the parish
was hinderod by the instability of the membership, "the congregation being
composed chiefly of railroad men and their fanilies."l9 In 1835, Bishop Thomp=
son considered the Church "utterly dead as a_parish."?0 The number of com=
nunicants docreased fron sixty-five in 180 2l 4o twenty-one in 1895;22 however,
a revival of Church life came thercafter, and the mumber of comunicants was
fifty-one by 1910423 The original Church building burnod in 1808,24 and the
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70

followingy year, worlk was begun on a new one,l at the corner of Clay and lain
Sts. This Church was demolished and the lot sold several years latcre The
present building was purchased and romodeled, being consecratod on November 1,
1018.% It is comstructed of brick, originally having a high spire with boll,
which have since been removed, due to weakening of the upper structure. The
sanctuary hos two memorial windows. The mission today is served from All
Saintss Parish, Grenada, the rector being the Rev. Charles 8e Liles. Twonty-
soven cormunicants werc reported in 1940,

Sec: The Rev. Clement Decimus Brown , "A Briof History of the Episcopal
Church of Watcr Valley", Church Nows s, Brandon, lMay, 1922,

Parish Rogister, 1869=-, 1 Vol., lkopt by lirs Fe A. Kendrick, Woter Valley.
Decd: Chancory Clork, Yalobusha County, Water Valley, Decds, Book T, p. 603;
Incorporation: Sccretary of State, State of Lﬁssissipjf?nj—ckson, Incorpora=
tions, Book 1, 886~888.

69, ALL SAINTS! CHURCH, 1870~~, Jefferson St., Tupelo, Lee Countys.

Organized October 3, 1870 by Bishop Green on his first visit to Tupclo.4
First services wiere held in the Presbytcerian building.5 In 1871, Tupelo was
listed as o missionary station, the Reve Henry Canova Horris having charge
of the work horee® At this time the number of communicants was reported
as sixe! In 1889, All Saints' Church was made an unorganized nissione8 tihen
Bishop Bratton was at Tupelo in the auturm of 1903, holding services in the
Methodist building, there secmed to be noc active congregation, but he rcported
o "few cormunicents and work will be bezun ot once™.,9 The Church continued
to grow under thé care of the Rev, Edwin Weed, of Aberdgcen, who took charge in
1906.10 In 1910, thore were thirteen confirmed membersll and whon Bishop
Bratton mode a visitation in that year, he found the congrogetion worshipping
in a new, brick building, 12 The Rev. Charles E. Clarkson wos at Tupelo in
1920, 13 wnd in this year the number of communicants was reported as fourteen,™*
The Churoh building was destroyed by a tornado in 1936, but was rebuilt in
1938, In 1940, the number of communicants was olXtV-On0.16 In charge to-
day is the Reve. Lewis Fry Schenck,

lfissionary Cormitteo Minutes, 1936=-=, 3 vols., kopt by lir. John Dougla
Taylor, 315 N. Church St.; Church uC“lSuOF, 1936==, kept by the Rev. Levis
Schenck, at 608 Jofferson St.; Financial Records, 1936--, 2 vols., kopt by
Ir. Avery Kemmedy Sumerfield, 546 liagazine St. Deeccs: hancery Clerk, Lce
County, Tupelo, Decd Book, Book 243, p. 491,

70, HOLY TRINITY CHURCH, 1870--, 900 South Strect, Vicksburg, Warrcrn County,

Organization begun 1§69, and the Church adnitted to the Diocese in 157017
with forty comunicants.l8 The Rev. Albert Lyon served as the first roctor,
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for four months after the orzanization of the Church.l The noxt year, a
Church, 128 x 75 feet, with a 170 foot spire, was bezun,® For tho yoar
following'its admission, the Church reportoed nincty=-two cormunicants® and in
1875, 100% The Reve W, W. Lord becéame reétor in the autumn of 1870,° ro=-
maining horé until 1875, On June 24, 1394, the brick, gothic Church was
consecrated, tho Rt, Rev. Davis Sossums, bishop of Louisiana proaching the
sermon.® Tho Church is woll=-furnishod with nonorial stained-glass windows
ond other momorial interior fittings. Thoro were 167 cormmunicants in 15957
and 273 confirned mombers in 1910,° The 1940 Journal doos not list o rector
hores The roported number 6f cormumicants in 1940 was 2769 i 7
Docds: Chancery Clerk, Warrecn County, Viéksburg, Dood Books, Book 162 .7

Pe 110; Book 2Z, p. 40l; Incorporation: L, M., 1878, Pe 647; Amendod, L, M,.,-

890, 633; Porish Repistor, 1069==, 5 vols,; Vestry liinutos, 1269~--, 5 vols.,
2ll kopt at the Church,

7ls CHURCH OF THE INCARNATION, 1372--, Wost Broad and Division Stse, Wost
Point, Clay County.

Organized October 14, 1872, as St. Josoph's Churgh,l0 end roceived into
the Diocese as the Church of the Incarnation in 1887.1l Adnmission had beon
asked at the Council of 1873, but was, for soroc reason, donied.l2 Vost Point
was a nissionary station undoer_the care of the Rov. Honry Canova Harris, then
rosiding at Columbus, in 1870418  Scrvicos wore held monthly in a Union Church
building, which stood on Court Stroectel4 In April, 13866, the Rov. Willion
P. Browmc scttléd in West Point as the first rosident clorgyman, with chargo
also of'Okolona,xStarkvillo, and Kosciusko.15 Io found twenty~six confirmed
menbers, and scrvices for them were held in the courthouso. A fraro building
was begun during the tenure of the Reve lr. Browme, and largely corpleted by
his departure in 1029416 1In June 1914, the frame chaopel was mnoved to tho
northorn part of the Church lét, and plans for a new building bezunel? This
building, in the pothic style, is of brick. It was built and conscorated
November G, 1932.*° At prosent, the Church is served by the Reve J. Lundy
Sykes, of llacon,with a reported number of fifty-throc cormunicants,l?

Sce: "Mrse. John lilton Ervin, "Historical Sketch of the Episéopal Church,
West Point, lfississippi," West Point Daily Tincs=Lecder, Aurust 2, 1924,

Parish Repister, 1913--, 1 vol,; Scrap Book, 1370-1935, containing
clippings and items concerning tho Church and nembers, both of these volunos
kopt Ly 'Miss liay Ervin at her home, Jorden Ave.; Woman's Guild Ifinutos, 12C0=~,
2 vols., Vol., I, 1300-1921, kept at the Church; Vol. II, 1921==, kept by the
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Sec.=Treas., lirss John Brand, Bast Ste.; Financial Records of Church kept in
with Parish Register; Deed: Chancery Clerk, Clay County, West Point,liissis-
sippi, Deeds, Book 17, ppe. 250=251.

72, ST. JOHN'S CHURCH, 1372--, (formerly Ste. Peter's, and Church of the-
Mediator), Spring and Live Oak St., Pascagoula, (formerly Scranton),
Jackson Countys,

Organized 1872, by the Rev. Lycurgus Lurtonsl Prior to this, as early
as 1855, the Rev. Charles Whitall of New Orleans, who had charge of what was
known as the Sea Coast Mission, along the Mississippi Coast, from Biloxi to
Pascagoula,z undertook te establish a mission at this point, with the name
of St. Peter's, services being held each fourth Sunday, “when practicable,"S
Mr, Whitall, however, died in 1859,4 and the work languished, no formal
organization being achieved umbil 1872é when the parish was admitted to”the
Diocese as the Church of the Mediator, Bishop Green, reported in 1873,
"Our flock, at this place, is a very small one, but larger than any one of
the denominations, A very neat and becoming Church building is offered us
for the small sum of four hundred dollars,"© Whether this building was purchased
is not now knowne Nine years later, in 1882, the parish was reduced to the
rank of mission,” although, the following year, it was reported that "the
Baptist have possession of the Church and School."8 In 1889, the Church became
an unorganized mission,9 but was revived the next year, and the communicants
began increasing steadily, chiefly, by immigration, twenty-five persons being
confirmed in 1890,10 -The Church continued to grow and construction of a build=-
ing was begun in 1900, by the twenty-one communibants,ll under the guidance of
the Reve Nowell Loganel2 The ¢ompleted building, in use today, is a nocat
frame structure, painted whitc, on simple gothic lines, with stained-glass
windows, & porch entrance on the east and a wvestry on the south side of the
sanctuarys The rectory was built during tho tenuro of the Rev. Edwin Wocdyl3
in 1904, and is located just back of tho Church, at 345 Live Oak Streote The
Church was consecrated February 1, 1914, under the name of St. dohn's.l4 The
work soems to have attained a pormanent foothold by this period as ninety<
two communicants were reported the next yeer,15 and 150, five years later, in
1920416 The present roctor is the Reve Edward G, Maxted, There wore reported
108 communicants in 1940, 7 i

Parish Rogister, 1904-1936, 1 vol,, kept in rectory by the Rev. Mr,
Maxteds

73, HOLY INNOCENTS* CHURCH, 1872--, Main St., Como, Panola County.

Organized 1872, By the Rev. William S, Speirs, who lived at Hernando
and served also, Como and Sardis.l8 Prior to that time the Rev. M, Loander
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Weller, of Hernsando wes visiting Como as early as 18601 cnd in 1861 reported
that "the prospect for success is encouraging."? This original effort, at
planting the Church in Como, was interrupted by the Civil Viar, The Rev. lr,
Y“ellor enlisted in the Confederate Army and was killed at Shilohe3 There was,
therofore, a lapsc in sertvices during the Vior and, perhaps, t6 1872, In that
year the work was resumed,4 the present Church building begun,5 and the parish
admitted to the Dioceses® The lot for the Church was donated by Cole and Mrs,
lonroc Pointers? The structure is a frame, gothic edifice with stained glass
windows, Col. Norfleet Sledge was a leading spirit in the building of the
Church,8 The Rev, Tullius C. Tupper, living at Sardis, gave part of his time
to Como in 187449 The Rov. Chaplin S, Hedges reported in 1876, “Here we have
much to cheer us. The congregations are increasing,"10 In 1881, a rectory was
built by the generous aid of Col, Sledge.l1 This building burned in 1919 and
another was erected the same year, on the same site, A parish-~house is located
at the rear of the Church. In 1895, the parish reported 41 communicants,1? and °
in 1940 thirty-sixel3 The present resident rector is' the Rev. T. N, Brincefield.
Deed: Chancery Clerk, Panola County, Batesville, Deed Records, Book 5,
p. 4:38.

T4, *ST. PAUL'S ASSOCIATE MISSION, 1873-1875, Terry, Hinds County,

Orgenized June, 1873, by the clergy of the Jackson Convocation, as a
center for missionary work in the central and southern portions of the Stote.l4
Originally two priests, the Rev, William K, Douglas and the Rev, Henry Forrester,
and two deacons, the Rev, Stephen H, Granberry and the Rev, William B; Cooper
were associatod with the mission.l® Services were conducted at Osyka, Mag--
nolia, Summit, Brookhaven, Hozlehurst, Ciystal Springs, Brandon, Livingston,
Bovina, Terry and occasionally at lMcComb, lMeridian, and Chatawa,16 By 1875,
only Summit, Hazléhurst, Terry, Brandon, Osyka, Crystal Springs, and Magnolia
were being served,17 and later Journali contain no reference to this enterprises

75. IMIMANUEL CHURCH, 1873=-, Summit and Fairground Sts., Winona, Montgomery
County.

Organized 1873,18 under the direction of the Rev, Stephen Herbert Green,
rector of All Soints' Parish, Gremada.l9 First services werc held by Mre
Green in the Presbyterian building "once to twice a month,"™ &fd the membegghip
consisted of ten communicantse?0 On December 7, 1872, "a sum sufficiont to
cover the greater part of the cost of a Church building was offered," by Church
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people here.l A lot was purchased on Sumit Street and a frame building,
costing $4,400, was erected,being completed in 187642 At this time the Rove
Van Winder Shields took charge of the work at Immanuel, having a part in
he formal organization.3 The present rectory on Summit St., was built in
1878.% The Church was consecratod in 18799 and the parish received into the
Diocese in 1881.% The number of cormunicants reported in 1895 was fifty=--
fives.?! The present Church, replacing the original omne, destroyed by fire,
was built in 1909, on the same site, and was a gift to the parish by lr.
Jemes Co Purnell,8 It was consecrated by Bishop Bratton on llay 29th, 1910,9
at which time the parish had sixty-three cormunicants,l0 This building is
constructed of red bricks The architecture is gothic, and there is a belfry
and bell surmounted by a spire and cross. The interior walls are plastered
and there are several memorial windows. The Church is now served by the Rev,
Winfﬁid Pipes Jones. In 1940, the reported number of communicants was thirty-
5ixe
See: The Rev, Jones Hamilton, "History of Immanuel Church," Winona Times,
Noveriber 20, 1931, : %
Vestry Minutes, 1911-1921, 1 vol.; Porish Register, 1875==, 2 vols.,
Minutes and Register, kept by the rector, Windrec Pipes Jones, at the rectory;
Financial Records, 1917--, 2 vols,, kept by Mr. Frank Reed Hawkings, ScCe=
Treas., Surmit St., Winona; Deed: Chancery Clerk, lontgomery County, Winona,
Deeds, Book 39, pp. 144-145,

76, THE CHURCH OF THE MEDIATOR, 1873==, Ne Broadway ancd Clarke Sts., McComb,
Pike Countye.

Organized 1873,12 the outgrowth of services held from St. Paul's
Associate Mission, Terry (Entry 74). A frame, gothic building, on the present
site, was begun in 1878, on which the Rove William P. Brovme of Sumit did
much_of the labor himself,13 This building was comnsecrated Nowomber 21,

188214 during the rectorship of the Rev. Upton B. Bowden who was in charge
here between 1881 and 1886.15 A rectory was built the following year.16 At
this time there were forty cormunicantsel? Since 1886, the Church has been
listed as on organized mission,l8 In 1928, the original building was torn
down and recbuilt of brick-veneer, This building is English gothic, with
several stained=-glass windows and other memorial furnishingse. The present
rector is the Reve J. Ord Cresep., There were eighty-four cormunicants re=
ported in 1940, ; ;

Canonical Parish Register, 1878=-, 2 vols.; Vestry Minutes, 1878=--; 2
volss., precoding records kept by the Rev. Js Ord Cresap, at the rectory,
215 No Broadway; Deed: Chancery Clerk, Pike County, licComb, Conveyance
Record, Book 48, p. 482, By
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T ACE CHURCH, 1875=--, llain St., Rosedale, (formerly Floreyville), Bolivar
Countye.

Orgenized June 2, 1875, at a visit by Bishop Green, who "preached twice
in an unoccupied storc room, to attentive congregation, some of whom witnessed
our services for the first time."l Caononical orgénization took place "in the
fall of the year 1879," under the direction of the Rev. Ralph Hylton Prosser;z
in 1879, the Bishop reported, "a beéztiful little Church lately built."® This
Church wos consecrated llay 28, 1879, and was received into the Didcesé the
following year.5 Three years lator o rectory was builte® In 1890, $1,000 was
spent on repairs and painting the Church.? Four years later the building was
injured by a cyclone, but was repaired the same yeare8 There were fiftecn
cormmunicants in 1880,9 and by 1900 there were thirt -eight.lo The number
continued to increase, nurmbering eighty-two in 192511 but sixty-one in 1940,12
The present priest-in-charge is the Reve L. Lucien linlone,

Church Repister, 1904--, 1 vol., kept by lrs. E. Hes Woods, Sre; Decd:
Chancery Clerk, Bolivar County, Roscdale, Deeds, Book E 3, pe 571,

78, CHAPEL OF THE CROSS, 1875==, McLaurin Ave., Rolling Forlk, Sharkey County.

Orpanized 1875, on a visit by Bishop Green and the Rev. Geoe. C. Harris,
the latter "possessed of large planting interests" in this section of the
Dolteetd Dr, Joel C, Hall was appointed lay-reader for the Church,14 On liay
17, 1879 more complete organizetion was effected, and the nmission was placed
under the care of the Rev, Relph Hylton Prosscr, of Rosedalesl® A rectory on
McLaurin_Ave.,, vas built in 1880,1 and a Church building in 1892, which burned
in 1921,17 Earlicr services had been held by the Rev, Geo. Harris in an old -
Union Chapel, "about one mile below what later became the village of Anguilla,”
and in a union Church in Rolling Forlk.18 The Church was received into the
Diocesc as & pission in 1894,19 rede a parish in 1903,20 and reduced to a mis=-
sion in 1921.2 The twelve cormunicents of 1880,22 had increased to forty-
seven by 1905,23 and sixty-threce by 1940,2% Tho present Church of brick, was
built in 1924 and consecrated 1929,%° The rector is the Rov, James Sessions
Butler, living at Hollandales i

Parish Register, 1368--, 1 vol., kept by the Rev. James Sessions Butler,
Hollandale; Inéorporation: Secretary of State, State of Mississippi, dJackson,
Incorporations, Book 11, pe 154,
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82
79. *ST. JOHN'S CHURCH, 1875-1886, Ripley, Tippah County,

Organized 1875, by the Rev. indrew D, Drurmond, of Corinth and Iukael
In 1877, the Reve Mr, Drumond reported thirtecn cormunicants here, and
$350, 4,000 feet of lumber, 2,000 brick, and a lot acquired toward the build-
ing of a Churche? It does not appear that this building was ever erected,
and no deed to a lot'is recorded. Tradition has it that the lot was only
selected, not bought, and was located at the east side of the Gulf Mobile
and Northern railroad on Jefferson St, In 1885, St, John's was listed as
an organized nission,® and as an unorganized nission in 1086,

80. ST. SYLVANUS' CHURCH, 1876--, Pincknoyville, Wilkinson County.

Organized 1876, as & nission, by the Rev. Alex Gordon Bakewell, of Grace
Church, St. Francisville, La,® Ilr, John Evans being lay reader in charge,6
4s early as 1823, the Reve James 4. Fox had begun his ninistry at Piclmeyville,
conducting services in a "regular and beconing manner," with "respeétable
congregations assembled,"?7 In 1895, a wooden structurc was erccted, described
as "a pretty little Chapel,"S and two years later, this Church was admitted
as a nission and named St. Sylvanus.9 In 1899, the chapel was dedicated.lO
The parish was reduced to an_ unorganiged nission_in 1920.11 The cormunicants
nurbered nineteen, in 1925,12 and eight in 1940, ' :

Deed: Chancery Clerk, Wilkinson County, Woodville, Land Record, Book
KK, Ppe 232=2334

Gl, *ST, ALBAN'S CHURCH, 1877=c.1920, lioss Point, Jackson County.

- Organized as early as 1877, by the Rev., Willianm P, Browne;l4 and re=-
organized January 21, 1906, by the Reve Edwin Weedel® In 1905, five con~
nunicants_were reported.l6 'Orizinal services were held in the Presbyterian
buildinge!? Lator, in 1906, "a former school house," was purchased as a chapel.8
BEighteen confirmed persons were reported in 1910.19 Comrmumicants today attend’
services at Pascagoula, of which the Reve Edward Ge lMaxted is priest-in-charge,
8t. Alban's not having been active since 1920,20

82, ST. MARK'S CHURCH, 1377--, Fayette, Jefferson County.
Orgenizec April 1877, by Bishop Green who reported: "“There is here an

encouraging prospect of a good parish before many days."2l During the same
yoar seven nembers were confirmed and the Bishop made further report of foir

12, J1925, focing 166,

13, JI940, insert after index.

14, 57

15, B, 186, 6ily

16, 190b, 131,

176 ¢ 906y 183

18 (X007 5T

194 J1910, 118,

20, The Rev, Edward G. lloxted,
March, 1940,
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prospects for the erection of & buildingel The Rev. Alexander larks fron
Trinity Church, Notchez, scrved the congregotion at this time.? In 1902,
Irs. Mary Je Truly gave a lot for a Church building on lMain Strect, but no
building was orected, and after several years the property roverted to the
heirs,® However, the mission has continued to exist, and has beon served
in occasional services by the rector from St. Paul's Church, Vioodvillc,
Deedss: Chancery Clerk, Jefferson County, Fayette, Doed Record, Book

X, Do 29%e

03, *ST, PAUL'S CHURCH, 1877-1915, Baird (formerly Johnsonville), Sunflower
County,

Organized 1877, mainly through the efforts.of the Baird fanily, and "a
noat and becoming Church" Luilt and furnisheds4 Johnsonville was ot this time
the county seat of Sunflowor County, and Sts Paul's Church was the first
Episcopal Church organized in the countys A tornado destroyed the building
"not long after its ercction," but it was irmediately rebuilt,® The county
seat was moved to Indianola (Entry 107) in 1882,6 and Johnsonville soon be=-
cane extiact. St. Paults Church was officially removed to Baird, one nile to
the north,” in 1894,8 The congrepgation had six comnunicants in 1904, In
1915, it was reported that most of the people in Baird had removed to Inverness,
and thot the Church was extinctel0 St. Paul's seems never to havo boen
officially admitted to the Dioccses

Decds: Chancery Clerk, Sunflower County, Indianola, Land Decd Record,
Book C, pps 153, 514,

04, GRACE CHURCH, 10783=-=-, Giles, Kemper County.

This rural chapel, "smell but neat,"ll built in 1878,12 by Mrs, Maria
F. Giles on her own property has ncver been officially adnitted to the
Dioceses Scrvices have beon held by visiting clergymen or lay-rcaders, Of
it Bishop Green wrote in 1881, "Its sorvices are not restricted to the
ninisters of our own Church, neither will it be throvm opcen to the indis=
criminatc use of all who assumc to beo toachers and preachers of religion,'ld
There wore 0 cormunicants listed here in 1881,14 Ir. William Neville was
licensed lay-reader in larch 1083.15 Occasional services are held and there
is a cormunity Sunday Schools The Church and adjoining cemetery occupy threc
acrcs of land fronm the Giles estate, Lut no deed has been rocordeds

*G@ACE CHURCH, 1880-1903, Viaveland, Hancock County.

Orgzanized end admitted to the Diocesec in 1380416 On Decomber 29 and 30

J1077, 50s

Ibide~

J1015; 43, 44,

J1077, 20,

J1000, 356

Dunbar Rowland (ed.), Encyclopédia
of Mississippi History, n. pl., 3
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87
of that year, Bishop Green visited here and reported "a Church built nearly
to completions"l In March, 1882, the Bishop was again here and spoke of the
parish as giving "good promise of a healthy and progressive growth under
the teaching & untiring zoal of its worthy*Pastor,"“ the Reve Ae J. Tardy,
of Pass Christisne.® In 1886, the Church was sold for debt,4 but was later
recovered.® Bishop Thompson was here on April 2, 1888 and reported services
held "in our pretty Chapel."6 In 1898, the Church property was again sold
end the proceeds used in building a Church at Bay St. Louis” (see Entry 34).
The following year it was reported that "this so called Perish has ceased to
oxist, the people have moved away. o .and there is nothing whatever left of
the old congregation."8 It woas officially dropped from the roll of parishes
in 1903,

Incorporation: Secretary of State, State of Mississippi, Jackson,
Incorporations, Book 1, 812-=813,

86s *ST. BARNABAS' CHURCH, 1881-1922, (formerly St. Ambrose's) Edwards,
Hinds Countys.

Orgenized as St. Ambrose's Church, April 26, 1881 by Bishop Green and
the Reve William P. Browne the latter serving as missionary between Bovine
and Brandon at that time.]--’L There was a reorganization of the Church, in 1893,
and it was again admitted to the Diocese, this time as St. Barnubas'.12 Serv=-
ices had been held in Edwards by ?ishop Green as early as January 1, 1877,
& lot was donated for a building,”~ and in 1878, Bishop Green reported: "The
members of our Church, at this place are very few in number, but they seom
inspired with a becoming zeal and a hearty determination to do what they can

toward crecting & house of worship for themselves,"15 A fraTg building was

completed October 1894, but this building was sold, in 1922, and the mission
has not_been active since that time. The lot, howover, is still owned by the
Church.t”

Church Register, 1893-1922, 1 vol., kept by the Rev. Valontine Sessions,
Bolton; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Hinds County, Raymond; Land Deeds Record,
Book 66, pe 144, Book 68, pp. 297-314,

87, CHURCH OF THE NATIVITY, 188l==, Church and Howard Sts., Greenwood,
Leflore Countye

Organized May 24, 1881, by the Rev. William P. Browne, of Canton.18 A
lot was given in 1882 by Mr. and Mrs. Littleton Upshur, on Main Street, next
to the City Hall,1° Bishop Green held scrvices early in December, 1882, in the
Court House,zo at which time work " was nearing completion" on a Church building

1. 26. 12s ' JYB9S, 224
2 28. 185 AT P2

3. i 14. J1877, 27"28.

4 43, 15, J1878, 26.

5 38, 16, 1922, 20

6e 45, 17 The Reves Valentine Sessions,

Te 12, Bolton, Miss., Jan,, 1940,

8 54, ! 18. Parish Register, I, 4.

9% 41, 19, Chancory Clerk, Greenwood, Le=-
104 32 florc County, Deccds, Book 10,
11, 56 Pe 391; tho Reve Duncan Grayy

Fobe 1940,
J1883, 36.
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to be "the handsomest piece of architecture in this part of the country."1
There was, however, no residgnt rector until 1889 when the Rev. Cecil P.
Wilson settled in Greenwood.  Mr. Wilson's tenure waes for only onc year,
he being followed by the Rev. iean B. C. Boaubiens® The parish reported
thirteen communicants in 1883,~ and fifty in 1895.° A new Church building
wes being planned by 1899 and was built in 1902 under the rectorship of the
Rev. Charles Wheat Hinton.® This building is of brick, and is adjoined by
a parish-house. There is a rectory, built 1912, next to the Church at 213
We Church St. The present rector is the Rev. Duncan Gray. 352 communicents
were reported in 1940,

Vestry Minutes, 1884-1915; 1917-~, 4 vols., kept by the Secretary, Mre
Ce E. Holmes, in the parish-housc; Parish Register, 1893--, 3 vols., ke pt by
the rector, in the parish-house; Merriage Register, 1924-30, 1 vol., kept by
the rector in the parish-housc; Register of Church Services, 1934=-, 1 vole,
kept by the rector in the parish-house; Financial Records, 1927-31; 1939--,
3 vols., one volume, 1927-31, kept by the rector in the perish=-house, tho
other two vols., 1939--, kept by lire Dalton McBee, Jre., at his office in the
Bank of Greenwood; Deed: Chancery Clerk, Leflore County, Greenwood, Deeds,
Book 10, pe 391; Incorporation: Secretary of State, Stete of Mississippi,
Jackson, Incorporations, Book 2, 544-546, '

88. B8T. MARK'S CHURCH, 1883=--, Poindexter and Pearl Sts., Jackson, Hinds
County.

Organized 1883,8 being the outgrowth of & Sunday School, for colored
people, conducted by the Reve Dre Joseph Tucker, rector of St. Andrew's, 9
Jackson, and one conducted in West Jackson, by one Williams, "a colored men."
The organization was greatly aided by interest and efforts of Bishop Thompson.lo
There was no colored priest in charge at St. Mark's until 1904, when the Reve
Richard Temple Middleton, of St. Mary's Church, Vicksburg, took charge of the
missionel In that year, Bishop Bratton confirmed six persons,_ gervices being
held in the building of the African Methodist Episcopal Church.? In 1912, a
rectory and parish house were bought.13 Services and kindergarten were con=
ducted here until 1926, when the parish=house was moved to the rear of the
lot, facing Poindoxter Ste, where it now is, and a Tiw Church and parish-house
were crocted at a cost of $26,59, facing Pearl St. Of the cost of the new
building $14,000 was a donation of Mrs. Fannie Willis Johnson, of Vicksburg.15
Ste Mark's day school is operated in comnection with the mission, using the
parish=house for classes. This school carries the pupils through the eighth
grades The present conrollment is around sixtye. In 1927, St. Mork's Medical
Clinic was opened in connection with the mission and operated vory successfully
until 1935 when the work wos largely taken over by the County Health Depart-
mente The mission is, at gresent, in charge of the Reve Ao Buxton Keeling,
and has 152 communicants.t

l. Yazoo Velley Flag, Greenwood, 234
Nove 23, 1882, Tb3
2 J1B90S TS Ibid
3¢ J1891, 7. J1904, 48.
4, J1883, 69, 774
be ! J18955 T2 T4
6. J1899, 22, thoe Rev. Duncan Gray, 167.
Feb., 1940. 28.
7« J1940, insert after index. insert after index.




Archives of Churches

Church Register, 1921--, 1 vol., kept by the rector, 905 W. Pearl St;;
Missionery Committee Minute Book, 1921--, 1 vol., kept by Maurice Elliott;
725% Rose St.; Financial Records, 1934--, 1 vol., of detailed collectiénms,
kept by rector; 1 vol, disbursements and general summary, by Treasurer,
Angus Morris, 809 W. Pascagoula St.; School Register, (including names of
students, attendance, grading, names of teachers) 1934--, 15 vols., kept
by rector; Young People's Service League Hinute Book, 1934--, 1 vol., kept
by Sec. Juanite Chaplin, 908 W. Pearl; Sunday School Records, 1934--, 1 vol.,
including members and attendance, kept by Secretary Celestia Chambliss, 1118
We Poarl Ste; Women's Auxiliary Minutes, 1934~--, 1 vol., kept by the Prosident,
lirse Eo Scott Keeling, 904 W. Pearl St.; Daughtors of the King Minutes, 1934=-,
1 vol., kept by Thelma Dot Clerk, 630 Rose St.; Altar Guild, 1934--, 1 Yol.,
kopt by Mrs. Kecling, 905 W. Pearl; Dced: Chancery Clerk, Hinds County,
Jackson, Land Decds Record, Book 77, pe 9

89. *HOUSE OF PRAYER CHURCH, 1884-c.1915, Grovc St., fiesson, Copiah County.

Organized 1884, at which timc Bishop Thompson held servicos in the
Presbyterian buildingel Active in the organization of the mission werc F.
Se. Boze and Capt. James G. Lycll.z In 1886, the Rev, Wme. W. DoHart of
McComb and Summit, was serving this Churched® The samc yoar it bocame an
unorganized missions4 The erection of a Chapol was begun on Grove St., and
in 1888 it was reported "nearly complcted."® This was a neat, frame build=
ing with staincd-glass windows, demolished after the Church became defunct,
around 1915,6 Thorc wore tén communiccnts in 1889,7 and six in 1905, :

Deoeds: Chancory Clork, Copiah County, Inzlehurst, Doeds, Book 1, ppe
633=634, Book 4=I", p. 132,

90, ST, MARY'S CHURCH, 1885--, First, N., and Main Sts., Vicksburg, Warren
County,

Orgonizod 1885,%9 as a Church for negroos, chiefly due to tho cfforts
of Bishop Thompson.io In 1886, the Rcve Nelson Ayres became the first
settled rectorell A building was erccted in 1886,12 at Grove and Cherry
Stse., and in that yoar St. Mary's was listed as an organizod missioneid
It was officially roveived as a mission the following yoar,14 In 1890, o
school, St. licry's Collegiato Institutec, was begun in conncetion with the
Churchi5 (scc Entry 1-h)e The Church property wes sold in 1927,16 and & now
brick Church built on the prosent sitc, and consccrated, February 24, 1923.17
The numbor of communicants numbered twonty-three in 1890,18 107 in 1905,1
and 103 in 1940.2O Priest-in-charge is thc Rov, S. Alonzo lorgan,

1, J1884, 46, 10,
2, Judge G. Garland Lyell (former member), Ll
Jackson, January, 1940, 126 5, 41,
3. J1886, 654 13, SRS
4 Y1886, 8. 14, 37.
5. J1888, 47. : 15, K 37
6. Judge G. Garlond Lyell, Jackson, 16, 15,
January, 1940, 1 30, 78.
Ta WJLBBYL 62 18. 69,
Be'  UO0B 157 pie T Sifis
9. [JIBBE, 40 20, 40, insort aftor index,
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Church Register, 1885-~, 1 vol., kept by the rcctor, the Rov., Mr. Morgan;
Doeds: Chancery Clerk, Warren County, Vicksburg, Dced Books, Book V, pe 149.

91, CHURCH OF THE RESURRECTION, 1886--, Montgomery St., Starkville, Oktibbeha
Countye

Organized 1886, by the Reve William P. Browne, who in that ycar was 5
making regular visits_to this placeel The Church was admitted to thé Dioces
as o mission in 1888,° A reorganization took plaée December 2, 1907,5 and
the mission was readmitted by the Council of 1908,% although there is no
rccord of its evor having been dropped, There werc twenty confirmed persons
reported in 1910.° The prgsent Church was oponed for services by Bishop
Bretton September 2, 1913,6 and is a brick gothic building, with several mon=
orial windows, It was consecrated by Bishop Bratton May 7, 19164/  The Rev.
Lysander Rose, in 1916, wos the first settled clergymon.8 In 1940, the
mission reported 34 communicants.® Tho present priest-in-charge is the Rev,
Pipes Jones, of Winona, ; !

lMissionary Committee lMinutes, 1936--, 1 vol,, kept at the rectory, lain
Street; Service Record Book, 1913--, 1 vol., kept in vestry-room of Church;
Parish Registor, 1936--, 1 vol., kept in vestry-roon of Church; Sunday School
Record, 1936--, 1 vol., kept by lliss Audrey Levy at her home, Yeates Strect;
Finoancial Records, 1936-=-, 1 vols, kept by the Treasurer, lr. A, G Holmes:
at his home, State College Campus; Deed: Chancery Clerk, Oktibboha County,
Starlville, Dceds, Boolk 123, p. 170,

92, ST. TIIIOTHY'S CHURCH, 1886==, Caunder Street, Contreville, Wilkinson
County.

Listed as an unorgenized mission in 1886,:Lo oceasional services being
held by the Reve Joseph Wilmer Turner, rector at Woodville, Bishop Bratton
made a visitation here iszovembcr 1907.11 st Timothy's was canonically

organized larch 1, 1929, The next year thirteen comaunicants were re=-
portcd.13 A freme Church building on Howard Ste. was bought from the Roman
Catholic Church in 1929, That building burned December 14, 1934, The
present brick Church, on tho prosent site, was built the following yeare. The
present pricst-in-charge, and the first scttled clergyman is the Rev. Thonas
Bomnett Clifford who took charge of St. Timothy's in 1935,14 The number of
communicants roported in 1940 was fourtceneld Y

Church Register, 1929--, 1 vol., kept by lirs, li, L. Robinson, Centroville;
Uissionary Cormittce Ifinutes, 1929-~, 1 vol., kept by lirs 1i, L. Robinson;
Woman's Auxiliary Linutes, 1929--, 1 vol., kept by lirsi M. L. Robinson; Dcods:
Chancery Clerk, Wilkinson County, Woodville, Deed Book, Book 3B, ppe. 298, 588;
Book UU, pe 397

1, J1886, 8, 43 : J1886, 8,

2, 1888, 18, J1908, 93,

S )08, 8l The Rev, Thomas Bennett
4, s Ll Clifford, February 1940,
5 125, J1930, 41,

6e 524 The Reve. Thomas Bennett

Te 56, Clifford, February 1940
8e J1940, inseort after index.
S ; insert after index,.
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93. CHURCH OF THE HOLY COMIIUNION (formerly Church of the Holy Cross)

1887--, llayersville, Issaquena County,

Orgonized 1887, and admitted to the Dioccsc the same year.l " However,
services had been held here, as carly as 1875, in the Court House, con=-
ducted by Bishop Groon,z but there is no record of an attempt at formal
organization carlier than 1887, A frome chapel was built tho year of
organizations® In 1895, the mission listed thirteen cormuniconts% and in
1903, it was rcorganized as the mission of the Holy Communion.® Since 1939,
the Church has been shared with the llethodist, on whosé lot it is situated,
end who have undertaken to keep the building in repair,® lembers today attend
services at Rolling Fork (Entry 78). :

Parish Register, 1903--, 1 vol., lkept by the Rev. James S, Butler,
Hollandale,

94, *CHAPCL OF TRINITY CHURCH, 1889-c.1925, 915 N, Union Ste, Natchez,
Adens County,

Orzenized 1889, for negroes, as a mission of Trinity Pnrish,7 by the
Reve Richard T, iliddleton. The parish Church has a gallery used by colored
cormunicants since ante-bellum days, but this nission was an attempt to
cxtond the colored work, Fifty-two communicants were reported in 1895,8
The Church is o small, simple frame building used today as a Boy Scout
meeting places The mission has not been active since about 1925,

95, #5T. THOMAS' CHURCH, (formerly St, Androw's), 1890-c,1925, Byhalic,
Iarshall County.

Orzanized April 27, 1890,9 and admitted to the Dioccse the same year,l0
at which time eleven Gommunicants were reported,1l Bishop Bratton reported
services hore in 1908, although there seems to have been no Episcopal build-
ingel? At that time the Rev. Frank Wowell Atkin was serving the mission
from Holly Springs.i3 After the death of the Rov. lir. Atkin, nmontioned in
the Journal of 1925,14 the mission secms to have become inactives

96. CALVARY CHURCH, 1892=--, lichigan City, Benton County,

Organized in 1802,15 Prior to_this, as early as 1877, Bishop Groen was
visiting and holding services horcei® In 1889, Calvory Church was listed
as an unorganized mission,l? with cighteon communicants the following youret0
Calvary was received as an organized mission in 1896,19 and in the sane yedr
a building was orectod, described as "a beautiful little Church with tower,
spire, porch and vestry room,"?0 This building burned in karch 1938, but was

1v IS8 56% D e (TN

26 JIBTES 15, 125 gI0RY, 91,
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inmediately rcebuilt and the new structure consecrated December 22, 1938,1
The Church is served by the Rev, Raymond E. IlacBlain of Christ Church,
Holly Springs (Entry 17), and the membors arc listed in the registor of
Christ Church,

97. *CHAPEL OF PRACE CHURCH, 1892-1902, Friar's Point, Coahoma Countye

Organized as a mission in 18922 and admitted to the Diocese in 1698,
Ais ecarly as 1860, Bishop Green visited this comrunity, and held sorviccs of
the Church, writing in his Journal that "quite o large number was in attendance,
as this was the first time that maﬁg presont had ever witnessed our scrvices."4
4 frame chapel was crected in 1896,° on a plot of ground donated by lir. Frank
L. Puckott® of Friar's Point, Tho mission had no settled clergzyman, the
services being held by visiting clorgymen, notably the Reve George C. Harris,
Archdeacon, who was in charge of work in the Delta during the life of this
nissions7 Bishop Thompson, too, visited the Church on his trips through the
Diocesce8 The nembership consisted of sixteon cormunicants in 1895¢9 With
the growth of St. George's Church at Clarksdale (Entry 98), and removal of
ruch’ of the membership to that place, the Friar's Point building was sold, in
1902, and the procceds given to the Clarksdale Churchel

98, ST. GEORGE'S CHURCH, 1893--, First and Sharkey Sts., Clarksdale, Coahona
Countys

Organized 1893, following a visit of Bishop Thompson on larch 20411 The
Church was received into the Diocesc as a mission in 1894, FMirst sertices
had been held during Lent, in 1392, in what had been a plantation cabin,
situated on the site of the present Churchel® In thesé first years the
nission'was under the carec of Archdeacon George Harris,l4 Aftor the spring
of 1894, services werec held in Granger Hall, in the old Grange cenctery,
which was rented by the congrogationsl® The first resicdént clorgyman wos
the Reve Alfred Todhunter,l® a native of London, Englond,l7 who served St,
Georgze's Church, from 1903 to 1908,18 Iir. Todhunter resided in Clarkscale
until i1l health forced his resignationsl9 Under his care the nission grow
in numbers and wis raised to the rank of parish in 1905.20 Church property
at Friar's Point, twenty miles to the north-west, wmas sold in 1902 and the
proceeds used toward a building fund at Clarksdale,?l In"1904, thc now
Church was in usc,22 but was not conscorated until Iy 14, 1911,2° During

The Rev, Raymond E, MacBlain, Febs 13, Year Book and Directory,

1940, 1032, the Church, Clarks-
IIrse Je Rs Shelton, 121 Leflore St., deliasi2] s
Clarksdalc, former nombere J1896, 69,
J1893, 22, Year Book and Directory,
LB 5l ST R
J1896, 5l. Ibid,
e & lMrs. J« Re Shelton. J1909, 62,
J1897, 63 J1903, 19, J1903, 57,
IIrs. J. R. Sholtone 0% J1O08; Tls
J1.895, 7l J1905; 425
il : D002y ik
59, : J1005, 80,
284 ~28. JIOIZ, 73,
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the recctorship of the Rev. Walter Dakin (1917-1932), this gothic, brick
structure, with handsome stained-glass windows and memorial furnishings of
various kinds, was improved and a rectory and parish-housc were built, ad-
joining thce Churche The parish reported 275 communicants in 1940, The
present rector is the Reve E, Lucién ¥alone, ' 7 7

Scc: Year Book and Directory, 1932, the Church, Clarksdalc, ne pre,
1932, 8 pps

Parish lMinutes, 1936--, 2 vols., kept by the Sece. of the Vostry, Chas,
Clarke, Jr., in his office at the Ashton Land Co., Sunflower St.; Parish
Register, 1910--, 2 vols., kopt in rectory by the rector, 106 Sharkey St.;
Financial Records, 1936--, 4 vols., kept by the Trcasurer, lir, Charles Sisson,
at his office in the Planters Bank Bldg., Third and Yazoo Sts.; Deeds:
Choncery Clerk, Coahoma County, Clarksdele, Land Deeds Rocord, Book 10, p.
3383 Book 58, pe 30; Incorporation: Sccrctary of State, State of lMississippi,
Joeckson, Incorporations, Book 10, 396,

09, *ALL SAINTS' CHURCH, 1894=1923, lagnolia St., Long Beach, Harrison
Countye

Organized Noverber 1, 1894, by the Reve Thomas Burry of Pass Christiane?
In I'nrch 1895, Bishop Thompson paid what was probably his first visit to this
Church and confirmed two persons.® A frame Church building, built in 1895,4
was partly dismantled in 1920 and s¢ven staincd=-glass windows and o bell were
installed in Ste Peter's-by=-the-sca, Gulfport.5 The nission reported 47 con-
nunicants in 1915,6 but the congregotion merged with that of Gulfport in
1920,7 that city being only two miles to the cast, The Didcesan Council of *
1923 dropped All Saints*® as an orgenized mission, although, at the same time,
pointing out that it had never actunlly beeh admitted,O

Church liinutes and Register, 1894-1920, 1 vol., (doos not include con-
firmations or marriages); Sunday School Records, 1895-1920, 8 volse; Yoman's
Guild Iinutos, 1894=1920, 1 vol.; all these records kept by lirs, James Jardy
Bailey, at her home, Becch Boulevard, Gulfport,

100, ST. JOHN'S CHURCH, 1894=w-, I'ifth Avenue, Laurel, Jones County.

Organized in 189449 Shortly after the Eastnman-Gardiner Lumber Conpeny
established their mill at Laurel, a few pecople belonging to the Episcopal
Church organizecd a con;rcgation.io The Reve De Berncir Waddell, of Hcridian,ll
came once or twice a month and held services in various placos for the little
groug.l2 About” the yoar 1900, a small wooden Church was built on Fifth Ave=
nuee13 In 1900, Bishop Thonpson spoke of holding services here "in a now and
beautiful chapel just completed by the liberality of a single f‘mnily;"l[t The
Church was received into the Diocose as an organized nission in 1901,15 and

J1940, inscrt after index. 9¢ Phillip Gardincr, "Episcopalian
J1895, 8; J1896, 52. History Here Bogan 1894," Laurel
J1695, 55 Daily Leader, Dcce, 1928
Tirs, Janes J, Bailey, Gulfport, Phillip Gardiner, ope cite
former nember. J1392, 8. R

Ibid, -~ Phillip Gardiner, ope cite
J101i5, 124, 34 Ibide e
Tirs. James J. Bailey, 1900, 3
J1923, 36=37,. 001
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es o parish in 1904, 1 1913, the little, frame Church was moved to the back
of its lot and arranged into a commodious and useful Parish and Sunday School
house.? In 1012, the present brick building was bezun3 and completed on April
28,:19144% It is & good exanple of Norman architecture., The number of con=
nunicents in 19056 was 74,5 and in 1920 these had increased to 15646 The pros=
ent rector is the Reve Holly Viells., In 1940, the number of cormunicants was
reported as 173.7 ; ;

See: Phillip Gardiner, "Episcopalian History Here Begen 1894," Laurel
Daily Leader, December 31, 1928, ;

Parish Register, 1894-1939, 1 vol., kept by the rocctor, 716 Fourth Ave.;
Woman's Auxiliary Records, 1939--, 1 vol., kept by the Secretary, lirs.’dJaclk
Devours, 1103 Eighth Ave.; Decds: Joncs County,Chancery Clork, Laurecl,
Transcribed Rocords, Book 10, p. 132; Land Deced Record, Book V, pp. 551, 552;
Book D, pe 623; Book E, pp. 392, 403, 4£69; Book S, pp. 120, 423; Deed of Trust,
Book B=16, pe 491,

101, ST. PETER'S BY-THE=-SEA CIIURCH, 1390--, 13th St. Betwoen 30th and 3lst
Avenue, Gulfport, Harrison County,

Orgenization begun 1899,° Bishop Thompson held services herc in the
lfethodist building in 1901,9 The Church was admitted to the Diocesc as
an organized nission in 1902 under the nanc of "St. Peter's By-The-Scc"10
The Rove Ircmacus Trout was the first settled clorgymanell In 1902, Bishép
Thonpson wrote, "lir. Trout has another neat Church completed in that wild,
western booming town, Gulfport, the site given by Mr. Joncs of the Gulf

and Ship Island Railroad."2 In 1910, thc number of confirmed persons was

listod as 171413 The Church grow as the towm grew and gained some nerbers

from All Saints! Church at Long Beach (sce Entry 99). Fron the Long Beach

Church werc transferred the bell and also scven memoricl windows after All

Saints! was disbanded in 1920.14 Betweoen 1914 and 1924 the rectors at St,

Peter's notably the Reve Henry Harrison Sneed, ministered to a small group

of colored cormmunicants, under the nano of St. Lukc's missionel® The prosént

St. Peter's Church is a frame building, with gothic, stained-gloss windows,

Thore is & belfry, bell and spire., The Church becare o parish in 1921,16

The present rector is the Rev, Robert Imerson, The number of communicants in

1940 was 350,17 - ; g
Vestry liinutes, 1926--, 3 vols., képt by the rector at the rectory,

1222 31st Avee; Church Register, 1906--, 10 volss., kept by the rector in the

Church Vestry; Financial Records, 1938-=-, 1 vol,, kept by the Trcasurer,

Owen Palmer, 1308 Ee. Boach St.; Sunday School Records, 1939--, 1 vol., kept

by Richard Guice, Secrotary, Long Beach; Deéds: Chancory Clerk, Horrison

County, Gulfport, Rocord of Deeds, Book 103, p. 354

L J1I00257 168 9 33
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102, ST. LUKE'S CHURCH, 1899=--, Ridgeland, Madison County.

Orgenized, 1899, by the Rev. Charles Morris, Diocesan Missionary, who
"preached in the Town Hall---administered Holy Communion to thirty=-six com-
municents," and reported steps were being taken toward building a Church, a
very desirable lot having been given and a subscription started with several

hundred dollarse,l In 1901, a Church was built under the leadership of the
Rev, William Mercer Green, II, rector at Canton.,2 The number of communi-
cants increased from year to year, numbering twenty-five in 1920,% and twenty-
two in 1940.% Services today are conducted by the Rev, Elnathan Tartt of
Grace Church, Cantone

Church Register, 1936=--, 1 vol., (contains financial records) kept by
Mrs., William F. Battley; Sunday School Records, 1935=-, 4 vols., and ¥oman's
Guild Minutes, 1899-~-, 2 vols,, both kept by Miss Myrtle Carr. Deceds:
Chancery Clerk, Madison County, Canton, Deed Book, Book III, p. 324,

103. *CHURCH OF THE HOLY COMMUNION, 1899-1926, Glass, Warron County,

Organlzed 1899° by the Reve Nowell Logan of Holy Trinity Church,
Vicksburge® This Church might be considered a continuation of the Church
of the Holy Communion, Diamond Place (sce Entry 40). A chapel, described
as "plain and cheap," was orccted in 1899,7 and the Church was admittod to
the Diocese as a mission in 19008 with seventoen communicants.? The mission
deeréascd numorically, until in 1920, it was reduced to an unorganized mis-
sion,10 and six yoars later, 1926, the property was solde.ll During its
cxistonee tho mission was sérved from Holy Trinity Church, Vicksblrg.

Doed: Chancery Clerk, Warren County, Vicksburg, Deod Books, Book 80,
po 2830

104, *ST., JOIN'S CHURCH, 1900-1925, Flora, Modison County.

Organized 1900 by tho Rove William Mercer Green, II, 12 and rececivod
into the Diocesc as a mission in 1901,13 A framc chupcl was comploted by
1903.% “Two years later the Church rcportod tweity-three communicontseld
By 1915, communicant strongth was down to cightyl6 and in 1925 the building
wes sold, although the lot was retained, and the pr00uods dovotod to the
Chapel of the Cross, at Amnandalc,l7

Deeds Chancery Clerk, lMadison County, Canton, Deocd Books, Book KKK,
Pe 466,

105, TRINITY CHURCH, 1901=-, Wost Pinc St., and First Ave, Hatticsburg,
Forrcst Countye.

Organized 1901,18 following visits of the Diocesan Kissionary, thce Revs

J1899, 59. 105 IR 9205 16%
J0900 ;55 Al AR 2
J1916, 135, ; 12, 'J1900; 33, 354
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J1899, 26, 14 . 1904, 53,
J1900, 526 15, J1905; 126,
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Jro0e; 12 175 925, 41,
J1900, 524 18, 19.
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Charles Morris, begun in 1899,! MNr, lorris reported that he "received a
most cordial welcome, holding two services in the Presbyterian Churche. There
is here a small but earnest band of Church people."? The first resident
clergyman, under whom orgenization was effected, was the Reve, Arthur Randle
Price,d at which time services were held in a frame building, formerly a
residencc, at 308 Buschman Strect., Tho Diocesan Council of 190Z reccived
Trinity Church as a mission.4 As Hattiesburg grow under the stimulus of the °
ocxpanding lumber industry in south lMississippi, the Church likewise increascd,
listing scvonty-four communicants in Hattiesburg in'1905,5 and 103 in 1910,
Scrvices in 1911 werc being held in the court-housce’ Bishop Bratton laid
the cornerstone of the preosent building January 3, 1912,8 and consccrated the
complcted structure on December 19, the same yoare? This building was bcgun
and’ complcted under the rectorship of the Reve We Se. Simpson-Atmore, an English-
man,l0 and through his efforts rccoived many gifts from abroad, notably from
the Rt. Hone Arthur Balfour, somotimec Primec Linistor of England, and has, among
others, onc memorial window dedicated to the (English) Socit¢ty for the propaga-
tion of tho Gospcl. The building is of gothic architcchure, of brick, with a
squarc towers. The parish had 178 communicants in 1940411 The present rcctor
is the Reve John L, Morgan,

See: Tho Reve, Jones Hamilton, "History of Trinity Church."

Hottiesburg American, Hattiocsburg, October 24, 1936,

Porish Minutes, 1901=--, 1 vol., kept by the Secrctary of the Vestry; Mr.
Robert Chapman, at his home, 1210 North lain Ste.; Parish Register, 1901=~,
2 vols., kept by the rector in the rectory; Financial Records,1901=--, 1 wvol.,
kept by the treasurcr, Mr., Paul Lee Gaston, Jr., ot his home, 111 Short Bay
St.; Déecds: Chancery Clerk, Forrest County, Hatticsburg, Land Decd Record,
Book 5, pe 51l

106, ST. MARY'S CHURCH, 1903--, Carrolton St., Wost, Holmes County.

Organized 1903, by the Reve E. Sterling Gunn, a native of North Carolina,12
Prior to this date therc is rccord, as carly as 1867, of sorvices being con=
ducted hére by Bishop Green and the Rov, Benjemin Hnlstead, in the licthodist
building, at which time the Bishop confirmed ninc persons,ld Scrvices were
held, also, in private homes, notably, in the home of Mrs. Annic Cross, now
the home of Mrs, Zulma C. Alcxander, on Corrolton Stel4 Thesc scervicos, how-
ever, seem to have becn without any regularity until after the formal orgoniza-
tion, in 1903, A Church building wcs consecrated on Junc 16, 1907, This
structure, 5till in use, is a frame building of gothic architecture with a bell:
tower and bell, This congregation had ton communicants in 191516 and nine in
1940.17 St. Mary's Church is a mission, ministered to by the Rev. Winfrcd Pipes
Jones, rector of Immanuel Church, Winona,
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Parish Register,1907--, 1 vol., kept by the rector at the rcectory,"
Winona; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Holmes County, Lexington, Deeds, Book 26,
Pe 2034 i

107. ST, STEPHEN'S CHURCH, 1904--, 210 Gresham Street, Indianolas, Sunflower
Countye

Orgenized November 29, 1904, by a part of the congregation of old St.
Paul's Church at Baird, (Entrg 83)el The present, and only Church building
was consecrated June 3, 1909,% and the first service in the Church was héld
on Easter Sunday, April 11, 1909, by the Archdeacon of North Mississippi,
the Rev, Robert E. Lee Craig,% Visiting rectors continued to conduct the
services, until the Rev. John DeQuincey Donchoo was made the first resident
rector in 1912,% The mission became a parish in 1921,° 'The year before it
had reported sixty commmicants,® The Church is a plain, white, frame struc-
ture with a steeple and organ. A rectory adjoins the Church. The present
rector is the Reve. George Royster Stephenson. The number of communicants in
1940 was sixty=-eighte?

Parish Register, 1904--, 1 vol., (1929-1936 missing); Register of Church
Services, 1938--, 1 vol.; Minutes of Vestry, 1938-1939, 1 vol., these records
are kept by rector, the Rev. George Royster Stephenson in rectory; Financial
Record, 1938~-, 1 vol., kept by Church Treasurer, Mrs. J. k. Fly, in rectory;
Financial Records of Woman's Guild, 1938--, 1 vol., kept by Guild Treasurer,
lirs, Es 8. Van Cleve at her home; Deeds: Chancery Clerk, Sunflower County,
Indianola, Land Deed Record, Book S=~2, p. 583,

108, #*CHAPEL OF IMIANUEL CHURCH, 1905-c41937, Middleton, Carroll Countys,

Organized in 19058 under the direction of the Reve. E, Sterling Gum,
rector at Winona.9 Work here had been begun earlier by the Rev. James Bailey
Fitzpatrick.l0 The chapel was located "ot old Middleton. . .near Winona,"1l
The building was totally destroyed by a storm in 1907,12 being rebuilt the
followinglycar.15 Occasional services were held until 1937 when the property
was sold,~*

109, ST. ALBAN'*S CHURCH, 1906=-, lMain Ave., Lumberton, Lamar County.

Orpganized 19061° and rcceived into the Diocese in 1912,16 Bishop Bratton
visited Lumberton, Januvary 31, 1906i held services in the llethodist building
7

and reported fourteen communicantse The Rev. George S. Gibbs, living at
Hattiesburg, was placed in charge of the unorganized mission, and plans for
building a Church were begun.l8 TFormal organization took place April 14,

The Rev. George Stephenson, 96 1JEH0B BTN
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1912.1 A Church building was completed in 1914 and consecrated March 1.2
In 1925, the number of communicants was thirty-five.3 The nission con-
tinued to grow until 1932 when the lumber nill which largely supported the
tovm of Lumberton, closed. Since that time, the Church has heen less
active, The present priest-in-charge is the Rev. John L. Morgan, Hattiesburg
(Entry 105). i
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